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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

LAM Chi Fan (Chairman of the Board)
CHEUNG Tung (President)

CHEN Feng
LAM Kam Cheung (Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
LAM Fei Man

Independent Non-executive Directors

WONG Chi Keung

ZHANG HWO Jie

Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon*

WU Tak Lung*

CHEUNG Wah Keung**

ki Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon and Mr WU Tak Lung resigned as independent non-
executive Directors with effect from 12 June 2023 and 28 June 2023, respectively.

ok Dr. CHEUNG Wah Keung was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 16 June 2023.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

WONG Chi Keung (Chairman)

ZHANG HWO Jie

Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon*

WU Tak Lung*

CHEUNG Wah Keung**

* Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon and Mr WU Tak Lung ceased to act as the members of the
audit committee since their resignation as independent non-executive Directors with effect
from 12 June 2023 and 28 June 2023, respectively.

ok Dr. CHEUNG Wah Keung was appointed as a member of the audit committee with effect
from 16 June 2023.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

LAM Chi Fan (Chairman)

WONG Chi Keung

Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon*

ZHANG HWO Jie**

CHEUNG Wah Keung**

& Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon ceased to act as a member of the nomination committee
since his resignation as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 12 June 2023.
Mr ZHANG HWO Jie and Dr. CHEUNG Wah Keung were appointed as the members of the

*%

nomination committee with effect from 12 June 2023 and 16 June 2023, respectively.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

ZHANG HWO Jie (Chairman)

LAM Chi Fan

Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon*

WU Tak Lung*

CHEUNG Wah Keung**

e Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon and Mr. WU Tak Lung ceased to act as the chairman and
member of the remuneration committee since their resignation as independent non-executive
Directors with effect from 12 June 2023 and 28 June 2023, respectively.

ok Mr ZHANG HWO Jie and Dr. CHEUNG Wah Keung were appointed as the chairman and

member of the remuneration committee with effect from 12 June 2023 and 16 June 2023,

respectively.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

WONG Chi Keung (Chairman)

ZHANG HWO Jie

Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon*

WU Tak Lung*

CHEUNG Wah Keung**

ko Professor LAM Sing Kwong, Simon and Mr WU Tak Lung ceased to act as the members of
the corporate governance committee since their resignation as independent non-executive
Directors with effect from 12 June 2023 and 28 June 2023, respectively.

*%

Dr. CHEUNG Wah Keung was appointed as a member of the corporate governance

committee with effect from 16 June 2023.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEH

COMPANY SECRETARY

LAM Kam Cheung

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

CHEUNG Tung
LAM Kam Cheung

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

22/F, Prince’s Building Central

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR

MinterEllison LLP

Level 32,Wu Chung House
213 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

TRADING BANKERS

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
Citibank, N.A,, Hong Kong Branch

Hang Seng Bank Limited

OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited

The Bank of East Asia Limited

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
United Overseas Bank Limited

SHARE REGISTRARS

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office

Tricor Investor Services Limited
I'7/F, Far East Finance Centre
|6 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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Cayman Islands principal share registrar and transfer office

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO. Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KYI-1102

Cayman Islands

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO. Box 309
Ugland House
Grand Cayman KY[-1104

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

HONG KONG

Units 2005-2007

Level 20 Tower |

MegaBox Enterprise Square Five
38 Wang Chiu Road

Kowloon Bay

Hong Kong

LISTING INFORMATION

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™)

Stock Code: 1418

WEBSITE

www.sinomax.com/group

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT

Email: if@sinomax.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
RA T 22

2023 2022
20234 20224
Operating results (HK$'000) REZEE (THT)
Revenue KA 3,608,894 3171478
Gross profit EX 919,723 642,262
Profit/(loss) before tax BrIgATEF (B518) 122,612 (49,210)
Profit/(loss) for the year FWiaF,/ (E518) 80,502 (37,185)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners EREEB ANBIEER
of the Company wA,/ (8518) 62,593 (35,970)
Financial position (HK$'000) BN (FH&T)
Total assets MEE 2,406,144 2237942
Net current assets MENBEFE 339,417 277,049
Unsecured bank borrowings FILIRRITREM 441,878 522,259
Net assets BEZFE 918,490 886,940
Net assets attributable to owners of the Company EREBBANEGEEERE 925,758 895,201
Per share data (HK cents) SREE (Bl)
Dividend per share SRES
— Interim —H 0.4 -
~ Final — K 13 -
—Total — 85t 1.7 -
Earnings/(losses) per share SREMN,/ (BB
— Basic —Ex 3.58 (2.06)
- Diluted —#% 3.58 (2.06)
Net assets value per share BREERME 52.5 50.7
Share price as at 31 December R12B31 BHNRE 7.0 6.9

Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

AT 22

2023 2022
20234 20224
Key statistics TEHE
Gross profit margin (%) EFE %) 25.5% 203%
Net profit/(loss) margin (%) FimAl, (B518) £ (%) 2.2% (1.2%)
Inventory turnover (days) FEREXH (XH) 722 90.8
Debtors’ turnover (days) BEBANBEXH (K& 59.4 76.7
Creditors’ turnover (days) BEANBEXH (XH) 542 68.5
Payout ratio (%) TREE (%) 37.0%* NIATRE B
Dividend yield (%) % B U (%) 24.3% N/AT
Return on total assets (%) BB ERIWE (%) 3.3% (1.7%)
Return on net assets (%) P B ERRE (%) 8.8% (4.2%)
Gearing ratio (%) BEABBLEE®%) 48.1% 58.9%
Current ratio (%) TENEEE (%) 126.8% 125.3%

E Payout ratio is equal to dividend divided by profit for the year
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEREH

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Sinomax Group
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”), | have great
pleasure of presenting to you our annual report for the financial year ended 31 December
2023 (the "Reporting Period").

The overall economy in 2023 was not as good as previously expected. Trade wars and anti-
dumping measures in many countries still hindered the development of our global business.
However, our strategy of developing more e-commerce sales and reaching out to more global
customers was successful. This tactic has facilitated business growth and enabled a turnaround
in 2023. In particular, our sales in Europe and other overseas markets increased by 35.9%.

We will remain cautiously optimistic and we will actively put in resources to explore businesses
with higher growth potential and reduce expenditure. We will make good use of our strengths
and explore opportunities in the growing “Mattress-in-a-Box" market, and diversify our
customer base in order to maintain our position as one of the leading experts in visco-elastic
health and wellness products in the US and the retail markets in Hong Kong and the PRC.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to thank all staff members for
their dedication to the Group, and the shareholders, valued customers, suppliers, bankers and
other business partners for their continuous support.

Lam Chi Fan
Chairman

22 March 2024

Lam Chi Fan #E L
Chairman BEE £
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue by operating segments

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group increased by approximately HK$437.4
million or approximately 13.8% to approximately HK$3,608.9 million (FY2022: approximately
HK$3,171.5 million).

EEEREAD

BEEN R DHA

RREH REBHNRAEING43748 8
BT 413.8%FE493,608.9B B E T (2022
FHHEE 431715888 T) °

2023 2022 Changes
20238 20226 =] ]

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET
China market FREIT 5 1,589,634 1,490,264 6.7%
North American market 1EE/I15 1,384,678 1,214,227 14.0%
Europe and other overseas markets  BUMN K /85135 634,582 466,987 359%
Total HeEt 3,608,894 3,171,478 13.8%

The sales in China market increased by approximately 6.7% as a result of the increase in the

market share of foam sales.

In the North American market, we diversified our customer base by developing business
relationship with more new customers, as a result of which sales for the Reporting Period in

this region increased by approximately 14.0%, as compared to sales in FY2022.

In Europe and other overseas markets, we recorded an increase of sales for the Reporting
Period in this region of approximately 35.9%, as compared to sales in FY2022. The increase

was mainly due to the increase in our sales to customers in Europe.

BB AEHENTHHEREM PETS
RS ERRIERAV6.7%
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1 NN4935.9%  ZIE R EEBRREMAE
NERHEL LR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEwAD

Gross profit

With an increase of approximately 13.8% in the Group's revenue, gross profit (the “GP")
increased by approximately HK$277.5 million or 43.2% to approximately HK$919.7 million
during the Reporting Period as compared to approximately HK$642.3 million for FY2022.The
GP margin increased by 5.2% from approximately 20.3% to approximately 25.5% as compared
with FY2022.

The increase in GP margin was due to the improvement on production efficiency and more

stringent control on cost of labour.

Costs and expenses

Selling and distribution costs for the Reporting Period increased by approximately HK$33.8
million or 8.0% to approximately HK$458.4 million, as compared to approximately HK$424.5
million for FY2022. The increase in selling and distribution costs was in line with the increase
in revenue for the Reporting Period. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
transportation costs of approximately HK$14.3 million, marketing expenses of approximately

HKS$11.6 million, and staff costs and commission fees of approximately HK$6.0 million.

Administrative expenses for the Reporting Period increased by approximately HK$61.5 million
or 32.6% to approximately HK$250.2 million, as compared to approximately HK$188.7 million
for FY2022. The increase was mainly due to increase in payments of PRC withholding tax on
distributable profits from the Group’s PRC subsidiaries of approximately HK$22.4 million, staff

cost and directors emolument of approximately HK$17.2 million.

Profit for the Reporting Period

Profit for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$80.5 million while a loss of
approximately HK$37.2 million was reported for FY2022.

The turnaround was primarily attributable to the increase in sales as well as savings derived
from various cost cutting measures adopted by the Group including:

()  improvement on production efficiency;

(2)  more stringent control on cost of labour; and

(3)  reduction of cost of raw materials.

10 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$339.4
million, as compared to approximately HK$277.0 million as at 31 December 2022. Net cash
from operating activities amounted to approximately HK$420.3 million for the Reporting
Period as compared to approximately HK$190.8 million for FY2022. Bank balance and cash as
at 31 December 2023 increased by approximately HK$140.9 million or approximately 83.4%
to approximately HK$309.9 million as compared to approximately HK$169.0 million as at 31
December 2022.

Borrowings and pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had banking facilities amounting to approximately
HK$1,040.0 million of which approximately HK$473.1 million was utilised (FY2022: banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$1,106.9 million of which approximately HK$527.5

million was utilised) (which included unsecured bank borrowings and bills payables).

Capital expenditure

The Group's capital expenditure for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
HK$62.2 million (FY2022: HK$51.0 million) which was mainly for the purchase of the Group's

plant and machinery.

EEEREAD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEwAD

Financial ratios BATEEER
As at As at
3| December 3| December
2023 2022
120235 128318 120225128318
Current ratio") b 126.8% 125.3%
Quick ratio? RENLLEO 86.6% 74.6%
Gearing ratio® BEXREELEO 48.1% 58.9%
Debt to equity ratio® EHHEELEES 14.4% 39.8%

Current ratio is equal to current assets divided by current liabilities.

@ Quick ratio is equal to current assets less inventories and divided by current liabilities.

® Gearing ratio is derived by dividing interest-bearing debt incurred in the ordinary course of

business by total equity.

® Debt to equity ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by total equity. Net debt is defined to

include all borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group carries on business mainly in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"), the United States (the "US") and Vietnam. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk principally in Renminbi and Vietnamese Dong which can be largely offset by its revenue
and expenditure in the PRC and Vietnam. The Group does not expect any appreciation
or depreciation of Hong Kong Dollar against Renminbi and Vietnamese Dong which could
materially affect the Group’s results of operations, and therefore no hedging instrument has
been employed. The Group will closely monitor the trends of Renminbi and Vietnamese Dong

and take appropriate measures to deal with the foreign exchange exposure if necessary.

12 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TREASURY POLICY AND MARKET RISKS

The Group has a treasury policy that aims at better controlling its treasury operations and
lowering borrowing cost. Such treasury policy requires the Group to maintain an adequate
level of cash and cash equivalents and sufficient available banking facilities to finance the
Group's daily operations and to address short term funding needs. The Group reviews and

evaluates its treasury policy from time to time to ensure its adequacy and effectiveness.

PROSPECTS

Although the global economic environment in 2023 remains unstable, we recorded a profit
after tax for the Reporting Period of HK$80.5 million (2022: loss of HK$37.2 million) which
marked a remarkable turnaround in our performance. We expect the financial improvement
will continue in 2024 and we will also continue to critically review our costs and implement

various cost cutting measures on various areas including production and logistics.

New online sales projects in the US were launched. We expect that the demand for Mattress-
in-a-box, one of the Group’s major products sold through online channels, is strong. Our sales
for Mattress-in-a-box in Europe also increased significantly in 2023.We are optimistic that the
growth in sales of Mattress-in-a-box will be encouraging and will generate more sales and

profits for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEmEAD R

More and more countries were included and subject to additional anti-dumping duty on
products imported into the US market. Some global customers are looking for suppliers who
can provide goods in various countries. With factories in the PRC, the US and Vietnam, we
are able to source raw materials from countries with lower costs (including production, tariff
and shipping costs), resulting in more cost-efficient operations. It also provides the Group with
the flexibility to supply our products globally to meet various customers demand. We will
closely monitor the customers’ demand as well as the production costs and will increase our
investment in relevant equipment and resources as appropriate to cope with the increasing
demands of various global customers. We will continue to explore opportunities in the
growing Mattress-in-a-Box market and to diversify our customer base in order to maintain our
position as one of the leading experts in visco-elastic health and wellness products in the US

and Europe and the retail markets in Hong Kong and the PRC.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Prospects” in this report, the Group does not have

other plans for material investments or capital assets.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company's listed securities during the Reporting Period.

14 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the employee headcount of the Group was 2,846 (FY2022:

2477) and the total staff costs, including Directors’ remuneration and share option

expenses, amounted to approximately HK$523.6 million for the Reporting Period (FY2022:

approximately HK$482.7 million). The increase in staff costs was primarily due to increase in

headcount.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages commensurate with industry practice
and provides various fringe benefits to employees including housing and travel allowances
depending on their grade and ranking within the Group. The Group also maintains medical
insurance for the benefit of its employees. The Group conducts induction training for all of its
new employees and on-going training from time to time during their employment. The nature
of training offered depends on their specific field of operation. The Group also operates an
employee incentive scheme pursuant to which rewards take the form of promotions, salary

raises and monetary bonuses, and a share option scheme.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEhEHREERE

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Company are as

follows:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LAM Chi Fan, aged 65

Mr. Lam is a co-founder of the Group, the Chairman of the Group and an executive Director:
Mr. Lam is also the chairman of the Company’s nomination committee and a member of the
Company's remuneration committee. Mr. Lam was appointed to the Board in June 2012. Mr.
Lam is responsible for formulation of the overall business strategies of the Group. He is also
responsible for the business planning and management of the Group. Mr. Lam is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lam has over 20 years' experience in the polyurethane
foam business. Prior to founding the Group in January 2000, he was a director of Luen Tai
Component Limited, a company engaging in the sales of foam products, from March 1991
to July 1996. He is a member of the |3th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
Jiashan, Zhejiang Province Committee, the vice president of the Shau Kei Wan District of the
Scout Association of Hong Kong, an affiliated supervisor of the Huangpu Customs of PRC
and the president of the Dongguan City Tang Xia Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment. Mr. Lam is the uncle of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive Director;
the father of Mr. Lam Sze Chiu, a senior management member of the Group; and a cousin of

Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHEUNG Tung, aged 48

Mr. Cheung is the President of the Company and an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined
the Group in 2003 as the Chairman’s assistant, responsible for handling the information
technology infrastructure of the Group. He was appointed to the Board in June 2012. He is
currently responsible for the overall management and daily operations of the Group. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung assisted
in setting up C&T Solutions Limited, a company engaging in providing information technology
services, in March 2000. Mr. Cheung holds a bachelor's degree in computer engineering
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a master's degree in business
administration jointly issued by Northwestern University and the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. Mr. Cheung was granted the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong
2014" by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. Mr: Cheung is a nephew of Mr. Lam Chi Fan,
the Chairman and an executive Director; a nephew of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive Director;

and a cousin of Mr. Lam Sze Chiu, a senior management member of the Group.

CHEN Feng, aged 60

Mr. Chen is an executive Director He was appointed to the Board in June 2012. He
is responsible for the overall management of the export sales business and product
development of the Group. He is also the key executive in mapping the sales and marketing
strategies in the US through Sinomax USA Inc. (“Sinomax USA"). He is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr: Chen joined the Group in January 2000 as an export sales
manager and became the vice president of the Group in 2007. He assisted in setting up
Sinomax USA, a company engaging in export sales in the US, and has been the president and
director of Sinomax USA since its establishment in 2005. Mr. Chen holds a Master of Science
degree in industrial engineering from Louisiana State University and a Bachelor of Engineering
degree in safety engineering from Beijing College of Economics, now known as Capital
University of Economics and Business. Mr. Chen is a cousin of the mother of Ms. Lam Fei Man,

an executive Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEhEHREERE

LAM Kam Cheung, aged 56

Mr Lam is an executive Director, chief financial officer and company secretary of the Company.
Mr: Lam joined the Group in May 2004 as the financial controller and was appointed to the
Board in June 2012. He was appointed as the chief financial officer of the Company in August
2013 and is responsible for the financial management of the Group. Mr. Lam has over 30 years'
experience in accounting and auditing. Prior to joining the Group, he was an executive director
and company secretary of Yeebo (International Holdings) Limited (stock code: 0259), a listed
public company in Hong Kong, from October 1995 to May 2004. Mr. Lam holds a bachelor's
degree in business administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a member

of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

LAM Fei Man, aged 49

Ms. Lam is an executive Director: She is responsible for the Group's purchasing operations. She
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Lam joined the Group in January
2000 and served as the assistant administration manager of Sinomax (Holding) Group Limited,
a predecessor company of Sinomax Enterprises Limited (“Sinomax Enterprises”), until January
2003. She was appointed to the Board in June 2012. Ms. Lam has over |8 years experience
in purchasing and logistics. She holds a bachelor's degree in commerce jointly issued by the
University of Canberra and the Hong Kong Baptist University. Ms. Lam is a cousin of Mr. Lam
Chi Fan, the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director; the daughter of a cousin of
Mr: Chen Feng, an executive Director; and an aunt of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an

executive Director,
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WONG Chi Keung, aged 57

Mr. Wong is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee
and corporate governance committee and a member of the nomination committee of the
Company. Mr: Wong was appointed to the Board in 4 March 2014. Mr. Wong is currently an
executive director and the chief financial officer of Win Hanverky Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3322), a listed public company in Hong Kong. He was previously the chief financial
officer of Besunyen Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 0926) from September 2011 to
September 2013 and China Dongxiang (Group) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 3818) from May 2007
to April 2010, all of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Between June 2002 and
June 2006, Mr. Wong was a senior finance manager of China Netcom Group Corporation
(Hong Kong) Limited (a company previously listed in Hong Kong (former stock code: 0906)
which subsequently merged with China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 0762), a
listed public company in Hong Kong). Between July 1989 and December 1999, Mr.Wong was
employed by PricewaterhouseCoopers, an international public accounting firm, in Hong Kong
as an audit manager. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor's degree in business administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and a master's degree in business administration from the
Australian Graduate School of Management, jointly issued by the University of New South
Wales and the University of Sydney. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.

ZHANG HWO Jie, aged 61

Mr. Zhang is an independent non-executive Director, a member of the audit committee
and the corporate governance committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang was appointed to
the Board in March 2014. Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman of EVA Precision Industrial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 838), a listed public company in Hong Kong. Mr: Zhang has more
than 25 years of experience in marketing, strategic planning and corporate management in
manufacturing industry. Mr. Zhang was granted with the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong
Kong" by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries in 2008, and was bestowed as an honorary
fellow by The Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries in 2014. He is currently
the president honoris causa of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council, the honorary chairman
of The Hong Kong Metals Manufacturers Association and the honorary president of Hong
Kong Mould and Product Technology Association.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEhEHREERE

CHEUNG Wah Keung, aged 63

Dr. Cheung is an independent non-executive Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Corporate Governance Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. Dr: Cheung was appointed to the Board in June 2023. Dr.
Cheung is currently the chairman of each of Shinhint Group and Tai Sing Industrial Company
Limited. He has more than 30 years of experience in trading and manufacturing of consumer
electronic products. Dr: Cheung is currently an independent non-executive director of each
of PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2078), Casablanca Group Limited
(stock code: 2223) and Activation Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 9919). He was also
the independent non-executive chairman of PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 2078) during the period from 2 August 2019 to 30 June 2022 and an independent non-
executive director of Sky Light Holdings Limited (stock code: 3882) during the period from 12
June 2015 to 28 February 2023.The shares of the above companies with stock code indicated
are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Dr. Cheung holds a bachelor's degree in business administration and a master's degree in
global political economy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, and a master's degree
in corporate governance and a doctorate degree in business administration from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He was awarded by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries as
“Young Industrialist of Hong Kong" in 2005 and “Certificates of Merit in Directorship” by the
Hong Kong Institutes of Directors in 2006. He has taken up a variety of roles, including the
president of the Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council from 2015 to 2016, the chairman
of the Advisory Board for Master of Corporate Governance of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and a committee member of the Council of The Hang Seng University of Hong

Kong.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LAM Sze Chiu, aged 4|

Mr. Lam is the general manager of Sinohome Household Products (Shenzhen) Ltd. (“Sinomax
Shenzhen"). He is responsible for the supervision of the daily operations of Sinomax Shenzhen.
Mr. Lam joined the Group in 2007 and has been working as the marketing director of the
Group from 2012 to 2016. He was responsible for developing and communicating marketing
strategies and coordinating marketing functions of the Group. Mr: Lam also participated in the
research and development of the Group's products, and was the winner of German Red Dot
Design Award. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor of Arts degree with honours from York University in
Toronto, Canada. Mr. Lam was appointed as the Chairman of The Youth Club of Hong Kong
Furniture Association and The Hong Kong Overseas Chinese General Youth Association and
a member of the Fujian Youth Federation in 2017, a member of the Youth Committee of the
China Furniture & Decoration Chamber of Commerce in 2018, a member of the Committee
of the All-China Federation of Returned Overseas in 2019, the Chairman of Guangdong
Furnishing Industry Federation and the Vice-Chairman of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian
Associations in 2020, and the Vice-Chairman of the China Furniture & Decoration Chamber of
Commerce since 2021. Mr. Lam is the son of Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman and an executive

Director; and the cousin of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESkEREEE

QIAN Hong Xiang, aged 60

Mr Qian is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group and he is responsible for the
supervision of the daily operation and management of Sinomax Kuka (Zhejiang) Foam Co.
Limited (“Sinomax Kuka"). Since 2005, he has been the general manager of Sinomax Kuka.
Mr. Qian joined the Group in 2000 and served as the general manager and chief of foam
research. He also serves as the first rotating chairman of the China Polyurethane Foam
Alliance, the vice officer of the National Standardization Management Committee of Plastic
Products (SAC/TC48/SC2), the vice officer of the foam committee of the China Polyurethane
Industry Association, and the vice president of the international journal “Polyurethane
Industry”, the vice president of the foam committee of the China Plastics Processing Industry
Association, and he has been employed as a foam plastic expert by the China Polyurethane

Industry Association and the China Plastics Processing Industry Association for |5 years.

Mr. Qian graduated from Zhejiang University of Technology in 1988 and is a senior economist.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Qian worked as a factory manager and foam researcher in East
Asia (Huazi Group) Co, Ltd. (SRaz GEEEME) BRAE) from 1993 to 2000. Mr. Qian has
more than 30 years of experience in foam production and research, and has participated in
the formulation of more than || standards, including 4 national standards. He has won the
third prize of scientific and technological progress awarded by China National Light Industry
Federation, the Chinese Standard Innovation Contribution Award jointly issued by the General
Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the People's Republic
of China and the Standardization Administration of China, and the advanced worker in the
plastic industry of China awarded by the China Plastics Processing Industry Association.
Mr Qian was also awarded with a number of honors such as an outstanding contributor
to the standardization work of the National Plastic Products Standardization Management
Committee, a provincial-level high-end talent in Jiaxing, a “Chaoxiang Special Support” category

| talent in Haining, and a model worker and an outstanding entrepreneur in Haining.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHEN Xiao Hua, aged 62

Mr. Chen joined the Group in 2013 and was appointed as a general manager of Sinomax
(Zhejiang) Polyurethane Technology Limited (previously known as Sinomax (Zhejiang)
Polyurethane Household Products Limited* (B235E8 (i1°T) RRERERREBERAR)
("Sinomax Zhejiang") in October 2013. Mr. Chen is responsible for supervision of the daily
operation and management of Sinomax Zhejiang. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was
engaged in foam manufacturing from 2002 to 2013 and was a general manager of Sinomax
Polyurethane (Shanghai) Co,, Ltd, a company indirectly controlled by Mr. Lam Chi Fan, Mr
Cheung Tung and Mr. Chen Feng, the executive Directors, and Ms. Cheung Shui Ying, the
mother of Mr. Cheung Tung, Mr. Chen has over 30 years of experience in foam production and

research. Mr. Chen completed the 5th CEO Course in Zhejiang University in November 2006.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERHREE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its principal

subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 47 of this report.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$1.3 cents per ordinary share
of nominal value of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company (“Share”), amounting
to approximately HK$22.7 million to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders™)
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on 5 July 2024. The final
dividend is subject to the approval of the Directors recommendation by the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 7 June 2024 (“AGM"). The final
dividend will be paid on 19 July 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment
properties of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in notes |5, 16 and 17 to

the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group made charitable and other donations amounting to
approximately HK$178,364.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set

out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

24 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report

TEEH

ERRA—BREEZERAG EXE2WE
RENETEXEBHNGEMBREM
370

Rk

FEERREPNEEHNARES 1478
GERmAHMEER@R

EEgRENARAREFTEREBEO.I0
BTHEER (TRH)) mR2024F7858
LHNERDRRLMIEARTDKRE (TR
R RERBRESR 3B FTkEEE
#9%522,700,0008 75 o R IR E MR EE
RABHR2024F6A7THERTHREBE
AE(RREEXG)) tHEEEER
FREE c REIR B 1R2024F 78 198 K
2o

ME - -BERRE EREEERRENE

XEBYE BERLXE ERAEEERRKR
EYERBRSHNESHFBLINEN GES
ISR RMIEE 15 16/170

150

RBREHN AEBEHES
#3178,36438 7T ©

R E AR

feas

ARBDRENBRSHARANES FHEEHIN T
B BREME300



DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Directors consider that the Company's reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
comprise the share premium and the accumulated profits which amounted to approximately
HK$516.7 million as at 31 December 2023 (as at 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$527.2 million). Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to
Shareholders subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles of association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend, the Company is able to pay its

debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company has a share option scheme, the details of which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Share Option” in the section headed “Directors’ Report” in this report and note 3|
to the consolidated financial statements. Save as aforesaid, the Company has not entered into

any equity-linked agreement during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

LAM Chi Fan (Chairman of the Board)
CHEUNG Tung

CHEN Feng

LAM Kam Cheung

LAM Fei Man

Independent non-executive Directors

WONG Chi Keung

LAM Sing Kwong, Simon (Resigned on 12 June 2023)
ZHANG HWO Jie

WU Tak Lung (Resigned on 28 June 2023)
CHEUNG Wah Keung (Appointed on 16 June 2023)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERHREE

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, three Directors, namely, Mr.
Zhang Hwo Jie, MrWong Chi Keung and Ms. Lam Fei Man will retire at the forthcoming AGM,

and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual
confirmation of his independence in respect of the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the

Company considers such Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any member of the
Group which is not terminable within one year without payment of compensation (other than

statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this report, no other
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company or its subsidiaries or holding company was a party and in which
any Director or the Director's connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting

Period.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each of the controlling Shareholders,
namely, Sinomax Enterprises, Mr. Lam Chi Fan, Mr: Cheung Tung, Mr. Chen Feng and Ms. Cheung
Shui Ying, in respect of their compliance with the terms of the deed of non-competition as
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2014 (the “Prospectus”) for the
Reporting Period.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The articles of association of the Company provided that every Director shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in

which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has arranged for approved Directors' liability insurance policies to protect the

Directors against potential costs and liability arising from claims brought against the Directors.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company's policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management
of the Group is formulated and reviewed by the remuneration committee of the Company,
having regards to the comparable market practice, market conditions, individual performance
and the Group's operating results. Details of the remunerations of the Directors are set out in

note |1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning in Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred to therein; or (c)
were required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuer (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares

Interests in the Company

Name of Director

Nature of interest

RIPRARRIRBFE

REQBZ#m

Number of shares

Approximate
percentage of

shareholding ®

Exis mtE Rix®E" BARERSLE
LAM Chi Fan Founder of a discretionary trust 1,275,906,000 (L)@ 7291%
MER 2REFENMIA
Beneficial owner 1,500,000 (L)@ 0.09%
BB A
CHEUNG Tung Beneficial owner 1,500,000 (L)@ 0.09%
RAR BB A
CHEN Feng Beneficial owner 1,000,000 (L)@ 0.06%
BRAR BB A
LAM Fei Man Beneficial owner 1,000,000 (L)@ 0.06%
HEs HiHEA
LAM Kam Cheung Beneficial owner 1,000,000 (L)@ 0.06%
MERHE BB A
WONG Chi Keung Beneficial owner 300,000 (L)@ 0.02%
TER BB A
ZHANG HWO Jie Beneficial owner 300,000 (L)® 0.02%
SR BB A
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Notes:

The letter “L" denotes long position.

The percentage is compiled based on the total number of 1,750,002,000 shares of the

Company (the “Shares”) in issue as at 31 December 2023.

These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises. Sinomax Enterprises is legally owned as to
37.5% by Chi Fan Holding Limited, which is beneficially owned as to 100% by The Frankie
Trust. The Frankie Trust is a discretionary family trust established by LAM Chi Fan as settlor
and Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited (“Vistra") acting as the trustee. The beneficiaries of The Frankie

Trust are LAM Chi Fan and his family members.

Each of LAM Chi Fan, CHEUNG Tung, CHEN Feng, LAM Fei Man and LAM Kam Cheung,
each being an executive Director; has been granted share options to subscribe for 1,500,000,
1,500,000, 1,000,000, 1,000,000 and 1,000,000 Shares, respectively, under the post-IPO share
option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 4 March 2014 (the “Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme”), all of which are still outstanding. Each of WONG Chi Keung and,
ZHANG HWO Jie, each being an independent non-executive Director; has been granted
share options to subscribe for 300,000 Shares, respectively, under the Post-IPO Share Option

Scheme.
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BsE
(h FELIEFE

Q) ZESHENBREBEAAFTNR2023E12831HE
BITRRD (TRR1R 1) 4884 1,750,002,00088 51
ﬁo

B) ZERNAEZRRCEFF -DHBECE
BIChi Fan Holding Limited& /& H 37 5%
i 2 MChi Fan Holding LimitedMFrankiefs 5E
B A | 00%H o FrankiefS 5T /5 M E FLAR
UNERERGEET MELAMERT A
ffVistra Trust (BVI) Limited (I Vistra ) A% 5T
Ao FrankieEsEM R @ ABMEN R E KK
P& o
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Long positions in associated corporation — Sinomax Enterprises M EER e — e

Approximate

percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest Number of shares shareholding ™)
EEu% mitE RI?#E B4R 3 kb )
LAM Chi Fan Beneficiary of The Frankie Trust I5 37.5%
MER FrankiefSsEM932 2 A

CHEUNG Tung Beneficiary of The Cheung's Family Trust 5 12.5%

RAR RERKELHZEA

CHEN Feng Beneficiary of The Feng Chen's Family Trust 5 12.5%

B BRERKEENZ

Note: The above percentage is compiled based on the total number of 40 shares of Sinomax st DB EER2023E 1283 I HEHEE R

Enterprises in issue as at 31 December 2023, and the remaining |5 shares of Sinomax
Enterprises in issue is owned by The James" Family Holding Limited, which is owned as to
1009% by The James' Family Trust. The James' Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by
CHEUNG Shui Ying, the mother of CHEUNG Tung, as settlor and Vistra acting as the trustee.

The beneficiaries of The James' Family Trust are CHEUNG Shui Ying and her family members.

¥ERTROEHI0RAE MR T 158K
EFEBRECETRMEThe James’ Family
Holding Limited$%A > fiThe James' Family
Holding LimitedFjamesZX & 5 5L HE A 1 00% 1
i e JamesKIREFE D SRR 2 BRKERI L 2
2REER RKEAMERF A MVistras

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES EEEBERDER

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, at no time during the Reporting Period, had any RRARSSERESEN RESHAMT
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company AR BRAEANEFAREEEZE
been granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children under |8 years old, or B30 18 LU T 2 F L HE TR LUEREA
had any such rights been exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company or KRBRMDIESFMER > BRETFET
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement which enables the Directors, or their respective ETAZSERN  MARERERATR

spouse or children under 18 years old, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate. EMBARTEIIERNZ BEES
RREFRBZEBAI8FATZFLARN
EREMEANERESZSER -
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 3| December 2023, the persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as

recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

Long positions in Shares

Name of substantial Shareholders

Nature of interest

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFHREE

TERR 2D

R2023F 1283 1B BEALT (FEEAR
AERARETHAL) RGO EREKRR
MEA BN AR B RERE S RIS
ERHEEENELMNERTRIXBNT :

RIREYSFE

Approximate
percentage of

Number of shares (" shareholding ¥

TERRAE U EmtE R ®E" BARERDLE®

Sinomax Enterprises ©) Beneficial owner 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%

EEBRAXO BmBEBA

Chi Fan Holding Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%
REREEED

The James' Family Holding Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,275,906,000 (L)® 7291%
REREEED

Vistra © Trustee of various trusts 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%
ZEFENRFEA

CHEUNG ShuiYing Founder of a discretionary trust 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%

SRIK B 2REFENMILA

LI Ching Hau Interest of spouse 1,277,406,000 (L)® 72.99%

=68 EERE
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The letter “L" denotes long position.

The percentage is compiled based on the total number of 1,750,002,000 Shares in issue as at

31 December 2023.

Sinomax Enterprises is legally owned as to 37.5%, 12.5%, 37.5% and 12.5% by Chi Fan Holding
Limited, Wing Yiu Investments Limited, The James' Family Holding Limited and Venture Win
Holdings Limited, respectively, and beneficially owned in the same proportion by The Frankie
Trust, The Cheung’s Family Trust, The James' Family Trust and The Feng Chen's Family Trust,

respectively.

These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises, which is legally owned as to 37.5% by Chi Fan

Holding Limited.

These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises, which is legally owned as to 37.5% by The

James’ Family Holding Limited.

Vistra acts as the trustee of The Frankie Trust, The James' Family Trust, The Cheung's Family
Trust and The Feng Chen’s Family Trust. The beneficiaries of The Frankie Trust are Mr. LAM Chi
Fan and his family members. The beneficiaries of The James' Family Trust are Ms. CHEUNG
Shui Ying and her family members. The beneficiaries of The Cheung's Family Trust are Mr
CHEUNG Tung and his family members. The beneficiaries of The Feng Chen’s Family Trust are

Mr: CHEN Feng and his family members.
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7. These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises. Sinomax Enterprises is legally owned as to
37.5% by The James' Family Holding Limited, which is beneficially owned as to 100% by The
James' Family Trust. The James' Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by Ms. CHEUNG
Shui Ying as settlor and Vistra acting as the trustee. The beneficiaries of The James' Family Trust
are Ms. CHEUNG ShuiYing and her family members.

8. These interests belong to Mr. LAM Chi Fan, the spouse of Ms. LI Ching Hau. Under the SFO,
Ms. LI Ching Hau is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. LAM

Chi Fan is interested.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had continuing connected transactions and connected
transactions with certain connected persons, details of which have been disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 15 April 2021, 17 November 2021, 21 December
2022 and 28 November 2023. Certain continuing connected transactions are exempt from
one or more of the reporting, announcement, circular (including independent financial advice),
shareholders approval and annual review requirements for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.

The following are the continuing connected transactions and connected transactions of the
Group during the Reporting Period that are subject to the reporting and annual review
requirements but otherwise exempt from the shareholders' approval requirement pursuant to

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:
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Continuing Connected Transactions

()
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Sale of foam products by Sinomax Trading to Studio Moderna S.A. (“Studio
Moderna”)

Studio Moderna is the holding company of SMSA North America Holdings, LLC,
which in turn holds 48.69% equity interest in Dormeo North America, LLC, an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. As a substantial shareholder of a
subsidiary of the Company, Studio Moderna is a connected person of the Company.
Each subsidiary of Studio Moderna is an associate of Studio Moderna and hence a

connected person of the Company.

On 30 December 2016, Sinomax Trading entered into a renewed procurement
agreement (the “2017 Renewal Procurement Agreement”) with Studio Moderna
to govern the sale and purchase of foams products between Sinomax Trading and
Studio Moderna for the term commencing from | January 2017 and ending on 3|
December 2017 after the expiry of the procurement agreement entered into with
Studio Moderna in 2016 (the “Procurement Agreement ). Parties to the Procurement
Agreement would, from time to time, agree to a price list setting out the price,
specifications and delivery schedule in respect of each type of foam products, which the

purchase orders must adhere to.

On 19 December 2017, Sinomax Trading and Studio Moderna entered into a
renewed procurement agreement (the “2018 Renewal Procurement Agreement’) in
relation to the continuing supply of foam products by the Group to Studio Moderna
and its subsidiaries for the term commencing from | January 2018 and ending on
31 December 2018.
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On 17 May 2019, Sinomax Trading and Studio Moderna entered into a renewed
procurement agreement (the “2019-2020 Studio Moderna Procurement Agreement”)
in relation to the continuing supply of foam products by the Group to Studio Moderna
and its subsidiaries for the term commencing from | January 2019 and ending on

31 December 2020.

On |5 April 2021, Sinomax Trading and Studio Moderna entered into a renewed
procurement agreement (the “2021-2023 Studio Moderna Procurement Agreement”)
in relation to the continuing supply of foam products by the Group to Studio Moderna
and its subsidiaries for the term commencing from | January 2021 and ending on

31 December 2023.

Details of the terms of the Procurement Agreement, the 2017 Renewal Procurement
Agreement, the 2018 Renewal Procurement Agreement, the 2019-2020 Studio
Moderna Procurement Agreement, the 2021-2023 Studio Moderna Procurement
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 12 April 2016, 30 December 2016, 6 January
2017, 19 December 2017, 17 May 2019 and 15 April 2021, respectively.

The annual cap determined by the Directors in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate value for such continuing connected transactions under the 2021-2023
Studio Moderna Procurement Agreement for each of the years ended 31 December
2021, 2022 and 2023 was USD9 million, respectively. The total amount of sales to
Studio Moderna pursuant to the 2021-2023 Studio Moderna Procurement Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately USDO0.3 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$2.4 million).
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Sale of foams by the Company to Gu Jia Household Co., Limited* (BEE X BRI B
PRZ E]) (“Gu Jia Household”)

Sinomax Kuka is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and is
owned as to 51% by the Group and 40% by Gu Jia Household. As a substantial
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company, Gu Jia Household is a connected person
of the Company. As such, each subsidiary of Gu Jia Household is an associate of Gu Jia

Household and hence a connected person of the Company.

On 30 December 2016, Haining Sinomax Trading Co. Limited (“Haining Sinomax”)
and Sinomax Kuka entered into a procurement agreement (the “Original Haining
Procurement Agreement”) with Gu Jia Household and its subsidiaries to govern
the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams between Haining Sinomax, Sinomax
Kuka and Gu Jia Household and its subsidiaries for the term commencing from |
January 2017 and ending on 31 December 2017, after the expiry of the procurement
agreement between, among others, Haining Sinomax and Gu Jia Household entered
into in 2016. On | November 2017, the Original Haining Procurement Agreement was
superseded by a revised procurement agreement (the “Revised Haining Procurement

Agreement”).

On 30 December 2016, Sinomax (Zhejiang) Polyurethane Household Products Limited*
(EHFE (D BREXREARBERAR

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a renewed procurement

) (“Sinomax Zhejiang"), an indirect

agreement (the “2017 Renewal Zhejiang Procurement Agreement”) with Hangzhou
Gu Jia Bedding Co.,, Limited* (N EERBRBIRAF]) (‘Gu Jia Bedding”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of Gu Jia Household, to govern the sale and purchase of
polyurethane foams between Sinomax Zhejiang and Gu Jia Bedding for the term
commencing from | January 2017 and ending on 31 December 2017, after the expiry
of the procurement agreement between Sinomax Zhejiang and Gu Jia Bedding entered

into in 2016.
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On 19 December 2017, in view of the prospective expiry of the Original Haining
Procurement Agreement (as superseded by the Revised Haining Procurement
Agreement) and the 2017 Renewal Zhejiang Procurement Agreement on
31 December 2017, the Company as supplier entered into a new procurement
agreement (the “2018-2020 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement”) with Gu Jia Household
as purchaser for the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams for the three financial

years commencing from | January 2018 and ending on 31 December 2020.

On 18 December 2020, in view of the prospective expiry of the 2018-2020 Gu Jia
Procurement Agreement on 31 December 2020, the Company as supplier entered
into a renewal agreement (the “Original 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement ')
with Gu Jia Household as purchaser for the sale and purchase of polyurethane
foams for the three financial years commencing from | January 2021 and ending on
31 December 2023.

On 17 November 2021, the Original 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement was
superseded by a revised procurement agreement (the “Revised 2021-2023 Gu Jia
Procurement Agreement’) to revise the annual caps in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate amounts in respect of the transactions under the Original 2021-2023 Gu
Jia Procurement Agreement based on internal estimates and the anticipated growth in

business.

On 28 November 2023, in view of the prospective expiry of the 2021-2023 Gu Jia
Procurement Agreement on 31 December 2023, the Company as supplier entered
into a renewal agreement (the “2024-2026 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement”’) with Gu
Jia Household as purchaser for the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams for the
three financial years commencing from | January 2024 and ending on 31 December
2026.

Details of the terms of the Original 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement,
the Revised 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement, the 2024-2026 Gu Jia
Procurement Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder were set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 18 December 2020, 29 December 2020,
|7 November 2021 and 28 November 2023.
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The annual caps determined by the Directors in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate value for such continuing connected transactions under the Revised 2021-
2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement and the 2024-2026 Gu Jia Procurement

Agreement are as follows:

2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement

EEFRET202IER203FEBARF
BiRER04EE20206FBERRER
ZNERNERERZNEERSE
BEETNEELROT :

202 FEENBFEF B S

For the year ended 3| December 2021 For the year ended 3| December 2022 For the year ending 31 December 2023
BE2021F12A3 1 HILEE BE200F12A3IHILEE BE203F 12831 HILEE
RMB440.0 million RMB520.0 million RMB630.0 million

AR #4400B 87T AR¥520088 7T AR #6300 8T

2024-2026 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement

WAFEEMFREFIRB IR

For the year ended 3| December 2024 For the year ended 31 December 2025 For the year ending 31 December 2026
BE2024F 12831 HILFE BE2025F 12831 HILFE BE2026F 12831 HILFE
RMB400.0 million RMB460.0 million RMB530.0 million

ARE40008 &0 ARB4600B 8B T ARH53008 87T

The total amount of sales to Gu Jia Household pursuant to the Revised 2021-2023 Gu
Jia Procurement Agreement for the year ended 3| December 2023 was approximately

RMB?283.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$313.4 million).

38 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report

REBE2023F 13 HIEEE  RBELER]
2 ERVVFERRERZDBERXKE
HEZHBBEAAARK2838EET (HE
A3 I34EBETT) ©



Pursuant to Rule [4A55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions for the Reporting Period and

confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms; and

() inaccordance with the relevant agreements governing them and on terms that are fair

and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) "Auditor's Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions Under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued the unqualified
letters containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the above continuing connected

transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transaction

()

40

Lease agreement between Dongguan Sinohome Limited* (5 B3 5 /& o B IR
2 &]) (“Dongguan Sinohome”) and Dongguan Donglian Furniture Co., Ltd.* (B 5E.
BB ERA E) (“Dongguan Donglian”)

Dongguan Donglian is indirectly wholly-owned by Sinomax Enterprises, one of the
controlling Shareholders of the Company. Dongguan Donglian is therefore an associate

of Sinomax Enterprises and a connected person of the Company.

On 2 December 2013, Dongguan Sinohome, as tenant, entered into a lease agreement
(the “Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome™) with Dongguan Donglian, as landlord,
for the lease of certain premises situated at No. | Dajieling Road, Shahu Village, Tang Xia
Town, Dongguan, Guangdong Province, PRC (the “Dongguan Premises") for a term of

slightly more than two years at a monthly rental of approximately RMB695,000.

On 18 December 2015, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “Renewal Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease
of the Dongguan Premises for a term of three years commencing from | January 2016
and ending on 31 December 2018 at a monthly rental of approximately RMBI.3 million

after the expiry of the Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome.

On 18 December 2018, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “2019-2021 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease
of the Dongguan Premises for a term of three years commencing from | January 2019
and ending on 31 December 2021 at a monthly rental of approximately RMB660,000

after the expiry of the Renewal Dongguan Lease Agreement.
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On 17 November 2021, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “2022 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease of
the Dongguan Premises for a term of one year commencing from | January 2022 and
ending on 31 December 2022 at a monthly rental of approximately RMB,330,000
after the expiry of the 2019-2021 Dongguan Lease Agreement.

On 2| December 2022, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “2023 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease of
the Dongguan Premises for a term of one year commencing from | January 2023 and
ending on 3| December 2023 at a monthly rental of approximately RMB720,000 after
the expiry of the 2022 Dongguan Lease Agreement.

On 28 November 2023, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “2024 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease of
the Dongguan Premises for a term of one year commencing from | January 2024 and
ending on 3| December 2024 at a monthly rental of approximately RMB750,000 after
the expiry of the 2023 Dongguan Lease Agreement.

Details of the terms of the Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome, the Renewal
Dongguan Lease Agreement, the 2019-2021 Dongguan Lease Agreement, the
2022 Dongguan Lease Agreement, the 2023 Dongguan Lease Agreement, the 2024
Dongguan Lease Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder were set
out in the Prospectus and the announcements of the Company dated |8 December
2015, 18 December 2018, 17 November 2021, 21 December 2022 and 28 November
2023.
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Lease agreement between Sinomax Kuka and Zhejiang Puruimei Industry Co., Ltd.*
(WL LG %EEEEFRL E) (“Zhejiang Puruimei”)

Sinomax Kuka is an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Zhejiiang
Puruimei is beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Qian Hong Xiang (“Mr. Qian”), who is (i)
a director and a substantial shareholder of Trade Sincere Limited, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company; and (i) a director of Sinomax Kuka, an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Zhejiang Puruimei is therefore an associate

of Mr. Qian and a connected person of the Company.

On | January 2018, Sinomax Kuka entered into a lease agreement (the “2018-2020
Haining Lease Agreement’) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant to which Zhejiang
Puruimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka certain buildings and warehouses situated
on the parcel of land situated at No. 99, Qi Chao Road, Haining Agriculture Foreign
Integrated Development Area, Zheijiang, the PRC* (EIAHTI & /82 B E H MR
& & BB ER993) (the “Land”) with an aggregate area of approximately 18,209
sg.m. for a fixed term commencing from | January 2018 and ending on 31 December
2020 at a monthly rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing charges and
expenses) of RMB411,522.80 (equivalent to approximately HK$452,675.08), subject to

an increase at the rate of 5% annually.

On 15 November 2019, Sinomax Kuka entered into a supplemental lease agreement
(the 2019 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement”) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant
to which Zhejiang Purimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka: (i) the second floor of a
certain building situated on the Land with an aggregate area of approximately 2,706
sqm. for a fixed term commencing from 16 November 2019 to 30 August 2020;
and (i) certain buildings and warehouses situated on the Land with an aggregate
area of approximately 6,469 sqm. for a fixed term commencing from 16 November
2019 to 31 December 2020, at a monthly rent (exclusive of management fees and
other outgoing charges and expenses) of RMB48,302.10 (equivalent to approximately
HK$53,132.31) and RMBI149,242.88 (equivalent to approximately HK$164,167.17),

respectively.
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On 18 December 2020, in view of the prospective expiry of the 2018-2020 Hainnig
Lease Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement)
on 31 December 2020, Sinomax Kuka entered into a lease agreement (the “2021-
2023 Haining Lease Agreement”) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant to which Zhejiang
Puruimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka certain buildings and warehouses situated
on the Land with an aggregate area of approximately 23,9469 sqm. for a fixed term
commencing from | January 2021 and ending on 3| December 2023 at a monthly
rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing charges and expenses) of
RMB592,097.41 (equivalent to approximately HK$696,585.19), subject to an annual

increase at the rate of 5%.

On 17 November 2021, Sinomax Kuka entered into a supplemental agreement (the
2021 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement’) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant
to which Zhejiang Purimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka: (i) certain buildings and
warehouses situated on the Land with an aggregate area of approximately 526
sq.m. for a term of 25 months commencing on | December 2021 and ending on 31
December 2023 at a monthly rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing
charges and expenses) of RMB51,416 (equivalent to approximately HK$62,702), and
(i) certain portion of the second floor of a certain building situated on the Land
with an aggregate area of approximately 1,801 sqm. for a term of seven months
commencing on | December 2021 and ending on 30 June 2022 at a monthly
rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing charges and expenses) of
RMB35,480 (equivalent to approximately HK$43,268).

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFHREE

EN0ISER0N0EBEHER S

(BRErs=EHERZRR) A1
2020 12831 HE W > 220205128
18H  EER BB A I EREF 1L
—EERE (M021FEF203FEEE
HEWRE) Bt WIERERE
BARZIH EEERBLNA23946.9
FHEANETEFREAEHRERE
HEBEER BEFHABE2021F181H
FZE2023F 1283181 B (£ 8
EEBERHEMIHERKES
A ARMS2097.417T HHERK
696,585.1978 ) » TR _LRS% o

2021511 B 170 EEE BB R B
IEmETL—BHERRE (1202145
BRBSEHERSZE) B MIE
HEEEREnEHABBEREMA ()
Rzt HEEBLAAS5261FHK
METEFREE  HEA25EA
2021128 | BEE2023F 1283
Hib-Bf FEEEEERAME
HERKES) B ARSI 41678 (18
BER#962,70287T) 2 Ke(ii) i 5 &% L #h
FEEBNEI I KNEET
FE_ENETHY HBATEAR
H202 1128 1B E2022%6H308
Bl (FEEEEEREMIH
ERMEX) AARE35480T (HE
T 494326878 7T) ©

BEEEBMRAT 203FERS

43



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERHREE

On 28 November 2023, in view of the prospective expiry of the 2021-2023 Haining
Lease Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement)
on 31 December 2023, Sinomax Kuka entered into a lease agreement (the “2024-
2026 Haining Lease Agreement”’) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant to which Zhejiang
Puruimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka the Premises for a fixed term of three
years commencing on | January 2024 and ending on 31 December 2026 at a monthly
rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing charges and expenses) of
RMB665,340.50 (equivalent to approximately HK$723,196.20).

Pursuant to HKFRS 16, leases shall be recognised as right-of-use assets in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position for the accounting period on
or after | January 2019. Accordingly, the entering into of the 2018-2020 Haining
Lease Agreement, the 2019 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement, the 2021-2023
Haining Lease Agreement, the 2021 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement and the
2024-2026 Haining Lease Agreement by the Group shall be regarded as an one-off
acquisition of assets of the Group under Rule 14A.24(1) of the Listing Rules.

Details of the terms of the 2018-2020 Haining Lease Agreement, the 2019
Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement, the 2021-2023 Haining Lease Agreement,
the 2021 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement, the 2024-2026 Haining Lease
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated |8 November 2019, 18 December 2020, 24
December 2020, 17 November 202 | and 28 November 2023.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the requirements under Chapter
[4A of the Listing Rules in respect of all the continuing connected transactions and connected
transactions entered into by the Group during the Reporting Period and all of the above
continuing connected transactions and connected transactions were entered into in the

manners stated above.

44 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report

EMNIEREREEEHRER S

(BRErs=EHERZRR) A1
2023F 12831 HEM > 122023F 1 1 B
288 EEBEREMIERET L
— (T ERE (M2024FEF20265F B E
HEWRE) Bt WIERERE
RZEMERBERERREZO BT
FHH2024F 1 B IBEZE20265F 128
3R B (FEEEEERAM
SHERRFESR) A AR665340.50
7T (FBER4723,196.2087T) °

RESEVHEREENF 5 HE
BRAEBMEIBIBSEZ®Z
BHPBEZGEMBRARAEDR A
EREEE -FIt > AEBETL2018
FE00FBEMERZE 2019FH
TEEHEERE 2021 EE2023E 5
BHERZ 0 ERTEERER
FER204EE206FEEEHEREA
B EHRAEI4A24()ERBAE
SRz TMEEREEE

BER0I8SEE200F BEHEWRZE
WIIEHREERERZ 2001FE
0B3FEBFEHERE 2001 F/RE
ERERER024EE2026EEEM
EMBZIHAREBETRETRZZ
HBHNRAABBEA019F11818
H 2020128 18H 20205 12824
B 2021118178 %20235F 11828
HE Ao

EXERR AR ENEEER RS H
SUZFBRERERZRBERFET
LHRAUFEHAZTETZRE MAE £
BREREXZRBERZ R LM H T
7o



BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and an analysis of the Group's financial performance
for the Reporting Period using financial key performance indicators can be found in the
sections headed “Financial Highlights” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”" on pages 6

to 7 and pages 9 to |5 of this report, respectively.

Environmental Policy and Performance

In conducting its business, the Group's objective is to minimise the adverse effects of
its operations on the environment. In addition, in order to comply with the applicable
environmental protection laws, the Group has established an environmental management
system in its operations in accordance with ISO [4001:2015 international standards. The
environmental management system will be reviewed from time to time in order to reduce
risks related to environmental issues. The Group has complied with a number of PRC
environmental protection laws in connection with water pollutants, air pollutants, solid waste
pollutants, as well as noise pollution generated from its manufacturing operations. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was in compliance with the applicable PRC laws and regulations
on environmental laws and was not subject to any fines or legal action resutting from incidents
of non-compliance with any applicable PRC environmental regulations, nor was there any

threatened or pending action by any PRC environmental regulatory authority.

Details of the Group's environmental policy and performance are set out in the Environmental,

Social and Governance Report on pages 81 to |36 of this report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Reporting Period, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant

impact on the business and operations of the Group.

Relationship with Employees, Suppliers, Customers, and other Stakeholders

Details of the Group's relationship with employees, suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 81 to

136 of this report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(1

46

Risk of customer concentration

Sales to the Group's top five customers accounted for approximately 33.2% (FY2022:
36.7%) of the Group's total revenue, with one customer in the Group's foam sales
segment accounting for approximately 8.7% (FY2022: 10.5%) of the Group’s total

revenue.

The Group has not entered into any long-term agreements with these top five
customers. Their purchases are on an order-by-order basis. The Group cannot
guarantee that it will be able to maintain stable relationships with its key customers.
A substantial decrease of purchases could adversely affect product sales, financial

condition and results of operations of the Group.

The Group will continue to diversify its customer portfolio by actively searching for
new customers and seeking opportunities for strategic acquisition in order to capture

more customers in different markets.

Risk of changing economic conditions

To manage the risk of economic fluctuation in the world, the Group is trying to
diversify its investments geographically. In particular, the Group's factories in the US and

Vietnam have started operations and are expected to generate profit in the future.

Risk of deterioration in the value of the Group’s brands

The Group is dependent on the goodwill in its brands for the continued success and
growth of its business. In particular, the Group relies on sales of its “Sinomax" branded
products in Hong Kong and the PRC, and products under other brands owned by or
licensed to it in other territories. Adverse publicity or regulatory or legal action against
the Group could damage the reputation and brand images of and discourage long-term

demand for the Group's products.
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The Group continues to adopt its strategy to promote its brand names through
different marketing schemes. The Group also uses multi brands strategy to promote
more brands like “Zeosleep”, “PureLUX", “Dream Serenity”, “ComforZen", “Spa
Supreme” and “Tung Ah” so as to reduce the risk of reliance on and deterioration of a

particular brand.

Risk of volatility in the pricing of raw materials

The Group is exposed to commodity price risks resulting from fluctuation of prices
of chemicals including polypropylene glycol and toluene diisocyanate, which are the
principal raw materials for the production of polyurethane foams. The Group has not
entered into any long-term agreement with any of its raw materials suppliers, nor has
it entered into any hedging arrangements or transactions to reduce the exposure to

fluctuations in raw materials costs.

The Group implements a cost-plus pricing policy in the segments of export sales and
polyurethane foam sales. Price quotations for orders are negotiated in an order-by-
order basis. In determining the product prices, the Group usually takes into account
various factors such as production costs (including costs of raw materials), production
cycle, transportation costs, product types, specification, market price and global

economic conditions.

Risk of compliance with laws and regulations

The Group's business is subject to Hong Kong, PRC, Vietnam and US laws and
regulations. Any failure to comply with laws and regulations could result in legal
proceedings and expose us to civil and/or criminal liabilities. The long term
development of our business largely depends on a steady legal environment.
Unanticipated changes in policies and regulatory practices may adversely affect our
business. The Group will continue to manage and ensure the highest compliance

standard with first-rate independent legal services.
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PROSPECTS

A description of the likely future development in the Group's business is provided in the

section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 15 of this report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 4 March 2014, the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was conditionally adopted by the
Shareholders. The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme becomes valid and effective on 10 July
2014 and will expire on the business day preceding the tenth anniversary thereof. Subject
to the rules of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, grantees may exercise the share options
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time during the period commencing
from the date of grant and up to such expiry date as determined by the Board. There is no
general requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period before it can be

exercised.

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to
eligible participants with an opportunity to acquire the equity interests in the Company, for
their contributions to, and continuing efforts to promote the interest of the Group or for such
other purposes as the board of directors of the Company may approve from time to time,
linking their interests with the interests of the Group and thereby attracting and encouraging

those parties to work better for the interests of the Group.

The eligible participants include any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisers who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to the Company and/or any

of its subsidiaries.

48 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report

BE

ERAEEEBTRNFREROERT
REREHIE SEN MEREHBRAH)
—e

FRRR eSS

20143848 RRBFH R E R AR
LERBRESS BRNARLERBR
RESTRIF2014E78 108 £ 30 Wi R
HETEBFAMNEXRE R -BRE
RAFEERBRESINRI AEA
JEERHABEZEEEEEEZEWMA
MIENBENERTERBERAREE
BRERESIERTHNERE -FRIE
BRTREABRELAFEEANRIEHR
B —RARIRE o

BRNAEERBRESE SERSEM
FEEN R ARDEFEARHRENE
MENMELERAFESNINGERS
BERM—EENELADRENEE F
AHEREHNHBNER UK RSN =
BAEENMNaBBE—E HMRsI&
BEEER A ATERNN@ENENT
fEe

CERSEEQEARTAEETANBR
ANERAEHARBES THRARAS
MEE (BREAIT  FRTRBUIFRNT
BF) UKEFE2RNEIAREUE
HARB R,/ HEERMEAEELHER
MERHED TR BE RERSHA
+o



The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 165,000,000 Shares (the “Limit"), representing 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue at the listing date of the Company. Options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (or any other share option
schemes of the Company) will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Limit. Subject
to the approval of the Shareholders of the Company in general meeting and/or such other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time, the Company may refresh
the Limit at any time subject to certain conditions. The Company may also with the approval
of the Shareholders of the Company in general meeting grant options in respect of Shares
in excess of the Limit (as refreshed from time to time) to eligible participants specifically
identified by the Company before such approval is sought. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share schemes of the

Group at any time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

On 26 January 2017 (the “Date of Grant”), the Company granted a total of 30,800,000 share
options to 58 eligible participants, representing approximately 1.76% of the 1,750,002,000
shares in issue as at the Date of Grant. All 30,800,000 share options are valid for a period of 5
years commencing from the relevant vesting date and shall entitle the grantee to subscribe for

one Share upon exercise of such option at a subscription price of HK$0.69 per Share.

As at the date of this report, the total number of securities available for issue under the Post-
PO Share Option Scheme was 145,400,000 Shares, representing approximately 8.31% of
the total number of issued Shares as at the date of this report, and no Share has been issued
and the Company has not received any monetary or other consideration under the Post-IPO

Share Option Scheme.
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The total number of Shares issued and which fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in
any |2-month period up to the date of offer to grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of offer to grant. Any further grant of options in excess of the 1% limit to
any eligible participant shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders of the Company
in general meeting and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time
to time with such eligible participant and his close associates (or his associates if he is a

connected person of the Company) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall

determine, save that such price shall at least be the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of offer; which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the

business of dealing in securities;
(i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer; and
(i) the nominal value of the Shares.

Further details of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 30 to the financial

statements.
145,900,000 options and 156,600,000 options were available for grant under the Limit at the

beginning and the end of the Reporting Period, respectively. No option was granted under all

schemes of the Company during the Reporting Period.
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The following tables disclose details of movements of share options granted under the Post-

IPO Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFHREE

TERRENBESHARBERAREER

ERESEIRLNEREZEFE

Outstanding Granted Lapsed Exercised  Outstanding
Exercise asat during the during the during the asat
price per | Jan Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 Dec
Grantee Date of Grant Vesting Period Exercise period Share 2023 Period Period Period 2023
120235 120235
IBIB RS8N RESEA RESHER 2A3A
ARA B AS RS T8 BRITHEE  HRTE &t 3 i HKTHR
LAM Chi Fan (Chairman) 26 Jan 2017 26/an2017-261]an 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 750,000 - (750,000) - Nil
HEN (28 WI7EIFBE  0I7FEIABEE WIBEIFBHE &
20181 F26H 2023EIF25H
26]an 2017 26)an 2017 -26Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 750,000 - - - 750,000
WI7EIBRE  WITEIBWHE WIYEIRBAE
019F1826H 204F 18258
CHEUNG Tung (President) 26 Jan 2017 26/an2017-261]an 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 750,000 - (750,000) - Nil
wik (@) WI7EIFBE  0I7FEIABEE WIBEIFBHE &
20181 526H 2023EIF25H
26]an 2017 26)an 2017 -26an 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 750,000 - - - 750,000
WI7EIBRE  WITEIRWAE WIYEIRBAE
019F1826H 204F 18258
CHEN Feng 26 Jan 2017 26)an 2017 -26Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 500,000 - (500,000) - Nil
e WITEIAXE  WIEIAXEE WISEFIRWHE &
20181 526H 203EIF25H
26]an 2017 26)an 2017 -26an 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 500,000 - - - 500,000
WI7EIBRE  WITEIRWHE WIYEIRBAE
019F1826H 204F1825H
LAM Kam Cheung 26 Jan 2017 26/an 2017 -261]an 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 500,000 - (500,000) - Nil
iR WITEIAXE  WIEIAXEE WISEFIRWHE &
20181 526H 2023EIF25H
26Jan 2017 26)an 2017 -26Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 500,000 - - - 500,000
WI7EIBRE  WITEIBWHE WIYEIRWAE
019F1826H 204F 18258
LAM Fei Man 26 Jan 2017 26)an 2017 -26Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 500,000 - (500,000) - Nil
HEZ WITEIAXE  WIEIAXEE WISEIRWHE &
20181 526H 2023EIF25H
26]an 2017 26)an 2017 -26Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 500,000 - - - 500,000
WI7EIBRE  WITEIBWHE WIYEIRBAE

2019%1 8268

2004818258

BEEBEERAA

203FEERSE
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Outstanding Granted Lapsed Exercised  Outstanding
Exercise asat during the during the during the asat
price per | Jan Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 Dec
Grantee Date of Grant Vesting Period Exercise period Share 2023 Period Period Period 2023
#2038 #2035
IBIR  RERESEA REEHER  RESER 12A31H
ERA REAEH REH 788 EROTHEE  HXKT bt ESd i WK
WONG Chi Keung 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 -26 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 150,000 = (150000) = Ni
TE% WI7EIBWE  0I7FIFKEE WISEIFURE &
201851 F26H 2031 F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 150,000 = = = 150,000
WIEIFWE  WIEIFWEE WI9EIBURE
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
LAM Sing Kwong, Simon 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 150,000 = (150000) = N
M WI7EIBWE  0I7FEIFKEE WISEIFURE &
201851 F26H 2031 F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 150,000 = (150000) = N
WI7EIBWE  0I7FEIFKEE WI9EIBURE &
201951 F26H 202441 F25H
ZHANG HWO Jie 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017-26 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 150,000 = (150000) = N
E WI7EIBWE  0I7FEIFKEE WISEIFURE &
201851 F26H 2031 F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 150,000 = = = 150,000
WIEIFWE  WIEIFWEE WI9EIBURE
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
WU Tak Lung 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 150,000 = (150000) = Nl
RiEH WI7EIBWE  0I7FIF%EE WISEIFURE &
20181 F26H 03 1F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 150,000 = (150000) = Nl
WI7EIBWE  0I7FEIFKEE WI9EIBURE &
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
Other employees 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018 - 25 Jan 2023 069 5950000 - (5950000) = Nl
(in aggregate) WI7EIFBE  WITEIBWEE WIBEIFBEE £
HitgS (A3h) 2018E1826A 203E1A25A
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017 =26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019 - 25 Jan 2024 069 5950000 = (850000) = 5,100,000
WIEIFWE  WITEIFWEE WI9EIBURE
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
Total At 19,100,000 - (10,700000) = 8400000
Number of share options 122023128318 8,400,000

exercisable at
31 December 2023

Blesd
EREHE
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Notes:

(@)  During the Reporting Period, 4 (FY2022: 3) eligible participants who have been granted
share options under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme have ceased to become eligible
participants upon termination of employment and the said share options have automatically

lapsed.

(b)  Other details of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note 31 to the

consolidated financial statements.

() Save as disclosed above, no share option granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

was outstanding, granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

The articles of association of the Company and the Companies Act (As Revised) of the
Cayman Islands do not entitle any Shareholder to any pre-emptive right or other similar rights

to subscribe for the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any Shares

during the Reporting Period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken by the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Other
than those transactions disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”
above, these related party transactions either did not constitute connected transaction/
continuing connected transactions or constituted connected transaction/continuing connected
transactions that were exempted from all disclosure and independent Shareholders' approval

requirement under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 36.0% of the Group's total purchases. The Group's largest
supplier accounted for approximately | 1.3% of the Group's total purchases. The average length

of relationship with the Group's five largest suppliers was approximately |1.9 years.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 33.2% of the Group's total revenue. The Group's largest
customer accounted for approximately 8.7% of the Group's total revenue. The average length

of relationship with the Group’s five largest customers was approximately 10.2 years,

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company) had
a beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Reporting

Period.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If any Shareholders has any doubt about the taxation implication of purchasing, holding,
disposing of, dealing in, or exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to

consult their own professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the

Corporate Governance Report on pages 56 to 80 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the
Directors, at least 25% of the Company's total issued share capital, the prescribed minimum
percentage of public float approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the Listing
Rules, are held by the public at all times during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this

report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023
were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"), whose term of office will retire at the
close of the forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of PwC as the auditor of

the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

During the past three years, following the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 12 August 2020, PwC was appointed as the auditor
of the Company with effect from 19 August 2020 to fill the vacancy, particulars of which have
been set out in the announcement of the Company dated 20 August 2020. Save as disclosed
above, there were no other changes in the auditors of the Company during the past three

years.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period have been reviewed by

the audit committee of the Board.

This report is signed for and on behalf of the Board.

Lam Chi Fan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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EXERHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance to
safeguard the interests of its Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Board believes that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management and healthy corporate culture, thereby earning the confidence of the

Shareholders and the public.

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix CI to the Listing Rules as its own code of
corporate governance. The Company complied with and met the applicable code provisions

set out in the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Company's corporate governance

practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for the Directors and relevant employees, who
are likely to possess inside information of the Company, in their dealings in the Company's
securities. The code of conduct are on terms no less exacting than the required standard set
out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model

Code") contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they
had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company's code
of conduct during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Our Company fosters a culture of integrity, innovation, teamwork and win-win. We believe
in upholding the highest standards of integrity, embracing change and creativity, working
collaboratively and creating value for all stakeholders. Our culture is the foundation of our
success, and we are committed to continuously improving it to better serve our employees,
customers, shareholders, suppliers, and communities. Our values and strategy are aligned with

our culture,
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, with five executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to
the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors Lam Chi Fan (Chairman)
Cheung Tung (President)
Chen Feng

Lam Kam Cheung

Lam Fei Man

Independent
non-executive
Directors Wong Chi Keung

Lam Sing Kwong, Simon (Resigned on 12 June 2023)

Zhang Hwo Jie
WuTak Lung (Resigned on 28 June 2023)

Cheung Wah Keung (Appointed on 16 June 2023)

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the Company's business.
The independence of the independent non-executive Directors is assessed according to the
relevant rules and requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company requests the Directors
to disclose annually to the Company the number and nature of office held in public companies

or organisations and other significant commitments with an indication of time involved.

Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Board has adopted a board diversity policy
concerning the diversity of Board members. The board diversity policy outlines the factors
to be considered when deciding on the appointments of members to the Board and the
continuation of those appointments. These factors include but are not limited to gender; age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length
of service and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from

time to time.
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Relationship between Board members

- Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman and an executive Director; is the uncle of Mr. Cheung
Tung, the President and an executive Director and a cousin of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an

executive Director;

= Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive Director; is a nephew of Ms. Lam Fei

Man, an executive Director;

- Mr: Chen Feng, an executive Director; is a cousin of the mother of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an

executive Director; and

= Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive Director; is a cousin of Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman
of the Board and an executive Director; the daughter of a cousin of Mr: Chen Feng, an
executive Director; and an aunt of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive

Director.

Save as disclosed above, there are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board and in particular, between the Chairman of the

Board and the chief executive.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board and management

The Board is responsible and has general power for the management and conduct of the
business of the Group. The Board oversees the businesses, strategic decisions and performance
of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. The Board also makes decisions on matters relating to
strategies and budgets, financial information, appointment and re-appointment of Directors,
dividend, adoption of accounting policies and other matters of operational significance to the

Company.

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that independent views are available to the
Board, including providing the Directors with sufficient resources to perform their duties, and
Directors shall seek, at the Company's expense, independent professional advice to perform

their responsibilities if necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent non-executive Directors
that represent at least one-third of the Board, such that there is always a strong element of

independence on the Board which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

All the Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, are given equal
opportunity and channels to communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the Group in order to make informed
decisions. The Chairman of the Board will hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the involvement of other Directors at least annually to discuss any issues

and concerns.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms have been duly implemented
and are effective in ensuring that independent views and input are available to the Board

during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board delegates day-to-day management and operations functions of the Company
to Board committees and senior management of the Company with clear directions and
authority framework. The Board will review periodically the delegation given to management

to ensure that they are appropriate and continue to be beneficial to the Group as a whole.

The Board has delegated specific roles and responsibilities to the Company's audit committee,
corporate governance committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee.

Details of these committees are set out on pages 64 to 71 of this report.

Chairman and President

Mr: Lam Chi Fan is the Chairman of the Board. Mr. Lam is responsible for the formulation of

the overall business strategies and business planning of the Group.

Mr. Cheung Tung is the President (equivalent to the role of a chief executive) of the Company.
Mr. Cheung is responsible for the overall management of the day-to-day operations of the

Group.

Mr. Lam Chi Fan is the uncle of Mr. Cheung Tung. However, there is a clear distinction between

the Chairman'’s responsibilities and the President’s responsibilities.
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Independent non-executive Directors

The Company currently has three independent non-executive Directors, representing more
than one-third of the members of the Board, who are persons of high caliber with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
independent non-executive Directors bring a diversified range of expertise and provide checks

and balances of safeguarding the interests of Shareholders and the Group as a whole.

Each of Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from || July 2023, respectively. Dr.
Cheung Wah Keung has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three

years commencing from 16 June 2023.

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung, who has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
during the financial year ended 31 December 2023, has obtained the legal advice referred to
in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 16 June 2023, and he has confirmed he understood his

obligations as a director of the Company.

The Company has received from all independent non-executive Directors their confirmation
of independence in respect of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors have met the

independence guidelines and are independent.

The Board and the Nomination Committee will undertake more rigorous review annually on
the independence of any Director who has served the Board beyond nine years, and in doing
so, the Board will also take into account the need for progressive refreshing of the Board. In
addition, when a director who has served the Board beyond nine years seeks for continued
appointment as an independent director, his/her re-appointment will also be subject to more
stringent Shareholders’ resolutions mechanism in accordance with the requirements under the

Listing Rules.
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Board meetings

The Board meets at least four times a year and a tentative schedule for regular Board meetings
for each year is provided to Directors prior to the beginning of each calendar year. Between
scheduled regular Board meetings, Directors may approve various matters by way of passing
written resolutions. Additional Board meetings may be arranged if required. At least 14 days'
notice of a regular Board meeting shall be given and the Company aims at sending the agenda
and the accompanying board papers to Directors at a reasonable time before the intended

date of a Board meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the Board held four meetings and the Company held one

general meeting.

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open for

inspection by the Directors.

The attendance records of the Directors at the Board meetings and the general meeting held

during the Reporting Period are set out as follows:
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Board meetings General meeting

attended attended
Name of Directors EEHA HEEEEEERY HERRAERY
Executive Directors BITESE
Lam Chi Fan MER 4/4 /1
Cheung Tung IR 4/4 1/l
Chen Feng PR A 4/4 171
Lam Kam Cheung MRt 4/4 1/l
Lam Fei Man MER 414 11
Independent non-executive Directors BRIFRTES
Wong Chi Keung FE® 4/4 1/l
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon* IRER 2/4 11
Zhang Hwo Jie SR 4/4 1/
Wu Tak Lung* e 2/4 11
Cheung Wah Keung** SR FE g *+ 2/4 171
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N Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon and Mr. Wu Tak Lung resigned as the independent non-
executive Directors with effect from 12 June 2023, and 28 June 2023, respectively. Professor
Lam and Mr Wu attended all Board meetings and the general meeting held during the

Reporting Period prior to their resignation.

Rt Dr. Cheung Wah Keung was appointed as the independent non-executive Director with effect
from 16 June 2023. Dr. Cheung attended all Board meetings and the general meeting held

during the Reporting Period subsequent to his appointment.

Accountability and Audit

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the preparation of financial statements
of the Group to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and of the results of its operation and its cashflows. In preparing the
financial statements for the Reporting Period, the Board had prepared the Group's financial
statements on a going-concern basis and in accordance with relevant accounting standards
and regulations. Board members are provided with monthly updates on the Group's financial
position, which give the Directors a clear assessment of the performance, position and

prospect of the Group.

A statement from the external auditor relating to their reporting responsibilities is set out in

the independent auditor's report on pages |37 to 146 of this report.

Continuous training and professional development for Directors

Directors must keep abreast of their responsibilities and duties and are committed to
participate in continuous professional development to develop their knowledge and skills. This

is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company provides regular updates on changes and developments relating to the Group’s
business and the legislative and regulatory environments to the Directors at regular Board
meetings. In addition, the Company also organises briefing sessions to the Directors which
place emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director; as well as the

latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements.
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Individual training record of each Director during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

EEELRHRS

BEENRSPNZEAEINZEDOT

Reading materials

regarding regulatory Attending seminars
updates and corporate and/or conferences
governance matters and/or briefings
RBEMRN
EEEMK HERSE
EEERFEN R/ #H&#E
Name of Directors BEiY g R/ SR
Executive Directors HITES
Lam Chi Fan MEN v v
Cheung Tung TRAR \ v
Chen Feng PR AR v v
Lam Kam Cheung iR v \
Lam Fei Man R v v
Independent non-executive Directors BUFRTER
Wong Chi Keung FTE® \ v
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon* MRE L v v
Zhang Hwo Jie iR \ \
Wu Tak Lung* REge v v
Cheung Wah Keung** SR EE SR \ v
* Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon and Mr. Wu Tak Lung resigned as the independent non- * ME A BIR R RERELE D AIFR2023F6 8

executive Directors with effect from 12 June 2023 and 28 June 2023, respectively.

o Dr. Cheung Wah Keung was appointed as the independent non-executive Director with effect

from 16 June 2023.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has set up four committees, namely, the audit committee, the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the corporate governance committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company. The terms of reference of these committees are

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie and Dr. Cheung Wah Keung. Mr. Wong Chi Keung
is the chairman of the audit committee. He has professional qualifications in accounting and

financial management.

The primary duties of the audit committee include, among other things:

= reviewing and monitoring the external auditor's independence and objectivity;

= recommending to the Board on the re-appointment of the external auditor and
approving its remuneration;

= reviewing the Group's consolidated financial statements, annual reports and interim

reports before submitting them to the Board;

= overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system, internal control and risk management

procedures and audit process;

= reviewing the Group's financial and accounting policies and practices of the Group; and

= meeting with the external auditor to discuss issues regarding audit at least twice a year

in the absence of the management.

During the Reporting Period, the audit committee held four meetings and reviewed and
discussed with the external auditor the interim and annual results of the Group and
the relevant financial reports. It also discussed matters with respect to the Group's risk

management and internal controls and the re-appointment of external auditor:
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A summary of the work of the audit committee during the Reporting Period was as follows:

(@)

reviewed and discussed with the external auditor the annual results for the year ended

31 December 2022 and the interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2023;

discussed and reviewed the risk management system of the Group, reviewed the
internal control review plan for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the interim

financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2023;

reviewed the effectiveness of the Company's internal audit function; and

approved and confirmed the annual audit plan for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The attendance record of each member of the audit committee at the meetings held during

the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

EEELRHRS

RREANNELZEST TERENT

(2)
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FNAIHLEEENEEZEREE
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Meetings attended

Name of members of audit committee BERZEENENRS HEGHERY
Wong Chi Keung FTE® 4/4
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon* e 2/4
Zhang Hwo Jie SR 4/4
Wu Tak Lung* SiEgEr 2/4
Cheung Wah Keung** SR EE SR 2/4
* *

*%

Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon and Mr.Wu Tak Lung ceased to be members of the audit
committee since their resignation as the independent non-executive Directors with effect
from 12 June 2023 and 28 June 2023, respectively. Professor Lam and Mr. Wu attended all

meetings of the audit committee held during the Reporting Period prior to their resignation.

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung was appointed as a member of the audit committee with effect
from 16 June 2023. Dr. Cheung attended all meetings of the audit committee held during the

Reporting Period subsequent to his appointment.

*%

Mt BT R REREE S HI 82023568
2B K%2023F6 28 HHEBUFRNTES
BIBRABLZEEHE -MEBEREA
FHETRAINRSEANRTNNEBRE

BEgH-

REBBLINUDECR IHEZTAER

ZEEHE - RETERETEZERREH
NETHNMEBREESEH-

BEEEBMRAT 203FERS

65



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERHRS

Corporate Governance Committee

The corporate governance committee currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, M Wong Chi Keung, the chairman of the corporate governance committee,

Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie and Dr. Cheung Wah Keung.

The primary duties of the corporate governance committee include, among other things:

= developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the Company on corporate
governance and making recommendations to the Board with regard to any change;

= reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management on corporate governance;

= reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the Company on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements on corporate governance and making

recommendations to the Board with regard to any change;

= developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and corporate governance

manual applicable to Directors and employees; and

- reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the

corporate governance report.
During the Reporting Period, the corporate governance committee held one meeting to

review the Company's corporate governance policies and practices and the compliance with
the CG Code.
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The attendance record of each member of the corporate governance committee at the

meeting held during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

TEELRRS

BREEELRZEENEHERREAANE

72

SENEHHEIWT

Meeting attended

Name of members of corporate governance committee TEERZEERENRS HEEHRRY
Wong Chi Keung FE® 11
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon* I I/
Zhang Hwo Jie R 1/
W Tak Lung* C¥ed I/1
Cheung Wah Keung** SR EE g /1

*%

Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon and Mr. Wu Tak Lung ceased to be members of the
corporate governance committee since their resignation as the independent non-executive
Directors with effect from 12 June 2023 and 28 June 2023, respectively. Professor Lam and Mr.
Wau attended all meetings of the corporate governance committee held during the Reporting

Period prior to their resignation.

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung was appointed as a member of the corporate governance committee
with effect from 16 June 2023. Dr. Cheung attended all meetings of the corporate governance

committee held during the Reporting Period subsequent to his appointment.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee currently consists of one executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee is chaired by Mr Zhang
Hwo Jie, an independent non-executive Director. Other members are Dr. Cheung Wah Keung,
an independent non-executive Director and Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman of the Board and

an executive Director.
The primary duties of the remuneration committee include, among other things:

= studying and making recommendations or proposals to the Board for its review on
the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior
management, the Company's incentive schemes and the establishment of a formal and

transparent procedure for formulating the remuneration policies and incentive schemes;

= determining the remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the

non-executive Directors;

= reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate

objectives approved by the Board from time to time; and

= reviewing and approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the

Listing Rules.
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In order to recognise and acknowledge the contributions of key employees of the Company,
the Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. The Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme enables eligible persons to have a personal stake in the Company and thus motivates

them to optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group.

Details of the Directors and senior management's emoluments for the Reporting Period and
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note || and note 30 to the consolidated

financial statements, respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration committee held two meetings to assess the
performance of the Directors and approve Directors’ and senior management's performance
bonus, after taking into consideration the comparable market practice, competitive market
condition position, individual performance and contributions of the Directors and the Group's

operating results.

The attendance record of each member of the remuneration committee at the meeting held

during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:
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Meeting attended

Name of members of remuneration committee FNEZSemEls HEGHERY
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon* Lo\ v 2
Lam Chi Fan MEN 212
Wu Tak Lung* e 212
Cheung Wah Keung** SR EE g 072
* Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon and Mr Wu Tak Lung ceased to be members of the * M HBUR B RIERE 4 9 B 8202356

remuneration committee since their resignation as the independent non-executive Directors
with effect from 12 June 2023 and 28 June 2023, respectively. Professor Lam and Mr. Wu
attended all meeting of the remuneration committee held during the Reporting Period prior

to their resignation.

hit Dr. Cheung Wah Keung was appointed as a member of the remuneration committee with
effect from 16 June 2023. No meeting of the remuneration committee was held during the

Reporting Period subsequent to his appointment.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee currently comprises four members with the majority of its
members being independent non-executive Directors. The nomination committee is chaired
by Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director. Other members
are Mr.Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie and Dr. Cheung Wah Keung, all being independent

non-executive Directors.
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EXERHRS

The primary duties of the nomination committee include, among other things:

= reviewing the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board and making
recommendations regarding any proposed changes to the Board in line with the

Company's strategies;

= developing and formulating relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of
directors;

- identifying suitable candidates for appointment as directors; and
= assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Company acknowledges and embraces the benefits of diversity among its Board
members. The nomination committee has a policy concerning the diversity of Board
members with measurable objectives. Selection of candidates is based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of service and the legitimate
interests of the principal Shareholders.

Currently, the Board consists of eight members, including five executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors who are of different age, genders and with professional
experience and qualifications in various aspects. Having regard to the composition of the
Board and the measurable objectives, the Company considers that the Board composition is
sufficiently diversified with a balance of gender; skills and experience desirable for the effective
management and sustainable development of the Company. The Board targets to continue
to maintain at least one female representation on the Board. The Company will ensure that
sufficient resources are available for providing appropriate trainings and career development to
develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board and maintain gender diversity.

To achieve diversity at workforce level, the Group has put in place appropriate recruitment
and selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates are considered and ensure that
gender diversity is taken into account when recruiting staff members of mid to senior level.
The Group has also established talent management and training programs to provide career
development guidance and promotion opportunities to develop a broad and diverse pool of
skilled and experienced employees. During the year under review, the Board was not aware
of any mitigating factors or circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across the

workforce (including senior management) more challenging or less relevant.

As at 31 December 2023, the employee headcount of the Group was 2,846, of which 1,400

were male and |,446 were female.
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Nomination Procedures

The Company has a nomination policy for the nomination of Directors. Appointment of new
Directors is first considered by the nomination committee. In considering the appointment of
a Director; the nomination committee applies criteria such as relevant experience, professional
and educational background, reputation for integrity and independence as well as the diversity
in the Board. The recommendation of the nomination committee is then put to the Board for
consideration and approval. Thereafter, any Director appointed by the Board is subject to re-

election by the Shareholders at the general meeting after his/her appointment.

During the Reporting Period, the nomination committee held two meetings to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board. The attendance record of each member of the

nomination committee at the meeting held during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

EEELRHRS
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ZEAIBAHRLEEEER -RNERE
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BERBERR HEBERBIUMUK
EFgI S ER -RRBEG RS
HERESEGERAME- LR KBS
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Meeting attended

Name of members of nomination committee RLZEEHRENRS HEGHERY
Lam Chi Fan MEN 2/2
Wong Chi Keung TE4 22
Lam Sing Kwong, Simon* v v 2
Zhang Hwo Jie** SR 072
Cheung Hwa Keung** SR EE SR 072
& Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon ceased to be a member of the nomination committee since * M A BIE B2023F6A 1 2BHEEIIER

his resignation as the independent non-executive Director with effect from 12 June 2023.
Professor Lam attended all meetings of the nomination committee held during the Reporting

Period prior to his resignation.

hoka Mr Zhang Hwo Jie and Dr. Cheung Wah Keung were appointed as the members of the
nomination committee with effect from 12 June 2023 and 16 June 2023, respectively. No
meeting of the nomination committee was held during the Reporting Period subsequent to

their appointment.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Reporting Period, the fees in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided to

the Group by Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor; are set out as follows:

2% G

RBRSHA BINERBMEIRKES
SHNEBARAEBERMUNEZRIFEZ
BB TR ERHEIWT

Fee

&M

HK$'000

FET

Audit services BIRE 3110

Non-audit services: BT

Reviewing the Company's interim financial information, report on ~ BRA QB PN BER - BHFBHERZEH
continuing connected transactions and review of risk management ¥R &5 R BRI AEBEN R R EERAIBES 5
and internal control of the Group, and conducting financial and BEWESEFEMEERB A EHAE

tax due diligence for potential acquisition 880

3990

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr: Lam Kam Cheung was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 4 March
2014. The biographical details of Mr. Lam is set out in the section headed “Directors and

Senior Management” on page 18 of this report.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Lam took no less than |5 hours of relevant professional

training.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company respects the rights of Shareholders and seeks to facilitate the effective exercise

of those rights by ensuring that the Company communicates effectively with its Shareholders.

The Company promotes effective communication with Shareholders and encourages effective
participation by Shareholders at general meetings of the Company.To ensure a high quality of
communication and level of clarity with all investors and other stakeholders, whilst complying
with its statutory disclosure obligations, the Company endeavours to provide Shareholders
with ready and easy access on a timely basis to matters that affect their investment in the
Company and communicate in a clear, accurate and easy to understand manner with investors
and other stakeholders. Communications with Shareholders are mainly maintained through
the Company's interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars, general meetings and
publications on the Company's website. Shareholders may make enquiries with the Company
through channels mentioned above, and provide comments and recommendations to the
Directors. Upon receipt of enquiries from the Shareholders, the Company will respond as

soon as practicable.

The Chairman of the Board, respective Chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee, or, in their
absence, other members of the respective board committees, will make themselves available at
the annual general meetings to meet Shareholders, answer their enquiries, and to understand

their views.

During the year under review, an annual general meeting of the Company was held on 16
June 2023 at which all the Directors attended either in person or by electronic means to
communicate with the Shareholders. In addition, all corporate communications and regulatory
announcements were published by the Company on its website and the website of the Stock
Exchange in a timely manner: The Board considers that the shareholders communication is

effective during the year under review.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the dividend policy of the Company, in deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account the following

factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

(@)  the Group's overall results of operation, financial condition, expected working capital
requirements and capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position and future

expansions plans;

(b)  the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company;

(c)  the level of the Group's debts to equity ratio, return on equity ratio and the relevant

financial covenant;

(d)  general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's business and other internal
or external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance

and position of the Group;

(e)  the Shareholders' and the investors expectation and industry's norm; and

(f)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board also considers that general meetings of the Company provide an useful forum
for Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Company shall in each year hold a
general meeting as its annual general meeting. All general meetings other than annual general

meeting shall be called extraordinary general meetings (“EGMs").

Members of the audit committee, remuneration committee, corporate governance committee
and nomination committee and the external auditor also attend the annual general meetings
to answer questions from Shareholders. Notice of annual general meetings is sent to all
Shareholders at least 21 days before the annual general meetings and the accompanying
circular also sets out details of each proposed resolution and other relevant information as
required under the Listing Rules. The voting results of annual general meetings and EGMs are
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on the same day of the

annual general meetings and EGMs.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Rights and Procedures for Shareholders to Convene General Meetings

Any two or more members of the Company, at the date of the deposit of a written requisition
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right
of voting at general meetings, shall at all times have the right to require an EGM to be called by

the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

The written requisition must specify the purpose of the meeting, signed by the requisitionists
and deposit it with the company secretary of the Company at the Company's principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Units 2005-2007, Level 20, Tower |, MegaBox Enterprise Square
Five, No. 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the EGM to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene
the EGM, but any EGM shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of

deposit of the requisition.

An EGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner; as nearly

possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Board.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions or requests for information to the Directors or
management through the ‘Contact Us' section in the Company’s website at www.sinomax.com

or in writing or sent by post to the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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Right to put forward proposals at general meetings REERAE LIR2EZAERN

As a matter of Cayman Islands laws, no members nor Shareholders are permitted to propose MHEEEAMES  HREEMAREN

new resolutions at general meetings if the intention to propose the new resolutions is not ERTARGHREAENES J:?E B>
specified in the notice convening the general meeting. However, procedures for proposing MEMENRBEENREASREN AR
candidate(s) for election as Directors at a Shareholder's meeting are set out in the Corporate EELETIE ﬁ?ﬂx%k@iiﬁﬁ%%@%A

Governance section of the Company's website at irsinomax.com. B2 & AN A Bl 481k (irsinomax.com) By 1B
%%/A_
INVESTOR RELATIONS REEME

The Company believes that communicating with its Shareholders, investors and other ARBREBBEFAN FHZHAW)
stakeholders by electronic means, particularly through its website, is an efficient way of BERR REERAMBOHEBRENK
distributing information in a timely and convenient manner. The Company's website at (www. HAERNENEMAAN A AW

sinomax.com/group) provides the following information: (www.sinomax.com/group) iz (L T &
= members of the Board, terms of reference of the Board committees, key corporate - EZgRE - EEZEgREHE-
governance policies and the Company's constitutional documents; FTELEBARBRRAABZEEX
(i
- latest news, announcements, financials including interim and annual reports and all — BHHE A BHEME (BETE
material information submitted to the Stock Exchange; and REERS) UREXBMIMZMA
BEREHR, &
= other information relating to the Group and its business. - FBRREERHEBHNEMER -
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Shareholders can make any query in respect of the Group or to make request for the

Company's financial reports. The designated contact details are as follows:

By post: Sinomax Group Limited

Units 2005-2007, Level 20, Tower |,

MegaBox Enterprise Square Five,

No. 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong
By email: ir@sinomax.com

Shareholders who have any matters relating to change of name or address, transfer of shares
and loss of share certificates, may contact the Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar,

Tricor Investor Services Limited. The contact detalils are as follows:

Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited
|'7/F, Far East Finance Centre
|6 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has a whistleblowing policy to provide employees and those who deal with the
Group to voice concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the chairman or members of the
audit committee about possible improprieties in matters related to the Group. An effective
whistleblowing system can help detect and deter misconduct or malpractice in the Group. The

Group reviews the whistleblowing policy periodically to improve its effectiveness.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-BRIBERY POLICY

The Group has an anti-corruption policy under the Code of Conduct and has adopted an
anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy in February 2022 that supports anti-corruption laws and
regulations, and to promote an anti-corruption culture within the Group. The Group reviews
the policy periodically to ensure that it is operating effectively and consider whether any

changes to the policy are required.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company's constitutional documents during the Reporting Period.

The Board proposes to amend the existing memorandum and articles of association of
the Company (the "Memorandum and Articles”) and to adopt the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company incorporating the amendments
(the “New Memorandum and Articles”) for the purposes of, among others, (i) reflecting and
aligning with the latest requirements in relation to the expanded paperless listing regime and
the electronic dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers and the relevant
amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect from 31 December 2023; and (i)
making other minor amendments to the Memorandum and Articles for corresponding as well
as housekeeping changes. The proposed amendments to the Memorandum and Articles and
the proposed adoption of the New Memorandum and Articles are subject to the approval
of the Shareholders by way of a special resolution at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to be held on 7 June 2024 (the “AGM"). The New Memorandum and
Articles will take effect on the date on which the proposed amendments are approved by the
Shareholders at the AGM.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems. A review of the implemented systems and
procedures, including areas covering financial, operational, legal compliance controls and risk
management functions (including ESG risks), is carried out annually. The risk management and
internal control systems are implemented to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed

and used as a management tool for the day-to-day operation of business.

The Board has, through the audit committee, reviewed and considered the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems to be effective and adequate for the Reporting

Period.

No significant areas of concern that might affect the financial, operational, legal compliance

controls and risk management functions of the Group were identified.
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The Group has established an organisational structure with defined levels of responsibility and
reporting procedures. The Group's internal audit department assists the Board and the audit
committee in the review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal

control systems on an ongoing basis.

The Company has established Enterprise Risk Management Procedures to ensure safeguard of
assets and to identify, evaluate, quantify and manage existing and potential risks. Relevant rules
and regulations are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting records
are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting
requirements, and key risks (including ESG risks) that may impact on the Group's performance

are appropriately identified and addressed.

The internal audit department is responsible for the operation and coordination of enterprise
risk management mechanism, which includes examining, reviewing the effectiveness of risk
management processes and systems, assessing whether risk is properly identified, assessing
significant risk reporting, and reviewing significant risk management. The internal audit
department provides risk management and internal control assessment reports to the
management on a regular or ad hoc basis. The internal audit department also regularly reviews
and reports to the audit committee and the Board on risk management and internal control

affairs. The Group will appoint external internal control consultant when necessary.

The task group on risk management is responsible for establishing the risk management
register and defining responsibilities, procedures and system of risk management, formulating
the annual risk management work plan, carrying out risk assessment, proposing the risk
management strategy, assisting the relevant departments and the enterprises in significant risk
management. It also prepares risk management performance appraisal program and conducts

annual performance appraisal and arranges risk management training.

The departmental management executes risk management strategies, solutions and crisis
management plans for significant risks, dynamically monitor significant risk associated indicators
and executes the procedures and policies of the risk management and internal controls of the

Group.

In addition to the review of risk management and internal controls undertaken within the
Group, the external auditor also assesses the effectiveness of certain key risks and internal

controls as part of their statutory audits.
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To help ensure all risks which are relevant to the Group are considered, a systematic approach
to risk identification is followed. Identifiable risk areas which are considered include:
maintaining a safe work environment for the Group's employees;
safeguarding and efficient use of assets;
management of human resources;
ensuring the Group complies with legal and regulatory obligations;
achieving established objectives and goals;

reliability and integrity of financial and operational information; and

compliance with internal policies and procedures.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside

information, the Group:

(i) is aware of the obligations under the SFO, the applicable Listing Rules and other
statutory regulations with regard to the timely and proper disclosure of inside
information, announcements and financial disclosures and authorises their publication as

required;

(i) has adopted and implemented its Inside Information Disclosure Policy; and

(il has in place a Code for Securities Dealing for governing the securities transactions
of those employees who, because of their positions, are likely to have access to

confidential or inside information.
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ABOUT US

Company profile

Sinomax Group Limited (“Sinomax” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
"Group") (Stock Code: 1418) is principally engaged in the development, manufacture and sales
of visco-elastic health and wellness products. Since 2001, Sinomax's dedication to adhering to
its belief, “Love Supports Beloved”, has driven it to continuous developing products ranging
from viscoelastic pillows, mattress toppers and mattresses to polyurethane foam, which has
consequently led to the Group's success of being listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“SEHK") in July 2014.To secure its leading market position, the Group has constantly
researched, designed, developed and produced high-quality health and wellness products
through engaging customers, steering innovation and ensuring high quality standards, in hope of

raising awareness of healthy-living and fulfilling households everchanging needs.
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RIS ERERHRS

Corporate vision, mission and core values

With our strong research and development capabilities, we seek to create innovative and
excellent health and wellness products to achieve our objective of being the global leader in
the health-living industry. We communicate with our consumers on a regular basis to better
understand their needs and to promote healthy living and community well-being. Supporting

our vision, our core values are:
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Integrity 315

Be trustworthy and transparent to
our stakeholders
RAEAFHECHESEHR
MZEAHN AT

Win-win 35

Be caring for the environment

and community within

business operations
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Reporting standards, period and scope

This report was prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") Reporting Guide (the “Reporting Guide”) in Appendix C2 of the Rules (the “Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "HKEX"). More in-depth information regarding corporate governance is addressed in the
section of the corporate governance report in the annual report according to Appendix C| of

the Listing Rules.

In order to comply with the disclosure obligations of “comply or explain” provisions set
out in Reporting Guide, this ESG Report (“ESG Report”) has outlined the overall Group's
performance in environmental protection, human resources, operating practice and community
involvement during the Reporting Year. The Guide for the ESG Report from page 128 to 136 is

provided for the cross-referencing purpose.

This ESG Report covers the ESG performance of the Group's Hong Kong headquarters,
Shenzhen office, and factories in Guangdong, Zhejiang and Shandong Provinces, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") from | January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting
Year"). The Group shall continuously improve its data collection system and seek possibilities
of including existing premises located in the United States and Vietnam in the report in the

future, in order to increase the comprehensiveness of ESG performance and disclosure.
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R ERERHRS

Reporting principles

We have followed the reporting principles set out in the Listing Rules in the preparation of the

ESG report.

. Materiality: To identify any material ESG issues to Sinomax's business operations, the
Group invited its key stakeholders including employees, suppliers and customers to
rate the importance of relevant ESG topics. The Board of Directors (the “Board”)
and senior management have reviewed the material topics to ensure the topics in this
report have addressed stakeholders’ views. The application of materiality is detailed in

the section “Materiality Assessment” in this ESG report.

. Quantitative: To evaluate and review the effectiveness of ESG policies and management
approaches, we have reported our ESG performance quantitatively with clear narration
to explain the impacts. The Group has developed environmental targets to reduce

impacts.

. Balance: This ESG Report is prepared on a fair and unbiased basis. The Group fully
disclosed the material key performance indicators regardless of whether performance

has improved or declined in line with the principle.

0 Consistency: The Group is consistently following the disclosure requirements and
calculation methodologies of the Listing Rules, and to ensure data is comparable year-

on-year.
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Contact details

To continuously refine the Group's sustainability strategy, we welcome any feedback concerning
this report and the Group's sustainability performance. If you have any questions regarding the

report, please contact the Group and its contact details are set out below:

Address: Sinomax Group Limited
Units 2005-2007,
Level 20 Tower |,
MegaBox,
Enterprise Square Five,
38 Wang Chiu Road,

Kowloon Bay,
Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2754 7798
E-mail: in@sinomax.com
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

Dear stakeholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Sinomax Group Limited, | am pleased to present the
Group's 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report, which describes our
effort in sustainability throughout the year. In facing the challenges of the year, we did not delay
the search for opportunities and took the initiative to promote the company’s fundamental

values of integrity, teamwork, innovation and win-win.

With the subsidence of the impact of COVID-19 pandemic, the society has started to return
to normality. In our pursuit of a sustainable recovery, we sought to advance our governance
of potential risks and opportunities related to ESG issues. The Group has worked closely with
the ESG Task Force to manage all ESG-related matters and report to the Board regarding ESG
performances and future recommendations timely. The ESG Task Force led the formulation
of the Group's climate change resilience system which seeks to identify and mitigate risks
from climate change. The Group recognises the materiality of climate change impacts and

endeavours to respond to China's 2060 carbon neutrality commitment.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my gratitude to the management team
and staff for their efforts and contributions to the company's long-term viability in face of
the pandemic. We shall continue to pursue a recovery trajectory with sustainability at the

forefront.

LAM Chi Fan

Chairman

22 March 2024
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BOARD STATEMENT ABOUT ESG GOVERNANCE

The Group closely monitors its business development plan in response to the changing
economic environment, An ESG Task Force has been established to manage the Group's
ESG-related matters, the ESG Task Force members are comprised of the management
of the Group. The Board approves the Group's ESG-related goals and targets on a yearly
basis based on the forward-looking recommendations provided by the ESG Task Force. The
Board has an overall responsibility for the oversight and decision-making of the Group's ESG
matters. Under the leadership of the Board, relevant departments and business units play an
important role to ensure the smooth practice of ESG, from policy development to action plan
implementation. The integrative management framework also enables the Group to identify
risks and opportunities, which helps to enhance the Group's ESG risk management. To fulfi
our environmental responsibility, we put our green and sustainable development philosophy
into action by implementing an ISO14001:2015 certified Environmental Management System
to ensure energy efficiency, proper waste management, and compliance with relevant laws and

regulations in our operations.

Governance structure

ESG Task Force
ESGT {E/IMH
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The Board is responsible for the overall decision-making, oversees the
formulation, administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

EFTREL2HEARAR HEEESCRANGIE BB kT he

The ESG Task Force is responsible for assisting the Board in managing
and monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis.

ESGIE VB EH SR EE e BB MERSGER °

Functional department is responsible for the execution of implemented
measures to achieve the set strategies and targets.
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Stakeholder engagement

Effective communication with stakeholders is critical on the route to sustainable growth as it
allows the Group to better understand the expectations of its stakeholders. The Group has
created numerous contact channels to listen to stakeholders' views in this respect. Throughout
the Reporting Year, Sinomax has engaged different stakeholder groups via the communication

channels as below:

Stakeholder Group & Communication channels

&R R EERE

FHnE2H
BRENEBNEBMBEBRIUFELER
MBRNERES CAEEBUEHRT

BENENHE -FEEEBRBUTAEE

RE UBBRSEMHEMETENREER

HEERSEET BEHEBBUTEER
BARMERFNEESE

HKEX
BB G
* Meetings * Site visits
g3 B ER
* Training * Inspection and
3l interview
* Workshops ERHH Employees
e 8T
* Website updates and announcements * Staff orientation
BB R AE 8T ABE
* Interview and performance
Social media apPraisals .
sy e mA AW
e * Seminars and workshops
s oe g b
« Newsletter * Staff activities
HA T BITEH
* ESG survey
Community ESGRE
#HE
+ Charitable activities Customers
BEEY &R
* Public consultation + E-shop
ARHH WLEE

Shareholders and investors Suppliers

Customer service hotline
and e-malil

P RBHGANEF M
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RENREE AR + Mobile application

* Shareholder meetings * Site visits FERRER
BERE BHMER * Facebook

* Financial reports, announcements and circulars * Direct communication * Instagram
MBERE AEMNER BEBEE * Retail stores

» Company website * ESG survey BEFE
NSk b ESGR % * ESG survey

+ Company enquiry e-mail and phone number * Feedback and ESGRI%
REEHEFBHME improvement plan

+ Site visits f B8 e B BT E)
BHER
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Materiality assessment

Adhering to the reporting principle of Materiality, the Group carried out several stakeholder
surveys for the Reporting Year and invited its key stakeholder groups such as employees,
suppliers and customers to complete the surveys and rate the importance of the ESG issues
to the Group's long-term development. Based on the survey results, a materiality matrix was

created to identify the material ESG topics for the Group.

Materiality Matrix
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AEERATEEN RERA RBEEF
EETBRENEBDERE UBFHEE
2HRRFERE BN : BT HEBNER)
SRS SHE R AESCEEN A LB RE
HRNEZM -REBEER 2EEHE
BEMBER NEEHAEEBERMNESG
EAR

High

ERMEME
High
=

- o ¢
S S Eq
e 0o® ©
~ g Ok
sds
2R °© o
Q
D2 e o ©
5§ & [
34k o
3 =

L(}g Level of Significance of the Group’s Business on Economic Environmental and Social Impacts

@ Environmental @ Social
-2 e

Environmental

R

FEBEBHQE BRERMECENEENEE

Social

e

Emission

23 €Y

GHG Emission
BERASHER

Hazardous Waste

BEEERY

Non-hazardous Waste

BEBERY

Energy Consumption

AETRHFE

Water Consumption

¥k

Natural Resources

RRER

Climate Change
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. Supply Chain Management
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DELIVERING HEALTH AND WELLNESS PRODUCTS
Quality assurance
Developing with innovation

Sinomax is dedicated to providing high-quality health and wellness products through
innovation in order to become a global leader in the health-living industry. With excellent
research and development (“"R&D") skills, the Group is constantly improving existing materials
and products while also creating new ones to provide a diverse product range that caters to
varied customer demands. Driven by our enthusiasm for innovation, as of the conclusion of the
Reporting Year, we had generated and registered over 90 distinctive product design patents.
As part of the Group’s assets, we hold product design patents and intellectual property (“IP")
rights in high respect. As part of our commitment to IP protection, we incorporate applicable

clauses and terms into contracts with our suppliers and partners to safeguard each party.

Sinomax’'s commitment to intellectual property (IP) protection is evident through its
acquisition of the enterprise intellectual property management certification (GB/T29490-
2013). This certification demonstrates the Company's dedication to effectively managing and

safeguarding its intellectual property assets.
By obtaining this certification, Sinomax showcases its adherence to recognized standards and

best practices in IP management. It signifies that the company has implemented robust systems

and processes to protect its intellectual property rights.

Sustainable procurement

Apart from innovation, raw materials and suppliers are also crucial factors in delivering
premium products. In this regard, the Group dedicates effort to managing its suppliers to

create a sustainable value chain.
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We use a strict procurement process to choose and manage our suppliers and raw materials
in order to supply safe and healthy products to our clients. Therefore, we have a strong
criterion for procuring non-hazardous, organic, and environmentally friendly raw materials.
During the selection process, we prioritise recyclable and natural materials with low volatile
organic compounds (“VOC") and certification standards such as CertiPUR-US certification
and UKBS5852 standard. Also, since 2019, we have been a member of the Sustainable
Procurement Charter, recognised by the United Nations One Planet network. As a member;
we are committed to implementing sustainable procurement procedures with reference to
1SO 20400.
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CertiPUR-US certification
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UK BS5852 standard
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Low volatile organic compounds (VOC)
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Oeko-Tex Standard 100
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Canada |17 standard

MEKXI71E%

Chlorofluorocarbons (CFC)
BRAIE(CFC)

Sustainable Procurement Charter
AFERBHNE

To embed sustainability into the Group's
procurement process and practice, Sinomax has
been a member of the Sustainable Procurement
Charter since 2019.
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The Group also places high emphasis on supplier chain risk management. All potential
suppliers are required to undergo a comprehensive assessment of their product quality,
price, timeliness and ESG performance. We consider their business ethics, environmental
performance and labour practices through site visits and document screening in order to
minimise ESG risk in our supply chain. If the potential suppliers fail in the assessment, we will
provide them feedback to enhance their sustainability performance and engage them to be re-

assessed in the following year.

The Group also conducts regular inspections and assessments of its existing suppliers to
ensure product quality and performance consistency. To encourage greater sustainability
performance of suppliers, higher volume order is rewarded to existing suppliers with
prominent assessment performance, where possible. For suppliers who underperform in the
assessment, they are notified, and an improvement plan is proposed. If they fail to improve

within the proposed timeframe, they will be removed from the qualified supplier list.

To further minimise the environmental impacts presented in the supply chain, the Group
prioritises the sourcing of locally manufactured materials and local suppliers to avoid
greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions released during the transportation of materials.

Throughout the Reporting Year, 98% of the suppliers were from the PRC.

Local

Aith

Number of suppliers

(e B 477
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Stringent manufacturing process

Apart from raw material quality, Sinomax's key strategy for securing customers’ trust and
market share is to ensure the quality and condition of the final products. The Group has
established a quality management system and received the worldwide accreditation ISO
9001:2015 as a result of this dedication. The Group has formed a quality assurance team
of more than 80 professionals to monitor and guarantee that operations follow the quality
management system's standard operating procedure. The Group was not involved in any
case of non-compliance with product quality and safety laws and regulations throughout the
Reporting Year.

Prior to delivery, the quality assurance team conducts spot checks on product quality for
environmental, health, and safety performance, including VOC content and fire resistance
ability. To verify that the goods meet safety regulations, they are evaluated in an ISO/IEC
17025:2017-certified laboratory and testing centre. In addition to product safety, the quality
assurance team examines defective items in order to develop improvements and preventive
actions to reduce defect rates and resource waste. There were no product recalls due to
health and safety concerns during the Reporting Year.

R&D
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Conduct professional research and development
EITE R
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Accredited Laboratory
SHTRRE
Our testing centre in Guangdong has been accredited to comply with the ISO/IEC 17025:2017 General
Requirements for the Competence of Testing and Calibration Laboratories by China National Accreditation

Service for Conformity Assessment.
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Connecting with our customers

The Group recognises the importance of customer interaction and connection in order to
understand their requirements and expectations as it strives to create customer-oriented
products with innovation. The Group has built several consumer communication and

interaction channels in this respect. During the Reporting Year, the Group invited artists to

share tips for improving sleep quality on social media.
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Communication and interaction with customer through social network

BRENEREAERETERLY

[————
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Sinomax constantly communicates the latest health-related news and updates with its clients
via its retail stores, e-shop, and mobile apps in order to improve their well-being. Customers

can use those channels to submit product reviews or comments in addition to receiving the

most up-to-date information. Customers’ opinions are welcomed and valued by the Group.

The Group uses the following complaint processing mechanism to ensure a systematic

complaint handling approach. During the Reporting Year, the Group received 124 complaints.

The customer service team has resolved all complaints with care and responsive measures.

—

BAEAEHEBRTERE RENFHER
RARZRAZRMBEERNESE U
IRERTPRE -RTREEMERIN B
FRARRELEREERHERNERN
e AEERDTERERNMBRR
AEERBUTRTEEH S > 7RI
BURMERE -RRSFER ~EEE
BIARRGF -FRREEBREEBENDR
R IEFT B K o

BEEEBMRAT 203FERS

95



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS ERERHRS

COMPLAINT
PROCESSING

Customer Service Department shall follow the
customer compliant handling policy's procedures to
handle customers' complaints

R RBEEBEE P RFEEERNEZRR
REEEE R R

Search for the order's relevant details and report to
the corresponding departments such as sales and

The responsible department is expected to
communicate and resolve the issue in an effective
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manner and in a way that satisfies the customers
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The department shall generate a report which
consists of the cause, measures, duration and solution
for both parties' records

ZEBPIREIR S — 1 BLIERE A ~ HE I SRR
MER S ZRREHE S Fix

Filed cases may be selected as training materials to
educate staff members to prevent similar incidents
from occurring again
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In testament to Sinomax’s continuous commitment to
elevating consumer care throughout its business, the Group
was awarded with the “Consumer Caring Companies” for
more than 5 consecutive years.
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Customer privacy and data protection

As a reliable and trustworthy company, Sinomax is committed to protecting its customers’
privacy. The Group has formulated its information management guidelines in the “Corporate
Culture Handbook” with reference to the “Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance”. All staff
members are required to follow the guidelines when handling customers’ personal information.
In order to prevent information breaches, the Group has appointed an external information
technology auditor to check the security system and measures of the e-shop. During the
Reporting Year, the Group did not encounter any case of non-compliance regarding privacy-

related laws and regulations.

Coronavirus disease (“COVID-19") measures

The Group paid heed to the recommendations of the Hong Kong government in maintaining
strict social distancing measures. In response to the risks presented by the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group has launched the “60 Days Satisfaction Guarantee Campaign”, offering
customers a one-time exchange within 60 days from the date of delivery upon the purchase
of certain mattress models. Under the Campaign, customers may try the mattress at home,

limiting face-to-face contact to deter the spread of the virus.

BRI ERELRS

FR—RARZNEGEBENAR BHER
NREZRNALR - ZEBESZ(BEAE
B (FLER) R4 ) » FE (R ESEFM) R HIE
—EENEEESD EXFAAEE L ERE
ERBABHE By RBTZIES A
EERINR FEBEZEINBERARK
E5HH BREMENRZRAMNE RS
FER AEBILESETERENDEE
BBV ERREREM o

AR NGB IR

AEEEREBHGNRER BRAEFL
32 BB B HE I o 7% FE R T D S B A AR BY
Rk AEEEL T T e0R B0 RG]
ERAUEBEREERBESRER WEH
EF0HRNER —REMRBR 51 &
B BRI UERPEHAKRRE HLOEH
HREME LR ERE-

BEEEBMRAT 203FERS

97



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE- g RELRS

Sinomax places a high priority on ensuring our client's safety. We have launched bedding goods

with unique anti-microbial coating technology to help battle the epidemic. The technology
which has been certified by the US Food and Drug Administration (“US FDA") and Japan’s
Society of International Sustaining Growth for Antimicrobial Articles (“SIAA™), is able to

efficiently destroy more than 97 percent of germs, including E. coli.
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PROMOTING WELL-BEING INSIDE OUT

Recognising employees as the key to continuous business development, Sinomax strives to

provide a fair, healthy and harmonious workplace for our employees to thrive in.

Corporate governance

Maintaining high standards of company ethics and integrity requires sound corporate
governance. To maintain ethical business activities, we had an anti-corruption policy under the
Code of Conduct and established a strict anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy. To ensure that all
employees understand the standards, they must sign and follow the Letter of Commitment to
Honest and Clean Business Practice. During the Reporting Year, 6 sessions of anti-corruption
and anti-bribery training or materials were provided to the Board and employees. The topics
of the training sessions or materials include the Group's policies on anti-corruption, anti-
bribery, and disclosure and handling of conflicts of interest.

The Group has established whistle-blowing channels to allow stakeholders to report any
suspected unethical activities. This demonstrates the Group's commitment to maintaining high

ethical standards and fostering a transparent and accountable business environment.

The whistle-blowing policy enables stakeholders to report suspected unethical activities
through mail, email or telephone, ensuring accessibility and convenience for individuals coming
forward with their concerns.

Upon receiving a report, the audit committee is responsible for conducting a thorough
and timely investigation. This showcases the Group's dedication to addressing allegations of

misconduct promptly and ensuring a fair process.

If the investigation substantiates the allegation, the policy states that the audit committee
will take appropriate disciplinary action. This highlights the Group’s commitment to holding
individuals accountable for their actions and reinforcing the importance of ethical behavior
within the Group.

Overall, the Group's whistle-blowing policy and procedures demonstrate a structured
and responsible approach to handling suspected unethical activities. By fostering a culture
of transparency and accountability, the Group proactively maintains an ethical business

environment.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not encounter any case of non-compliance regarding

all relevant laws and regulations relating to corruption.
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Being a responsible employer
Labour standard

We pledge to provide a fair working environment that values diversity and inclusion, as well as
job candidates” and workers' basic rights. To establish a diverse workforce, we strongly support
equal opportunity. Discrimination of any kind is not tolerated. Regardless of race, ethnicity,

gender, or other social considerations, every employee is treated equally.

To uphold labour standards, the HR department is in charge of screening all candidates'
personal information in order to prevent unlawful or unethical labour practices including child
labour and forced labour. The employment of forced and child labour is strictly prohibited.
If management discovers there is any employment of forced or child labour, we will take
disciplinary actions for staff accepting forced/child labour; including immediate termination of
the employment concerned. If forced labour is detected, the Group will also compensate the
forced employee appropriately, if child labour is uncovered, the Group will offer individuals

with education opportunities.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not encounter any case of non-compliance regarding

all laws and regulations in relation to employment and labour standards.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group strives to create a fair and impartial working environment where all employees
are treated equally and respectfully. Any kind of discrimination or harassment based on the
employee’s gender; age, marital status, race, sexual orientation and religion at our workplace
is strongly prohibited. Through the enforcement of the policy prohibiting discrimination
and harassment, the Group strives to create a workplace free of bullying belittling and
sexual harassment. Employees are entitled to equal opportunity in terms of treatment
and promotion. All employees are assessed and remunerated based on their skills and
competencies irrespective of their race, religion, gender, age and disability. During the
recruitment process, we only focus on the capability and attitude of the interviewee, thus

people with disabilities are also welcome to be part of our Group.
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Retaining and attracting talents

Employees are regarded as one of the Group's most significant assets. Our employees’
commitment has been the foundation of our success and the foundation for future growth. As
a result, the Group places high value on attracting and maintaining talents. The Group provides
competitive remuneration packages that are assessed on a regular basis in light of market

conditions, as well as advantages such as a discount on wellness goods for its employees.

Number of employees as at the end of the Reporting Year

REFEREEAH

BRI ERELRS

BERR5IAL

FEEREEAHRREEEEZ 8T
MHESRMAEFTRINER H2REK
HRNEZXF -HIt *&EESEERK
SINBBAS AEBEREARE N
B TEERSENHERETHGE
TAERFANETRERT ANHREE
BT o

By Gender By Age Group
LR R ER AR

Male 925 30 or Below
B 30BE AT
Female 1,050 31 -50
7 315%-505%
51 or Above
S51EREMU £

212

1,305

458

By Geographical Location By Employment Type
BE REMRER

Hong Kong 108 Full Time
B5H EX
The PRC 1,867 Part Time
F e

1,936

39
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Turnover rate as at the end of the Reporting Year
REFERABRKE

By Gender By Age Group
B1ER BERER
Male 18% 30 or Below 46%
Bt 30REEMU T
Female 18% 31 -50 16%
©i 315%-505%
51 or Above 9%
51U E
By Geographical Location By Employment Type
& BEEEE
Hong Kong 17% Full Time 18%
BE EX
The PRC 18% Part Time 5%
B TR
Continuous training and development BB RER

We are of the view that an effective training approach could help individuals reach their
greatest potential, and we are committed to helping our employees grow professionally. To
help newcomers and experienced employees advance in their careers, the HR Department
offers induction training and customised training. The HR Department reviews the training
plan on a regular basis to ensure that it corresponds with changes in the company in order to

better satisfy employees’ needs.
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Percentage of the employee trained for the Reporting Year

BREFEEZIMEEMLE

By Gender
iR

Male 52% Management 1%
=i EEE
o Senior Staff 3%
;egale 48% wEET
Junior Staff 96%
\_ — AR AR )

Average training hours per employee for the Reporting Year

REFESRHESRITHRY

By Gender
iR

Male 17 Management 46
B EEE
Female 13 Senior Staff 26
ZiE RIRAR A
Junior Staff 14
— AR AR
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P

.‘-,‘.".-W S
Fire Safety Training

P

Safeguarding employees’ health

The Group's main focus is always the health and safety of its employees. As a result, we
implement an occupational health and safety management system that is aligned with
ISO 45001: 2018 standards. The Group has implemented corresponding safety rules and
procedures based on international standards for employees to thrive in a safe working

environment.

Employees working in the memory foam factory are exposed to toxic materials during the
manufacturing process. Employees are obliged to wear personal protection equipment such
as helmets and masks in specific sections of the factory to reduce chemical exposure. To
guarantee that on-site operations meet the Group's safety standards, the safety manager will
conduct regular inspections and maintenance of manufacturing facilities and hazardous material

storage.

Along with on-site safety measures, the Group strives to increase its employees’ safety
awareness. Employees are given incident drills and safety training to improve their awareness of

safe operations and emergency response protocols.
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In the event of a work-related injury, the site manager must notify the Administration
Department, which will assign the appropriate department(s) to investigate the occurrence
and offer corrective and preventive measures within two working days. Following the
investigation, the injured employees will be given appropriate compensation based on the

degree of the harm.

Under the holistic safety management system, the Group did not encounter any case of non-
compliance regarding occupational safety laws and regulations during the Reporting Year. As
a result of the Group’s effort towards creating a safe workplace, there were no work-related
fatality cases over the past three reporting years. During the Reporting Year, the lost days due

to work injury were 1,555 days, while the number of injury cases was 53.
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Company culture A‘XIE

We seek to build an engaging and supportive business culture by advocating for a pleasant BMBHEERFREBNRABXIE 8
working environment. We provide leisure amenities for our staff on the premise, such as a BNENIFRE - RMAEIMAETR
library and recreational centre in Guangdong, a fitness room in Jiashan, and basketball courts AR NERNESE KRR O
in Zhejiang. Sinomax is a signatory to the Labour Department’s Good Employer Charter, EENREERMINEN G AEEE
demonstrating our commitment to being a people-centric company. BHRAUABRINEEZ R £&E
EREFIEN(FEINE)

| : | Table Tennis Competition
-Autumn Festiyal Activities . E-iﬂzttg
R E g

Mid
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SHAPING A HEALTHY ENVIRONMENT

Environmental management

As a responsible wellness product manufacturer, Sinomax is devoted to mitigating its
environmental footprint throughout its operation. In light of this, we implement an
ISO14001:2015 certified environmental management system to control and monitor impacts
from our operations including energy consumption, air emissions, water usage, resources use
and waste management. We also adopt an ISO50001:2018 certified energy management
system to incorporate energy-saving measures into daily operations and increase long-term
operational efficiency through on-site energy generation and renewable energy purchase.
The Group has obtained the Wastewi$e Certificate from Hong Kong Green Organisation
Certification, which recognises our effort in reducing waste generation and energy
consumption.

An independent certification organisation is hired to conduct annual site inspections to check
that the standards are being followed. In addition, we engage a third-party specialist to evaluate
the wastewater released, as well as the air and noise emissions generated, to guarantee that
our operations comply with relevant standards. The Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the PRC has approved the Zhejiang site as a green factory in honour of our
environmental performance. In order to continually improve our environmental performance,
we will conduct energy or carbon audits at least once a year to maintain high energy efficiency
in offices.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not encounter any case of non-compliance regarding

environmental laws and regulations.
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Green Factory recognized by the PRC’s Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
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Energy consumption and GHG emissions

Sinomax is aware of that climate change is a growing critical issue for all corporates. Aligning

with the PRC government's pledge to carbon neutrality by 2060, the Group aims to

monitor and control its energy consumption and associated GHG emissions. Based on the

environmental management system framework, the Group has developed a number of energy

efficient and low carbon mitigating measures.

Details of energy consumption are as follows:

Energy consumption'

BETRIHAE
Direct energy consumption EEEREE
Diesel

]

Petrol
P

Natural gas

AR

Solar energy

K5 5E
Indirect energy consumption fE3E8E IR H %

Electricity

BN

Total 485t

Total energy consumption

REIRABFER

Energy consumption intensity

RETRHERE

Unit
B

MWhIK F B

MWhIK F B

MWhIK F B

MWhIK F B

MWhJK FLBS

MWhIK F B

MWh/M’
revenue
KRB
BEKA

The data on energy consumption for the Reporting Year are disclosed in accordance with

“Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs" issued by the Stock Exchange to

display the more comprehensive performance of the Group.
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B E20235F HE2008F
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Details of GHG emissions are as follows: BERBHRGEBINT :
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
GHG emissions Unit 20235 HE20224
AERBEHR Bl 12A31BLEFE 12A31HLEFE
tonnes
of CO2
equivalent
822
@ (tCO2-e)
M8 — E 1K
=}
HE
tCO2-e
= of 4,498
EE
tCOr-e
W= E 1L R 5,320
[ =}
HE
tCO2-e/M’
@ Revenue
ﬁ«w WA S 1L .69
Uoo EEEHE
WA
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In an effort to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions, we are actively participating
in renewable energy integration. In our Guangdong and Zhejiang premises, a total of 2,859
MWh of energy was generated by photovoltaic panels installed on factory roof-tops during
the Reporting Year. The clean energy source has prevented 1,631 tonnes of GHG emissions
from being released through conventional power plants. The Group will organise workshops,
exhibitions or campaigns under the theme of climate change to raise employees’ awareness in

order to reduce energy consumption in daily operations.

During the Reporting Year, the GHG emissions intensity increased by 34% compared to
the previous reporting year. This increase can be attributed to the gradual recovery from
the pandemic, resufting in the Group resuming full operations. As a result, there was a
substantial rise in the Group's sales, leading to increased consumption of electricity, natural
gas, and diesel for production and logistics purposes during the Reporting Year: To uphold the
principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed to reducing or maintaining the
GHG emissions intensity between 90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended 31
December 2023 in the next reporting vear

Besides, the Group's energy consumption intensity has increased by 32% when compared
to the previous reporting year due to the above-mentioned reason. To uphold the principles
of sustainable development, the Group is committed to reducing or maintaining the energy
consumption intensity between 90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended 3|

December 2023 in the next reporting year
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Air quality

As a visco-elastic wellness product manufacturer, Sinomax understands the negative impacts
of air pollutants such as dichloromethane, toluene and carbon tetroxide generated from the

production process. We are spending ceaseless effort to mitigate the problem.

We have constructed multiple spray towers at the exhaust outlets to reduce the release of
at least 80% of certain air pollutants into the environment as part of our efforts to reduce air
pollution. In addition, to control the emission of gaseous pollutants, we have installed activated
carbon adsorption devices and VOC removal equipment at our Guangdong and Shandong
premises, respectively. Furthermore, to reduce air pollution, our manufacturing units have
increased the use of cleaner fuels such as natural gas and solar energy. We undertake on-site
air quality assessments at least once a year to manage and track operational compliance and
keep air pollutant emission levels far below the limit. During the Reporting Year, the Group
did not encounter any case of non-compliance regarding air pollutant emissions laws and

regulations.
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During the Group's daily operations, vehicle usage and the use of natural gas are the major
sources that generate air pollutants. During the Reporting Year, the air emissions data is as

follows:

I

o|0|0

Air Pollutant Emissions Indicator

ZERISRMEFBIER

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions (kg)

ASEYNOYHERE (AFF)

Sulphur oxides (SOx) emissions (kg)
mREEYco R E (AF)

Particulate Matter (PM) emissions (kg)

BERYIPM B E (AF)

During the Reporting Year, the Group experienced increases in NOx, SOx, and PM emissions
of approximately 17%, 7%, and 24%, respectively. It is worth noting that the Group successfully
achieved the targets for NOx and SOx emissions. These increases in emissions can be
attributed to the gradual recovery from the pandemic, which led to the Group resuming
full operations. Consequently, there was a rise in sales, resulting in increased consumption of
natural gas and diesel for production and logistics purposes throughout the Reporting Year.
To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed to reducing
or maintaining the vehicle air pollutant emissions between 90% to 120% of the level of the

baseline year ended 31 December 2023 in the next reporting year.

112 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report

AFEENHEEER EWEAKRKRA
RERRELEERSAYNEIERR K
REFEE BERIEREBNOT

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2023 2022
HE20235F HE202025
NRA3IBLLEEE RA3IBLLEEE
3,902 3,343

5 5

376 303

REFERN AEENGELCY MEt
MK BRI BEE D RIIEINA 7% 7%
4% - BERAIRNE  AEERNERAER
EMRRECNERER -HEREB ML
MAEREERRERESEHR AER
MEL@mEZ At HEBEFRER &
NEBREFERBREERYANEIAR
REHBEEEMN ARFURFEZEN
RAD TMEARSFE  AEERONEAE
ERSEMIEREREREFETEHE2023E
B3I HIEEEEEKFERIONEI20%Z
F'Eﬁ"



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Water & wastewater management

The chemical mixing manufacturing process is Sinomax's primary source of water usage.
Despite not having any difficulties obtaining water, the Group places a high value on water
conservation in light of the global concern over water shortage. During the Reporting
Year, the water consumption intensity remained at a similar level when compared to the
previous reporting year. This indicates that the Group was able to achieve the target set in
the last reporting year Maintaining a consistent water consumption intensity level suggests
that the Group successfully implemented water conservation measures or other initiatives
to manage and optimize its water usage. This is a positive outcome, as it demonstrates the
Group's commitment to sustainable water management practices. To uphold the principles
of sustainable development, the Group is committed to reducing or maintaining the water
consumption intensity between 90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended 31

December 2023 in the next reporting year

With this goal in mind, we have introduced several water-saving projects and water-saving

measures.

BRI ERELRS

RKREKER
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Reuse water at spray towers

BEERABEBETRHK

Conduct daily maintenance to prevent
water pipe leakage

HEAT B R AR LK ERR

Turn off water appliances when not in use
and avoid running taps

ETEARRBEAKRA  WRBKEESERK

Keep track of water usage pattern to identify
any abnormality
BEREAKEAUBREAREER

Prioritise the use of recycled water, rainwater or
groundwater where possible

FARELERERK - FASRHT K

Affix educational posters on bulletin board
to convey water-saving messages to staff

ERERERAFHEN LEEER  UEETEEHKES

Encourage employees to bring their own bottle,
instead of bottled water
SEE T B AR - BRIREEA
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Water consumption

FEIK

Water consumption

FEKE

Water consumption intensity

EkEE

As the chemical mixing process inevitably generates wastewater with chemicals, Sinomax
implements guidelines and various measures to handle and manage the wastewater discharge

with an aim to minimise the adverse impacts of the effluent discharges:
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Year ended

31 December

Year ended

31 December

2023 2022
Unit HE20238F HE20025
B RA3IHILEEE RA3IHILEEE
m3
e 113,296 99,259
IFHK
m?/M’revenue
LBk 31.39 31.49
BEBA

HREREGBEFATEENEELSE
EEMENEK BEBREESHNE
REmREENEER KR USER
DB AR E

Properly connect designated drainage collecting wastewater pipes from spray
tower and sites cleaning to local water treatment plant for proper treatment
and compliance

IEFE D AS OIS M5 15 2 ER B TS KE - BRAEEMAIT KRR
B BGETEE NEEAET AR

Provide separate sewer system for staff canteen to sort out waste cooking oil

*. from municipal wastewater

. RETREEHEENTIERS  UEBESKF I BERH

Install diffluence facilities to treat the wastewater prior to its outflow and
separate rainwater and sewage

RRFSDMRIE » LIES KB AT RIE KIS RA RS K5 B8

. Conduct wastewater sampling and assessment regularly to monitor the
. quality of the outflow and ensure the compliance to the regulations
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Waste management

With tightening regulations on waste disposal, Sinomax focuses on improving its waste

management approach. We take initiative to avoid, reduce, reuse and recycle our waste.

Production processes generate a certain quantity of hazardous waste, such as waste
equipment oil, chemical containers and residue. Pollution could be caused by improper storage,
handling, and disposal of hazardous waste. As a result, we adopted a solid waste management
handbook to train all frontline staff on how to properly dispose of waste. They must sort the
rubbish into different types and store it in specified waste storage locations that are clean and

well-ventilated. Trash is collected and handled on a regular basis by qualified waste companies.

As a result of the waste foam generated during the manufacturing process, the Group has set
up recycling facilities at all of its locations to collect and transform it into resalable material. In
addition to operational waste, the Group improves its waste management strategy by raising
employees’ awareness of resource efficiency. Staff training is provided on a regular basis to
encourage waste sorting and recycling. During the Reporting Year, the Group approximately
generated 356 tonnes of hazardous waste and 888 tonnes of non-hazardous waste, with an
overall non-hazardous waste recycling rate of approximately 82%. During the Reporting Year,
both the intensity of hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste decreased, indicating that the

target set for waste reduction was achieved.

The decrease in waste intensity suggests that the Group successfully implemented waste
management strategies and initiatives to minimise the generation of both hazardous and non-
hazardous waste. This achievement reflects the Group's commitment to responsible waste
management practices and its efforts to minimise its environmental impact. To uphold the
principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed to reducing or maintaining
both the hazardous and non-hazardous waste intensity between 90% to 120% of the level of

the baseline year ended 31 December 2023 in the next reporting year

£
P

L s

Waste Management Training

BERMEREI

BRI ERELRS

BRNER

BEBRRYREEEADRE BERS
BIEEBERYEET Z - HABERIT
PR B ERM O MANERY -

TEBRTPEELE —TEHENREZREER
W0 BN R E R B S MR ERY)
SREHNBEE REVNRERESEERY
FEEMB - FHIL KIS HE B EEREY
BEFM WAAMREIETERRE
RS -tmALBRIRSEATR
B TREAFRELFEBRREN
B LR MOt B o iR R SRR EE R Y)
RIEABEMREMGRE-

HPREBRETELERERS AEBEHR
HArE M BRI U he M ET B H
BLATEENMN BRTEEEREY A&
BERRSETHERWENDHA LN E
HEZYEBERK THRERMH-ETEI U
BEEEYOBENLK RREFEER K
EEELEEREYN MR ESEEY
888ME » BRI ERF B Y B EA82% o | E
FER BEEREYREZEEYREY
BEI TR RINERBEENREEE-

BENTETRRBLAEERNBHER
MEBRBREBE URAKBERLVEE
BEYRBEEEYNELE LR R kM
TAEEHEEANEZEYEEERNK
ERARERVHEBERYEMELNE
NoARKUFEZRNERER TMERSE
E>AERRNIREEEREEEEDT
REERENEFETHE2023F12831H
IEEEFEKFRI0%E120%2 [
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| 58.5 TonnesH# ?{;j ;[cybdgnesﬂﬁ,ﬁ‘

Plastic recycled TR B
B E

T

355.8 Tonnes/i#

Hazardous waste disposed

HEBEENRER

68.4 TonnesME

Metal recycled

EEHEK
CL

| 58.1 TonnesM#

General waste disposed

—REEREMNERE

502.6 TonnesM#

Paper recycled

AR E
O

Q

Packaging material |

We aim at increasing the usage of recyclable and sustainable packaging material to further HPMNERZE MU A &S
reduce our environmental footprint, as a packaging material is one of the most common RER LUE—F RO BRMNIRIE R
types of trash generated. To ensure that paper is sourced from responsibly managed forests, ABEEMNEZEREERMNIIRBERZ—-
we select Forest Stewardship Council (“FSC")-certified paper and necessary material. We ARFRERKXBEUBEESFAEENR
purchase refillable-packaged raw materials instead of barrel-packaged raw materials to reduce W ERMEEZMEEEZEE (TFSC)) BE
packaging waste from raw material procurement. During the Reporting Year; the intensity of WERMLBENME - MBI HIER
packaging materials used increased by 14%.The Group will continue to promote the use of BENRME MAZRERME DB
sustainable materials in the future, in accordance with its procurement policy. EMREENDERE - REFEN FH
BEMERE L F14% KB RRBRE
HEBER #EnEERTFEME -
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Year ended

31 December

Year ended

31 December

Packaging materials Unit
MR B
Plastic Tonnes
B W
Cardboard Tonnes
Total packaging materials used Tonnes Tonnes
ERBEEMHES W
Tonnes/
Intensity of packaging materials used? M'Revenue
fEHaRMHEE LV
BEHBA

Green office

We are not only committed to sustainability in our production operations, but we are also
extending our efforts to the office in pursuit of sustainable development. We have been
actively encouraging employees, suppliers, and customers to reduce carbon emissions in
their regular business activities, developing environmental awareness and green culture in
the workplace. In this regard, the HR Department promotes a green workplace culture by
implementing the “Sinomax Green Office Plan,” which follows the 1SO 26000 corporate social

responsibility standard. The following actions of employees are encouraged:

The intensity of packaging materials used for the Reporting Year is disclosed in accordance
with “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” of "How to prepare an ESG
Report A step-by-step Guide to ESG Reporting” issued by the Stock Exchange to display the
more comprehensive performance of the Group; Relevant data during last reporting year has

been disclosed for meaningful comparison.

2023 2022
HE20238F HE202025
RA3IHILEEE NA3IHLEEE
1,057 800

3,113 2,347

4,170 3,147

I.16 1.00

SEMAE

HAFTEROREEBEENAIFENE M
BERPHAZTEHZRBUBRIFES
B-EM—BERBEEET - HEFNERS
EHEEXRIZSPROBRER EIES
FIBEERREAMNGEX - HIt ANE
BERIBE MBSO 26000 £ ST
BRENTRAGEHRATE)  BEGEH
AN - BB THREULTTE :

? REFENEREEMHBEDREBRM
EHNMARERE HERELRRE -
RE-HERELERER) ME_ 1 1RE
BRENERERES I RE UE2EM
BTRAEENER ; LERSFENEEH
BEFRE UBETAEENLR.
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Promote electronic submission
of HR-related forms
REUEFHFARRADLE
R R

1 Switch off all idle electronic

| devices and lighting systems
to reduce electricity
consumption

ETERBERMEETRIE
K ERAR G LR B HFE ‘

Print on both sides of a
sheet of paper to reduce
paper consumption

AR REESIEN LU D AR

between 24 and 26 degree
Celsius to avoid unnecessary 5
energy wastage Bring own cups and bottles
ERRERBFE24ZE26HEE @ to avoid single-use
ZREUBR RN ERNRERRE drinking containers
BIES AR RS ER
— PR RS

ocﬁ Maintain room temperature

Demonstrating its commitment towards energy saving, Sinomax is awarded with Energywi$e
Certificate from Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification.We will keep exploring ways to

improve our energy efficiency and continue moving towards a greener operation.

118 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Reduce, reuse and recycle
waste where possible
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&
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Climate risk management

In line with China's commitment to achieving carbon neutrality in 2060, the Group has
established a climate change resilience system formulating appropriate procedures and
measures to prevent or minimise the damage that may be caused by climate change, and

making good use of the opportunities that may arise.

The Group has considered the potential climate-related risks and opportunities in respect of
the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD"),
in which potential physical risks and transition risks from climate change may pose adverse
financial impacts on the Group's businesses. Acute physical risk can arise from extreme
weather conditions in greater frequency and intensity such as flooding and storms and chronic
physical risk can arise from sustained high temperature, while transition risk may result from
the change in environmental-related regulations, emerging technologies or change in customer
preferences. The Group takes these risks into consideration when planning and designing new

projects, as well as incorporating physical climate risk impacts into business continuity plans.

The potential climate-related risks and opportunities in respect of the recommendations of

the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures are summarised below:

BRI ERELRS

RIEAREE

AHEREDPEE2060F IR PO KEE >
FEERUTREBRBRECHNER T
THENREMER UBLRBSHELD
RIEEEAEERNBEE RS F B
FEHIRBIE A

FEEEMRIEERMBRETFNER
HERZREREBEERGEBARRHKE
HhREECHERNETERARKEL
R REH AERNEBERIN BT

E-BEERERA Xﬁﬁm&gﬂﬁ
FEMERE
RABERRIEREFES R MELY

BRI E R BRI ARBAREE) I E
R ERREFEEC - AEBERINR
STMBEERRELERREREAN LRE
RRIEERTEMAXTEEL S -

RIRERPHRE T/ NENEERER
% e BY {4 R B9 B A LI K B A 4N
1

Short Medium Long
Potential (current (one to (four to
Risk Type Risks Financial Impact Reporting Year) three years) ten years) Mitigation Strategy
ikl A &
mEE 2l BEMBTE (FREFE) (—E=%§) (ME+F)  HERE
Physical Risks * Extreme weather * Reduce revenue J a * Establish adverse weather
ERAR conditions such as from business due to condition policy
flooding and typhoon business and supply - FIEBHRABERBE
- BIHKRRER WK chain disruptions
KB - REBRMEEERE + Maintain or expand the

EREH WAL

* Sustained elevated Increase in business

temperature operating costs
- BESE - BMEFEENE

supplier base to avoid
disruption
- BRHRAMREEE
LU el
Adopt energy conservation
measures to avoid
overconsumption of natural
resources
« RAERBOET B R
BEHFEERER
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Short Medium Long
Potential (current (one to (four to
Risk Type Risks Financial Impact Reporting Year) three years) ten years) Mitigation Strategy
AEHA Ll &
mER L BEMBTE (FHREFE) (—E=§) (ME+F)  HERE
Transition Risks + Changes in * Higher operating costs/ J s * Adopt energy conservation
B R environmental-related compliance costs to measures to reduce
regulations adopt new practices emissions
- REAERAEZS - RENERTRSE - RIpEAE R LUR D B
B/ ARAE vt
+ Continue to monitor the
regulatory environment
to ensure that the
Group complied with the
environmental-related law
and regulation
s BEEREERIEMUE
RAEBETREGER
ERER
+ Shift in consumer * Reduce demand for s ¢ Adhere to the Group's
preference to products health-living and other sustainable development
incorporating more products, decrease concept, strictly control
environmentally-friendly competitiveness and the health-living product
concept and more create adverse impact production process and
sustainable materials of on revenues commit to produce high-
the products - HRREQRNHME quality products to meet the
- HEERHEREZ @OBEREDRF expectations of consumers
FREECERAE  ATE BBAER and the market
REEMHNER  ARE -§%$$EWT%E¥
B BREHREE
/Eéuuﬁﬁi}éijf =
REEHEIHEEN
S RRANEEER
* Emerging technologies  * Higher operating or J s * Encourages our employees
. FEEAN transition costs to to attend conferences
adopt new practices or and training to keep them
technologies abreast with the latest
- FEMERIRITE technological developments
REEZRBERE in visco-elastic wellness
product manufacturing
- ZBRMANEISME
SN EERE
EIEREEMNENS
MkfnE R
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CARE FOR THE COMMUNITY

Sinomax understands that the development of the enterprise depends on support from
the community. Meanwhile, the Group has also shown the spirit of serving the community
where the Group operates and has been actively involved in community investment. The
Group encourages our employees to participate and contribute to the society as a sustainable
business is dependent on the stability and well-being of our community.

Sinomax has no hesitation in contributing to the needs of the community as the first company
in the industry to acquire the famous ISO 26000 corporate social responsibility certification.
The Group's staff volunteers, for example, have actively organised and participated in the
following community activities to show support for the community:

Donate Pillow to orphanage

AR BEiRM LR

Charity Sale Ceremony

BEmE

Sinomax has been proactive in supporting the community. During the Reporting Year; the
Group has contributed approximately HKD54,000 to the Children’s Cancer Foundation, A
Drop of Life, Soap Cycling Limited and Hong Kong Young Women's Christian Association and
RMB250,000 to various charity foundation and association in the PRC. Also, the Group has
participated in charity activities and volunteer works for 1,610 hours.

LOOKING FORWARD

Seeking to integrate sustainability principles at all levels of our business operations and
service, the Group shall continue to deliver quality care for employees and the community
and align to our long-term sustainability operation. A sustainable environment and community
are inseparable from our goal to provide customer-centric products. We will keep delivering
innovative products to elevate the sleep health of our customers. With the continuous effort
of the management and its staff, the Group will overcome the challenges ahead and create a
prosperous and sustainable future.

BRI ERELRS

HEHE

BHEANECEERBELBRNF R,
FEETERARBEIERCEMEIHLE
MOR BE2EtERE - EXENARE
ERERMENBENZR RAEER
BEE2EUMEEE BUEMEM-

EAERNERERISO 26000 LT SE
TDENCE REBROEHEEK A
N AEBNEIRZTIRBBER KRB
UTHEZE SEHE

Blood Donation Day

g =

BE—EHEBRI AR - NREFEER &
EEORERRES HERED BERE
REBEBH LB EEIBAA54000/87T
THFEZEZSESCERBHEERAR
#250,0007c ° Ik 5h » AEBIFZE T 1,610
INENEE B RSB IEo

RERE

RTRAFBERRUBARMANBEE
BRRE ~EEQEEFEE T RHE:
TREMANREAFEEERTE—H-F
FEEERNERRENHRERMRUURTS
ENERZEREAAD HMARSEE
RERIMER RARPAERER &E
BEEBMEINIWE ) AEBERS

FRARTRRE > BEHER  FIRENIR K o
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PERFORMANCE TABLE

Ry e

Year ended
3| December

Year ended
3| December

Environmental Performance Unit 2023 2022
HE201E HE200F

RIEEX Efl RA3IBEFE RA3BLEFE

GHG Emissions

BERBEHR

Scope |: Direct emission tonnes of COz equivalent (tCOz-e) 1,744 822

&E BRI M_REHREE

Scope 2: Indirect emission tCOs-e 6,438 4498

SED : EETR M—RtHREE

Total emissions tCOs-e 8,182 5,320

mErmE M_RitHREE

GHG emissions intensity tCO»-e/M’ Revenue 2.27 1.69

BERBHFNEE M-S EHEE/BBRA

Energy Consumption

AETRIHFE

Direct energy consumption

BERAERHE

— Diesel MWh 6,825 3172

— 5 IS

— Petrol MWh 71 83

—AH I B

— Natural gas MWh 248 39

—RAR FEE

— Solar energy MWh 2,859 2,897

— X8 FEE

Indirect energy consumption

AR RHFE

— Electricity MWh 11,278 7,877

-85 IS

Total energy consumption MWh 21,281 14,068

fERARFEE IS

Energy consumption intensity MWh/M' Revenue 5.90 446

fEREFERE KEE,/ BEKA
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Environmental Performance Unit 2023 2022
BE2023F HE200F
RIFEN Bl RA3IBLEE NAIBLEE
Vehicle Air Pollutant Emissions
AEERBREMBEK
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 3,902 3,343
KEEM(NOx) NI
Sulphur oxides (SOx) kg 5 5
W& 1EH(SOx) N
Particulate Matter (PM) kg 376 303
FRA(PM) NI
Water Consumption
Fk
Total water consumption m’ 113,296 99,259
WFEKE I HAR
Water consumption intensity m?*/M’ Revenue 31.39 3149
FEKREE UFHR/ BBBA
Hazardous Waste
BEEEY
Total hazardous waste generated Tonnes 356 326
BEEEEVELRE 0
Hazardous waste intensity Tonnes/M' Revenue 0.10 0.10
BERENTE LVE=E-1 N
Non-hazardous Waste
BEBEY
Total non-hazardous waste generated Tonnes 888 [,710
BEERYELRE U
Total waste recycled Tonnes 730 792
BERYENEE M
Waste recycling rate % 82% 46%
EEEY DI =R %
Non-hazardous waste intensity Tonnes/M' Revenue 0.25 0.54
BEREEYEE L VE=T-1 N
Packaging Materials
BEMEH
Plastic Tonnes 1,057 800
bl "
Cardboard Tonnes 3,113 2,347
MR i
Total packaging materials used Tonnes 4,170 3,147
TREEMEESE Mg
Intensity of packaging materials used Tonnes I.16 1.00
TReEEMHEE 0

BEEBEERAA

2023 FERE
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Social Performance 2023 2022
BE2023F BE202F
HEENK 2A3BLEE NRANHEFE
Workforce Profile
BTHER
Total workforce 1,975 1917
BTHY
By gender Male 925 891
el Eps) S
Female 1,050 1,026
prgia
By age group 30 years old or below 212 230
RERAERE D 305% UL T
31 to 50 years old 1,305 1,288
3B ES0RR
51 years old or above 458 399
SIEE L
By geographical region Hong Kong 108 120
‘it e85 BB
The PRC 1,867 1,797
H
By employment type Full time 1,936 1871
RERREED g
Part time 39 46
e
Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Social Performance 2023 2022
BE2023F BE200F
HEENK 2A3IBLEE NRAHEFE
Employee Turnover Rate
BEMRALEE
Total turnover rate 18% 17%
BmRLEE
By gender Male 18% 16%
el Epy) St
Female 18% 17%
it
By age group 30 years old or below 46% 34%
BERERNB D 305% LT
31 to 50 years old 16% 16%
31BE E505%
51 years old or above 9% 9%
SIsREM L
By geographical region Hong Kong 17% 27%
ZHEs D BB
The PRC 18% 16%
aa
By employment type Full time 18% 16%
RERREED £
Part time 5% 41%
R
Occupational Health and Safety
HERREZR
Lost days due to work injury 1,555 1,883
PR ERCECE R (=]
Number of fatalities 0 0
FETAH
Rate of fatalities 0 0
FETHhX

BEEBEERAA
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Social Performance 2023 2022
BE2023F BE200F
HERK 2A3BLEE NRANHEFE
Training and development?
1R 3 R
Total
I
Training % 82% N/A
ZIBENL ~EHA
Average Training hour I5 N/A
Rl TR TER
By gender Male
LIk IPa) St
Training % 52% 61%
RilEDLE
Average Training hour 17 61
FHIT 5
Female
e
Training % 48% 39%
RilEDLE
Average Training hour 13 29
R HEH

e The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category for the Reporting : RBREEEN BRI RESENISNZ

Year is disclosed and calculated by employees in the specified category who took part in the JMEEB DR BMENNETHEESE
training divided by employees who took part in training, ANHRUSMBINEEA MK E KSR

3 Training data of all employees is disclosed in this Reporting Year for a more comprehensive : TREFERBEMERSNEN&E UE
disclosure of the Report. RERBELHE
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Social Performance 2023 2022
BE2023F BE200F
HEENK 2A3IBLEE NRAHEFE
By employment type Management
REEEYE D EEE
Training % 1% 1%
RilBDLE
Average Training hour 46 76
R
Senior
SERG
Training % 3% 1%
RIBEDL
Average Training hour 26 12
S RSl
Junior
—RREAR
Training % 96% 98%
ZIBENL
Average Training hour 14 45
R
Supply Chain Management
e ER
Number of suppliers
GEEE]
Local 477 461
i
Overseas 12 21
=Rl

BEEBEERAA
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ESG INDEX TABLE

RIE HERERRTRGIR

Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
BE A BE,EE =B
ENVIRONMENT
Rz
Al: EMISSIONS
Al HE 4
General Disclosure Information on: Shaping a Healthy Environment 107-118
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—MRIKEE BRBERMEEREBHN AR BER EERERNERR
EERRYNELESEN
(@) B3R 5 &
b) BTHETABEARENAREZRRRINER -
KPLALI The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Shaping a Healthy Environment [H1-112,123
FRRERIEIRAL IR R AR R B HERENIRE
KPIAL.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas  Shaping a Healthy Environment — 108-110, 122
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per Energy consumption and GHG
unit of production volume, per facility). gas emissions
RBEMIERAI2 B (8E)) kEREE EE) BEEREBEHNE W EERRINRR-SEREERR
MistE) k (@A) BE MUSESB 1 AR EREHN
8o
KPIAL3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where  Shaping a Healthy Environment —  115-116, 123
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Waste management
facility).
FRRENIEIRAI3 FRELAEEREYRE QIR kK MER RE ML SERENRE-BERYERE
SESEN SEXRMFE) o
KPIAl4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where  Shaping a Healthy Environment — [15-116, 123
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Waste management
facility).
FREMIERAIA FRELEZERYAE CIEEE) K MER RE ML SERENRE-BERYER
BEEBE BEREHE) -
KPIALS Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve  Shaping a Healthy Environment [107-112
them.
FABIEIEIRALS BWHFTEI UMBIMERRARAEREEERAERNNY BERRIRE
B o
KPIAL6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are  Shaping a Healthy Environment 115-116

FAREIEIRALG

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

BIREAERESERYNT E > REIFET LR
BERAAERELEERAEMNTRE-

Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
[EE B B B AR
A2 Use of Resources
A ERER
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water  Shaping a Healthy Environment 108, 110,
and other raw materials. [13-114
—fRIKEE BMERER (BEER  KREMRME) BBE- EERERNIRE
KPIA2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.  Shaping a Healthy Environment — 108, 110, 122
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. Energy consumption and GHG
per unit of production volume, per facility). emissions
FAREIEIRAL RENAONERR/IERERWE RIUHEEE SERENBRE-EREERE
UFETFEFEHE) REE WHUSESE{ 8ER EREIN
FEEtE) o
KPI'A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of  Shaping a Healthy Environment — [13-114,123
production volume, per facility). Water & wastewater management
RRREMIERA22 BIEKERTE WNSEBEN BERKFE) BERENRE-AKRSKE
i
KPIA23 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken  Shaping a Healthy Environment 10, 1'17-118
to achieve them.
RRRENIEIRAL3 BRI UMNEREANZERRAZINELEERMR EERRVRER
BRByL B o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that ~ Shaping a Healthy Environment — [13-114
is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved. Water & wastewater management
RRRENIERA24 B KREBAKR LA BEEEBE UREAB KNG EERRNRE-AKKSKE
SHBIR PSR R o 8
KPIA25 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)  Shaping a Healthy Environment — [16-117,123
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced. Packaging material
RRSREIEIRALS RmFTAEEMRNEE CUESE) k (NER 85 ZERENRR-8EMH

EBLE-
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.

[EE B B B AR

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

AR RRAE R

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impact on the  Shaping a Healthy Environment 107-118
environment and natural resources.

—fRIKEE REETABRERRAEREMNEATZENER BEREIRE

KPIA3.I Description of the significant impacts of activities on the  Shaping a Healthy Environment 107-118
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

FRREIEIRAS BAEHIZHHRERRAERNEARZERERNE BERRIRE
BERYENTH-

A4 Climate Change

AR IREE

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- ~ Shaping a Healthy Environment — [19-120

—RINE

KPIA4.1

PR EIERAI

related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

AR EHEERAIEEHETAELELENERAR
HREEMNEER-

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.
HREEKRFIEEHETAEEXENEARERRES
B REHTE-
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
[EE B B B AR
B. Social
BHE
Bl Employment
BI fEf&
General Disclosure Information on: Promoting Well-being Inside Out —  99-106
(a) the policies; and Being a responsible employer
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.
— RN EE BERHFMRRE - BERSA LERE R TR  RESORE-SE5ENEE
227 RERUREMTBREFB
(@) B3R 5 &
b) HETABEARENARERRRHNEH -
KPIBI.I Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- ~ Promoting Well-being Inside Out — 101, 124
or part-time), age group and geographical region. Being a responsible employer —
Retaining and attracting talents
PRGNS 1RBI | ZiR - EBEEE W2RIERE  FRANEE D RESLERE-SEENET
MES®E- —BBRRSIAS
KPIBI.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical ~ Promoting Well-being Inside Out — 102, 125

PR ERIE1RBI 2

region.

B FRAER KM ER DHEERKLLR

Being a responsible employer —

Retaining and attracting talents
RESOLRR-AEENEE

—RBRRSIAA
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
[EE B B E BN
B2 Health and Safety
B2 BEHRE
General Disclosure Information on: Promoting Well-being Inside Out —  104-105
(a) the policies; and Being a responsible employer
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
—RINE BRRHEZETHREAREREEZHENELEN . (RESOER-E5ENEE
(@) B3R 5 &
b) BTHETAEEARENARAERRANER
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of ~ Promoting Well-being Inside Out — 105, 125
the past three years including the Reporting Year Being a responsible employer —
Safeguarding employees’ health
PR G5 1%B2.| BEZF BEREER SERITHNABKILERX RESORR-AEENET
—RESTHRE
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Promoting Well-being Inside Out — 105, 125
Being a responsible employer —
Safeguarding employees’ health
PR B R IE1RB22 RAIBERRAIFEH- RESVRE-BEENEE
—RESIRE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, ~ Promoting Well-being Inside Out —  104-105
how they are implemented and monitored. Being a responsible employer
PR RIE1RB23 WHPFRMMNBERRAZ2ER URERRTRE RESLRE-SEENEE

RIke
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
[EE B B B AR
B3 Development and Training
B3 B Rt
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for  Promoting Well-being Inside Out 102-104
discharging duties at work. — Being a responsible employer
— Continuous training and
development
— iR BRRARERT RSN B RRAENHR RESLVEE-AEENETS
BRI R
KPI'B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee  Promoting Well-being Inside Out 103, 126-127
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). — Being a responsible employer
— Continuous training and
development
PRGN 1RB3.| B RESSR MEREERE -PREER) I0K RESOERRE-AEEENETIR
ZilEEBEDLE- B RERE
KPI' B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender  Promoting Well-being Inside Out 103, 126-127
and employee category. — Being a responsible employer
— Continuous training and
development
PRGN E1RB32 B REERNE D BREEXTARINTHRH RESFLEBR-EEENEETR

B4 Labour Standards
B4%5 TR

General Disclosure

—MRIREE

KPI B4.1

RS AR5 1RB4.1
KPI B4.2

PRGN 512842

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

BRARLEE TR HIE TR :

(@) B3R 5 &

b) BTHETABEARENAREZRRRHINER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labour:

BB EBEANEEBRET REHIET -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

discovered.

BAERRERBRFHRERIE AT RBI T 5o

BiEIIRE R

Promoting Well-being Inside Out — 100

Being a responsible employer

RESVRE-AEENEE

Promoting Well-being Inside Out — 100
Being a responsible employer

RESORE-ESENEE

Promoting Well-being Inside Out — 100

Being a responsible employer

RESLRE-AEENEE
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
[EE B B B AR
B5 Supply Chain Management
BSitFE SR E 12
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply ~ Delivering Health and Wellness 90-92
chain. Products — Quality assurance —
Sustainable procurement
—RRiR R BEMEENRERTEREKREER- RUEREKRRE®R
—mERE-AIRERE
KPI'B5. 1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Delivering Health and Wellness 92,127
Products — Quality assurance —
Sustainable procurement
PR IE 51385, | BHE B N HEBHE o RERERFRREER
—mERE PR ERE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number  Delivering Health and Wellness 90-92
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how Products — Quality assurance —
they are implemented and monitored. Sustainable procurement
AR B 513852 HHAMEAMEENESN nEATAMEANHRE RHURERFRRER
BHE URERRTRER G- —mERE-AIRERE
KPI'BS5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental  Delivering Health and Wellness 90-92
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are Products — Quality assurance —
implemented and monitored. Sustainable procurement
PR EI512B5.3 HRBRABANEERSERONREERTERARNE RURERFRER
B> AT REER —mERE PR ERE
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally — Delivering Health and Wellness 90-92
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and Products — Quality assurance —
how they are implemented and monitored. Sustainable procurement
AR BN 51385 .4 BHEREHEEREESARAREMKRBENES > RHERERFRRER
URBREHITRERG o —mERE-AIRERE
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BRI ERELRS

Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
[EE B B B AR
Bé Product and Service Responsibility

B EmKRRHRE

General Disclosure Information on: Delivering Health and Wellness 90, 93-98

—RINE

KPI Bé6. |

R SR 4R R 35 1%B6. |

KPI B6.2

PR SR AR R 15 1RB6.2
KPI B6.3

SR ERIERB63
KPI B6:4

RS AR F5 1RBe.4
KPI B6.5

e S4B U 1EB6.5

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress.

BRMRHERNRGNREAZ2 BS BERL

BEE UK AR

(@) BR 5 &

b) BTHETABEAX ENAMAERRANER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls

for safety and health reasons.

CENEEZEM@BTRZ 2R ERIERMALN

Batte

Number of products and service related complaints received

and how they are dealt with.

BEMRERKRERFEE UREE 5

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting

intellectual property rights.

R A R R RIS R B E A RRAVIE 6

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HHEEREBEKREMBIWER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
how they are implemented and monitored.
BIUHBEERRERMRER URBEERATRER
J3ike

Products — Quality assurance

RUBERFRER-RERE

Delivering Health and Wellness 93

Products — Quality assurance
RERRERFRRER - mERE
Delivering Health and Wellness 95-96

Products — Quality assurance
RERRERFRRER - mERE
Delivering Health and Wellness 90

Products — Quality assurance
RERBERRRER—RERE
Delivering Health and Wellness 93-96

Products — Quality assurance
RERRERFRRER - mERE
Delivering Health and Wellness 97

Products — Quality assurance

RUEREARRER - RERE
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
[EE B B B AR
B7 Anti- corruption
B7 RES
General Disclosure Information on: Promoting Well-being Inside Out — 99
(a) the policies; and Corporate governance
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.
—RRiR R BRAM LR $R MFERLRER RESLRE-BXER
(@) Bk 5 &
b) BTHETABEARENEREERRHINER -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices  Promoting Well-being Inside Out — 99
brought against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting Corporate governance
Year and the outcomes of the cases.
AR B 1387 | PREFEAHETAYEHEERDULESEENESH RESLBRR-LXEA
MREABHE KGR
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures, how they are implemented ~ Promoting Well-being Inside Out — 99
and monitored. Corporate governance
AR B 51387 2 LR S UURAARATRER S %o RESVRE-EXER
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and ~ Promoting Well-being Inside Out — 99
staff. Corporate governance
PR EI512B7 3 BERREFERE TRHNRESE RESORE-EXEER
B8 Community Investment
BBt ERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of  Care For the Community 121
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
—RRiR R BRMHEB2ERTRETANEERTHEEENERFR HEHE
HEBEHEERBHEBHNZMER
KPI B8. 1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental  Care For the Community 121
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
RSB E 51788, | FIEREE MBE RREFE-FIBR - BE-X HAEHE
£-8a) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Care For the Community 121
PRGN 513882 EEIHBABHAER MNEBREH) REHER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

_E
pwc

To the Shareholders of Sinomax Group Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Sinomax Group Limited (the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (the “Group"), which are set out on pages 147 to 319, comprise:
. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023;

. the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the

year then ended;

0 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting

policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

ENVR PR Gl

B Rk E

BRBEEEERABDKRR
RESHSZEMATIIERAE)

-]
EZEBHINE

BREERBRLAD (BRE) RENBAT
(TE&EE)) JHNEI47E39EN S8
R 0F

. R2023F 1283 BNESHHR T
S

- BEZALFENGGEmKEME
HWEE ;

+  HBEZHLFENGAREZER

- EBEZALEENGARESRER,

XA

GV BRRINE OB IR S
REHKREMMRAMEER

BEENER
BERR KEUBERRERETEGS

g ((EREHMAY)) EHRN(EEY
BREER) (ERMBRMEERN) BEEM
AT BEBENR2023FI12831H
NEEMERIRESEEZA LFENG
BHMBRERAEGERERE UEER
ER(REARANNEERTEE HEE-

BEEEBMRAT 203FERS

137



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B\ HENR S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our

report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“‘the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

. Provision for inventories

. Expected credit loss (“ECL") assessment on trade receivables

138 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
MBEHEE

Provision for inventories

FRERE

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

SRR A BRRME

As at 3| December 2023, the Group had gross inventories of
approximately HK$603.2 million and provision of approximately
HK$94.5 million.

R20235 128318 BEEEREHFRBENOI2ERAT
RBEL945 BB BT

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
cost of such inventories may not be recoverable if they are damaged
or become obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined.
FENRAARIERFENREELE - WRLEFER
BEE ey A HEEER T RIE AR sEE AR -

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
ERVRER S Gl

FASETRE @

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEEEEATHAREHERNEESX

Our key procedures in relation to management's assessment of the provision

for inventories included:

THNEERNFERANTGZHREFOE

- Obtained an understanding of the management's internal control
and assessment process of provision for inventories and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management bias
or fraud;

- THREEEMRFEEBNANENRILER TBRRE
RBEFZTIAREENEEREMES BRREZRBIKT (0
ERETHE SHRUEREREIMFENGRL) 5764
BAERRANEERR

= Understood, evaluated and tested key controls over net realisable value

of different types of inventories;

- TR FEMAESEEETERFENRRES
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REHEE

Provision for inventories (continued)

FREE @

The Group's management regularly reviews its inventory level,
ageing and condition in order to identify slow-moving and obsolete
inventories and assess if provision for obsolescence is needed.
Management also reviews and estimates, if necessary, the subsequent
selling price and the estimated cost to sale of the inventory and
compares with the corresponding carrying cost and estimated cost
to completion to assess if the net realisable value is lower than its
carrying amount. When management identifies items of inventories
which are slow-moving, obsolete, or having a net realisable value
lower than its carrying amount, management estimates the amount of
provision for inventories by assessing their ageing and conditions, or
comparing the items’ corresponding cost with the subsequent selling
price.
EEEEEETNERETE KT RE KRR LIHBE
BRREFE UG REREfRRERBE -EEETS
AV ERERREFRENEBURMGHFREHEEMS I
EARMEMARE B A R (b 5t T TRAETIER MEHE R 217
RERSENAREE -SEEEANLBHE REATE
RRECREREBENEFERER EEEBETGEE
HERER AR R F ENERN AR REEBETLR &
AFEREEER

We focus on this area due to the significance of the inventory balance
and, management judgement and estimates involved in determining
the provision.
EEEINEBRN AN FERHREAREERBE I RERE
JE F B A& 5t o
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FASETRE @

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEEEEATHAREHERNEESX

- Tested, on a sample basis, the net realisable value of finished goods, by
comparing the carrying amounts of the inventory items against their
respective selling price and the cost to sale subsequent to the year end.
For raw materials and work in progress, we also tested, on a sample
basis, their subsequent utilisation. For those inventory items which have
not been sold subsequently, we evaluated management's assessment
and checked to the source data on a sample basis, in which they made
reference to the historical sales information and performed research on
the market price information and compared with the estimated selling
price;

- FEWMELALEBRFERENKEERARFARNEER
HERE HRMANITERFEETAS BRIV RER
mME EFTHEREEABRETHENS - BRREXRE
HNEFEER ESTEEEENTGILHEREREE B
PRESERLHEBH T NHZERENETRE URE
RGFTEBRITLER,

= Attended the inventory observation to observe the inventory

condition;
- BNEERMUBTEERR;

- Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing profile of individual
inventory items by checking to the underlying supporting documents.

- HEREERXFEER KASELNFEEREREOER
fto

Based on the procedures performed, we considered management’s
judgements and estimates applied on the inventories provision were
supported by available evidence.

BERFATHER EEXREEEMF R G AR k&t
BEA/EEXFC



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REHEE

Expected credit loss (“ECL’) assessment on trade receivables

BB HENERE SR ((TAREEER) T

Refer to note 3.1(ii)(b)(i) to the consolidated financial statements.

B2 REE M HREMEE () b)) e

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had gross trade receivable of
approximately HK$573.5 million and provision for impairment of
approximately of HK$30.7 million.

120235128318 EXEERE S BRRBRELN735E
BETRREREN07EEHET

Management applied the simplified approach to measure the lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The Group measured
the expected credit losses on an individual and a collective basis.
For customers with public financial information to assess the credit
rating, they were assessed individually for the expected credit losses,
the remaining customers with shared credit risk characteristics were
grouped into different categories and assessed collectively based on
their likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature of the
customers and their geographical location.
BEEERAELEEHMAEZRETAN2HRAER
Bt SEENUENRAREZFERREERRE HNE
ARRUBERAUTEERERNEF  REREHNEE
FERAEEER - HRABHREERARBEENERHEA
TEER RBEEWEINATEERRE BT EE R HEMIE
I B HREETE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
ENVR PR Gl

FASETRE @

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEEEEATHAREHERNEESX

Our key procedures in relation to management's assessment of the ECL on
trade receivables included:

BN EEENERRURENAREEERTGZERER
B

= Obtained an understanding of the management's internal control
and assessment process of estimating expected credit loss allowance
for trade receivables and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

- THREEEENGSEZBENENRBEEEREEENR
S RS RER WRBE Bt Z TABERNEERE
BB RBRRARNKT Q&M% TR BRHEERR
RNEGFRERIL) STEERHERRANES AR ;

- Understood, evaluated and tested key controls over the estimation of

allowance for impairment;

- TR FERASHRERBESIRERES

- For expected credit losses of trade receivables assessed individually,
with the assistance of our in-house valuation expert, on a sample basis,
we performed market research of the loss given default rate and the
debtors’ credit rating which are publicly available. We evaluated the
credit rating as probability of default which included forward-looking
factor as well as combining the loss given default rate, and compared
with the expected credit loss rates applied by management;

- HREBTENEZBUGENEREEEE ERBEES
RGBT BEEHAHAIENENBEXRREBAERTR
ETHETHRAT - EEFRERTREABOMRTME A
BEAMETRR TESEOEREX T REEERANER
FEEERXRETLER;
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ENVR PR Gl

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REHEE

Expected credit loss (“ECL’) assessment on trade receivables

(continued)

B2 RWRIANEREEHRE (MRREEER) Tt (@

In developing the loss allowances of trade receivables, the expected

credit loss rates are based on historical payment profiles of sales, the

corresponding historical credit losses rate, the external default data,

and adjusted by management’s assessment to reflect the current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
AHTEEZBURENERERE RRAGEBEREXDER
HENEENTRT HEELEEBER INBENEE
TREEEEEARMEZERT R BEBEFTURENNEE
RERRNER RATEEER T EFHRE

We focused on this area due to the significance of the trade
receivables balance and the management's ECL assessment on trade
receivables involved judgements and estimates.
BEEFEINLEBENHERESBNRBEEHREAREEREY
B 7 BB R (5 B R E RF B M 45t o

FASETRE @

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEEEEATHAREHERNEESX

For expected credit losses of trade receivables assessed collectively, we
evaluated the appropriateness of the management's grouping. We then
tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing analysis of trade
receivables as at the reporting date used in management's assessment
to the invoices and other relevant documents. We evaluated the
appropriateness of adjustments for forward-looking information based
on the analysis of macro-economic factors, with the assistance of our
in-house valuation expert; and
HRHREEFGNEZBEENRREEREMNS &
ST EEBNBNBEL EENRNEERBTGTHER
REMARXHERRRE BHNE S BIRTENRE
MEREETHENS -ERBEEEROBH T ERY
BRERRNDN BESTE 7 BBt ERETHENE
{E3d

BE N D OHE AR

Recomputed the historical loss rate calculation and evaluated the
appropriateness and tested the accuracy of the major data inputs
including historical settlement pattern of trade receivables used in
the expected credit losses models, on a sample basis, to the Group's
accounting records.

BNt EEEERERAE HR SEENGSCH KA
BANHEIEBAME CRRBEEEREATEANE
ZREBRENBEEEREN) NEEN LR EER Y-

Based on the procedures performed, we considered management's
judgements and estimates applied on the expected credit loss assessment on
trade receivables were supported by available evidence.
BERFATHNER ESTREEENEZRWNENRAEES
BTGP AR BT R LS EE RS RE S -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information

and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in

the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in

this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do

SO.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resutting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error; as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

g Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

0 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or; if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

0 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and

performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B\ HENR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Albert

KW. Lee.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

maEmkHMEERER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BEOBFNRAIBILEFE

2023 2022
20234 20226
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B sE FHET TET
Revenue WA 5 3,608,894 3,171,478
Cost of sales HE A 9 (2,689,171) (2,5292216)
Gross profit EF] 919,723 642,262
Other income HAtn A 6 27,866 34616
Net impairment losses of financial assets TREERERETHE 3.1(i)(b) (1,321) (17938)
Other gains, net Hitzs o 358 7 14,868 25,542
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHFES 9 (458,364) (424,547)
Administrative expenses TRz 9 (250,197) (188,695)
Research and development costs Wi 9 (80,178) (74,423)
Finance costs AR A 8 (49,785) (46,027)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BrETEMATET, (5518 122,612 (49,210)
Income tax (expense)/credit P8 () /%R 12 (42,110) 12,025
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF/ (B8 80,502 (37,185)
Other comprehensive income HhemiaE
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss: OERDEEERNES !
Current translation differences for BN EBHRBERZSE
foreign operations (26,761) (58,726)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREMZMEEE (26,761) (58,726)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FR2EWE (88 858 53,741 (95911
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: THATEEERRH, (E518)
Owners of the Company EREER A 62,593 (35,970)
Non-controlling interests Elaeyiy g 17,909 (1215)
80,502 (37,185)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

maEmkHMEERER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE0BFI2A3IHLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
By aE FAET THET
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year THATEEENZENE,
attributable to: (B518) 4828
Owners of the Company EREER A 37,557 (90,618)
Non-controlling interests RS 16,184 (5293)
53,741 (95911)
Earnings/(losses) per share sREF/ (B8
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —BEARKEE CBL) 14 3.58 (2.06)
The notes on page 153 to 319 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. FIBEIIENNETAZERSMBERE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBIRRR

At 3| December 2023
F2023FE 128318

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
by FET THT
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN e I5 44],688 462,862
Right-of-use assets TREEE 16 235,303 247917
Investment properties REME 17 31,525 28,073
Goodwil BeE 18 5,348 -
Intangible assets BYEBE 19 9,399 1,177
Deposits and other receivables & R EMERRIE 22 19,272 54,043
Deferred tax assets RERIEEE 20 57,086 62,599
799,621 866,671
Current assets MEEE
Inventories =8 21 508,747 555271
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMENRIR py) 686,747 551,873
Bill receivables N ES 23 66,977 72210
Trade receivables at fair value through FREMEERGERATAETRD
other comprehensive income Z 2 REWIE 24 34,129 22,962
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 26 309,923 168,955
1,606,523 1,371,271
Total assets HERE 2,406,144 2237942
Equity K
Equity attributable to the Company’s AT E ARGER
equity holders
Share capital &N 30 175,000 175,000
Reserves i 750,758 720,201
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KABHEB NEILER 925,758 895,201
Non-controlling interests FEER R 38 (7,268) (8261)
Total equity R 4R 918,490 886,940
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

IFEMBIRRR
At 3| December 2023
12023F 128318

2023 2022
20235 20226
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000
(i3 FTAET FHT
Liabilities &
Non-current liabilities JERENEE
Lease liabilities HEER 16 208,107 236,228
Deferred government grant IRIEE AT # B 27 900 1,325
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 20 11,541 19,227
220,548 256,780
Current liabilities P I
Trade and other payables B 5% RHEMENRIE 27 675,364 479458
Bl payables NS 28 31,183 5233
Contract liabilities aHaf 5(iv) 15,629 11,993
Unsecured bank borrowings BEITIRIRITIER 29 44],878 522,259
Lease liabilities HE&E 16 72,633 63513
Taxation payable FEITRR 30,419 11,766
1,267,106 1,094,222
Total liabilities BfEHE%E 1,487,654 1,351,002
Total equity and liabilities ke EeE 2,406,144 2,237,942

BI47EIOBEFTE M B MEKN2024FE3822
HESZgHAEREETE THTIE

The financial statements on pages 147 to 319 were approved by the Board of Directors on
22 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf

EARE
Mr. Cheung Tung Mr. Lam Chi Fan
RERSTE MERTE
Director Director
EF EF

FINEIVENME/ZFFEEMBRE
B —ER e

The notes on page 153 to 319 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
n‘7|-\ *-"-E&@J%

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BEOBFNAIBILEFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

FRRER NEGRD
Share Non-
Share Share Merger  Statutory Capital options  Translation Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total interests Total
Bk R
kA& ROEE AftEE AERE  EXRES wE EREE RBEY Nt L5 st
HK$000 ~ HK$O000  HK$O00  HK$O00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKFO00  HKF000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TEn Thx TExn TEx TEn  TEn TExn  TExn  TEz  TEn  TErn
(note (7))
(GEO)
At | January 2022 *0nEIA18 175,000 404520 (403835) 65520 1,510 3662 35724 710718 992819 13799 1,006,618
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - (359700 (35970) (1215 (37185)
Exchange differences arising on HEBIMEBELN
translation of foreign operation ERER - - - - - - (54,648) - (54,648) (4078) (58,726
Total comprehensive expense FRZERZER
for the year - - - - - - (54,648) (35970) (90,618) (5293) 95911
Dividend declared to mIEREREGAERNRE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - (2.805) (2.805)
Dividend paid BRRE - - - - - - - (7,000) (7000)  (13962)  (20962)
Lapse of share options BRELN = = = = = (223) = 23 - - -
Transfers of statutory reserve BRLTERE - S S 4225 S - - (4225) - - -
At 31 December 2022 #2008 128318 175,000 404520 (403835) 69,745 1510 3439 (18924) 663746 895,201 (8261) 886940
At | January 2023 R203EIA1H 175,000 404520 (403,835) 69,745 1,510 3439 (18924) 663,746 895,201 (8261) 886,940
Profit for the year ERiai - - - - - - - 62,593 62,593 17,909 80,502
Exchange differences arising on HEBNERELEN
translation of foreign operation EREH - - - - - - (2503) - (2503) (1,725) (26761
Total comprehensive expense FRZEMZAR
for the year - - - - - - (25,036) 62,593 37,557 16,184 53,741
Dividend paid BARS - - - - - - - (7,000) (70000 (I5191)  (22,191)
Lapse of share options BRERN = = - - - (2,174 - 2,174 - - -
Transfers of statutory reserve BEATHE - - - 24,756 - - - (24,756) - - -
At 31 December 2023 *203E 128318 175,000 404520 (403,835) 94,501 1,510 1,265 (43960) 696,757 925,758 (7,268) 918490
Notes: N

0) Pursuant to applicable People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") regulations, certain PRC 0]
subsidiaries are required to transfer a portion of their profits after taxation to the statutory
reserve and allocation to the statutory reserve which shall be approved by the board of
directors of the entity. The transfer had been made before the distribution of a dividend

to equity owners. The appropriation to statutory reserve may cease if the balance of the

REREARANE (TRE) NBERARE
ATTEMBARAEEBIMENBEZ
ERBERIETEIERABRACERESS
Ttt)& ZBEERMRDZER AN KR EA

ET-MEiTHREGHEZERAMELZ

statutory reserve has reached 50% of the registered capital of the entity. The reserve can

50% BIPT R IEBREZERME - ZEED

be applied either to set off accumulated losses, if any or to increase registered capital. The

statutory reserve is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

The notes on page 153 to 319 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= L=
mARERER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE203F 12831 BLLEE

2023 2022
2023% 20224
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
By EE FAET TAT
Operating activities REEY
Net cash generated from operations KEMFRE P 32(a) 458,613 214,896
Hong Kong profits tax paid BAEAFIEH (2,214) (2,278)
PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT”) paid BAFREIRERER ((EEMER) (24,893) (18426)
PRC withholding tax paid B PEENR (11,158) (3364)
Net cash generated from operating activities e THETREG P 420,348 190,828
Investing activities REEH
Payment for purchase of property BEYVE BERRBZAR
plant and equipment (62,238) (51,044)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits EWMBEPRITER - 1174
Proceeds from disposal of property HEME  BRER&EZEHRIE
plant and equipment 32(b) 1,773 5,085
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBAB ZREMANFEE 22(a) 11,125 25,172
Interest received BWFIE 2,469 4,797
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—EHE AT 33 (2,592) =
Net cash used in investing activities RERBFABZREFR (49,463) (14816)
Financing activities ROEEE
New unsecured bank borrowings raised MEENEITRRTEN 32(c) 1,092,721 155918
Repayments of unsecured bank borrowings BERIERRITEN 32(c) (1,170,034) (1,238,675)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEEESE 32(c) (82,140) (87,456)
Interest paid 2AFE (49,785) (46,027)
Dividends paid BRE 32(c) (22,191) (20962)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBFAR SR (231,429) (237,202)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRREEEMIEM (L) 38
cash equivalents 139,456 (61,190)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FNHRERFTEEN
of the year 168,955 228,532
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREFHNTE 1,512 1,613
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, FRIRERIFEFEY
represented by bank balances and cash LSRITEGRRIRE 2 26 309,923 168,955

FINEIVENME/ZFFEEMBRE
B —ER e

The notes on page 153 to 319 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

The Group manufactures and sells health and household products. The Company
acts as an investment holding company and the principal activities of the Group are

conducted by its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is PO. Box 309, Ugland House, KYI-1104, Cayman

Islands.

The ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is a subsidiary of Sinomax Enterprises Limited (“Sinomax Enterprises”),

a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

e RRMEE

—REE

FEBLERHERBARBEMO
AABARBEER AR REBNE
BEXHHEIEWNBADRE #1B
E RV

ARBR—ERESESEMAL
MAEMRAT - HE MM ERAMUA
PO. Box 309, Ugland House, KY1-1104,

Cayman Islands °

ARBEBREEEHGRBAAR
REVER L

ERBREHEBACEARAT (T2

BEX) WHBAR Z A8 R—ME
REBRIESEMMRIUNRET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with HKFRS and the disclosure requirements of HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS™)
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622).

HKFRS comprise the following authoritative literature:

. Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
. Hong Kong Accounting Standards

. Interpretations developed by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants.

(i) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for certain trade receivables at fair value through other

comprehensive income which were stated at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 22 EEHERES
(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group ()  FEBEEEFRIAETRAE

The Group has applied the following new and amended standards for its

annual reporting period commencing | January 2023:

Amendments to HKAS | and

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

FET

REBDR2023FEIHIH
RSN EERESEHEER
MU #rsT R &8s 481

FREENEIT EHURNEKE

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 RERBERS
ZRIEHER
F15% (fE2T)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates EREHENFE SHEHNER
(B:1%)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to assets and BRDHENZ S AE-RFEL
liabilities arising from (B:1%) NEERE
a single transaction ERENE
1301
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two BEDHENE % BERKME-
Model Rules (B:1%) THIUE
Rk
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts EEREREED RBAA
0
HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17 ERUBRERN FEMBRSE
E A
HES)
HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and EREMBREEN BREREEY
HKFRS 9 275 HEE]
— Comparative Information FITHRE
AHERE
RAIB9R
-ibaE

The amended standards listed above did not have any impact on the

amounts recognised in prior period and are not expected to significantly

affect the current or future period except amendments to HKAS 2.

BEEBEERAA

BREEBGSEREI2%
(BT ) 5h > LHIEE
SR E—HIE SRR
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HIF & B A H SR R IR
EREARE-

203FEERSE

155



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT IR R MIEE

4= A
777 g |

2

156

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

22

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

()

New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

The amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes require companies to
recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition, give
rise to equal amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences.
They will typically apply to transactions such as leases of lessees
and decommissioning obligations, and will require the recognition of

additional deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The amendment should be applied to transactions that occur on or
after the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. In
addition, entities should recognise deferred tax assets (to the extent
that it is probable that they can be utilised) and deferred tax liabilities at
the beginning of the earliest comparative period for all deductible and

taxable temporary differences associated with:

right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and

i decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities, and the
corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost of the

related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

()

New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments as of 31
December 2022 was not material and hence no adjustment was made

to the beginning retained earnings, or another component of equity.

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group's financial position and
performance for the current and prior years and on the disclosures set

out in these consolidated financial statements.

e RRMEE
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2 EEEREEH @

@

L EEERABIFTETRATIE
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BHE20202% 12831 HFESR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMEE

2

158

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

RNBERETHRES (B

2 EEEREEH @

(i) New and amended standards issued but not yet effective (i)

Certain new and amended standards which have been published that

are not mandatory 3| December 2023 reporting periods and have not

been early adopted by the Group. These amendments are not expected

to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting

periods and on foreseeable future transactions:

EfEfr1EE KL BIRETR
AEIEETER)

UTETFHT BT
BB 8 B2023F12
A3 zREHERRE
AWEAERTRRERR
Moz EBILBEHIE
HERNBEAHAKRERS
HERAIRRENRZE
EpN-Z 3

Effective for annual periods

beginning on or after

RUTEBAHZE
Rl 16 B9 4F BE HAFR £ 20
Amendments to HKAS | Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current | January 2024
BBGFERE I (BITE) RERME/RBUIERE 2041818
Amendments to HKAS | Non-current Liabilities with Covenants | January 2024
BBGFERE I (BITE) I ZERIEREBEE 2041818
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback | January 2024
BBUBREEAS 65 (B5T4) ERBENEEER 2041818
Amendments to Hong Kong Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that | January 2024
Interpretation 5 Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
BEBREESR (BITEH) ERAH G FREREZIRR 2041818
BHERMN DR
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements | January 2024
ERGHERBRK HIEERME L 20241818
BBMBREERE7R (BITE)
Amendments to HKAS 2| Lack of Exchangeability | January 2025
BEBGTERE215 (BF]A) RZ P Rt 2051818

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

EBYHREERE 05K
ERGERE285 (BITX)
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Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture
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To be confirmed
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

22

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(i)

New and amended standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the adoption of
the above new standard and amendments to existing standards would
not have a material impact on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. The Group
intends to adopt the above new standard and amendments to existing

standards when they become effective.

2

e RRMEE

RNBERETHRES (B

2 EEEREEH @

(i)  EREMEEHKERERETR
AEIEETER) ()

EABEFERD FM L
AAET R RIFEEELH
B AT EHAERRR
NAKKRSHBRATRAR
RNRXZEEATE K
SEBN L] ER R
HAEZNET RENE
F DUERHA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2

160

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies

2.3.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and

its subsidiaries.

() Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the

date that control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Business combinations by the Group (except for business
combination under common control) are accounted for using
the acquisition method. Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted

by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries
are shown separately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of financial position

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2

162

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(i) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in
an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid
or received is recognised in an "Other Reserves” within equity

attributable to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(i)

Changes in ownership interests (continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an
investment because of a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another

category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@
2.3.2 Business combinations 232 EBEH

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business
combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets
are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a

subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred;

. liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;

. equity interests issued by the Group;

0 fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent

consideration arrangement, and

. fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate

share of the acquired entity's net identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.2 Business combinations (continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. The excess of the:

. consideration transferred,
. amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
. acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the

acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net
identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised

directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at
the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's incremental
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and

conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@
2.3.2 Business combinations (continued) 232 EHBEH B

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial asset. FARNBRDEAERL
Amounts classified as a financial asset are subsequently remeasured to fair THEE-HKDEATH
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. BEZERHBENRA
FESE MAFEZE

B Rm P
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date HEBEHDMRERET
carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the AW BE 75 SRl B AU UL
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or BHRAERRWELR
losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. MEERmERWEEIREN

BAFEFE-RZRE
M EEENEARRN
BEN R PR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@

233 BUHHBEHE

2.3.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend

received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated

financial statements of the investee's net assets including goodwill,

2.3.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM").

The executive directors of the Group (the “Executive Directors”) are
regarded as the CODM who will review the operating results of the

Group on a consolidated basis, and make strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AT IR R MIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.5 Foreign currency translation

®

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") which is the Company's functional

and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains or losses are presented in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

Transactions and balances (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences
on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences
on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in other

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@
2.3.5 Foreign currency translation (continued) 235 SMEHRE ()
(i) Group companies (i)  FEEHLE
The results and financial positions of all the Group entities MEEBHENE
that have a functional currency different from the presentation EArBENMEEER
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: BER HEREME
TR T 5
BMEREIER:

(@)  assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of () BEGHBR
financial position presented are translated at the closing MRPNEE
rate at the date of that consolidated statement of financial kEBEREEH
position; RSB
nER BRI

MEXRHKE ;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i) Group companies (continued)

(b) income and expenses for each consolidated statement
of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the

transactions); and

() all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate. Currency translation

differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@
2.3.6 Investment properties 236 REME
Investment property, principally comprising land and buildings, is held REMEFER LM KIE
for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and FH EFEENRE
that is not occupied by the Group. It also includes properties that SROBEEWATEAE
are being constructed or developed for future use as investment RIRES M E F M D
properties. Investment property is initially measured at cost, including FHAERGA LS
related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs. TERBETRYENRRE
After initial recognition, investment properties are carried at carrying BRAREMENNE-
values, representing cost less depreciation and impairment provision. REMENBEA KT
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their R BEEBANRZMA
cost over their estimated useful lives of 20 years. RERANERRE) o1

MR E  RENER
BREE (EHARITER
RERER) TR -TETRE
REBESE  LEADE

TR0 A B EHR 0 B
Hpg Ao

172 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@

237 FEHEEME

2.3.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,

assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
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identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows ZEEREBAR ARG
from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non- THEBEEATERAE
financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible ERAEFEREEMER

reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2

174

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities

() Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the follow

measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income or through profit or

loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and liabilities and the contractual

terms of the cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Classification (continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be
recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income (OCI).
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FvOQ).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its

business model for managing those assets changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@
2.3.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued) 238 RERAMETHEERER
#)

(i) Recognition and derecognition () PRI
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised UERAAEEN
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase EMEEANRS
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights H (Bl AEBE KA
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or BEIHLEZEE
have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially EH) BR-BAE
all the risks and rewards of ownership. NZEEHEE

WEIR £ R 8 R #
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or
liability at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed

in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely

payment of principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash

flow characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement

categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

. Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in “other
losses, net” together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@

238 RERAMEZHMEERRE
#)

2.3.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Measurement (continued) (i) FE #B)

BHEIA (@

Debt instruments (continued)

. FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual ERHMEE
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the Wi ATE
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal FIBR © A IER
and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in BHRERE
the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for katEEm
the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest EEMFEN
income and foreign exchange gains and losses which BEE H&ZE
are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset BEENRERM
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously EBEAZMX
recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or ERHEH
loss and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income ERBEENE
from these financial assets is included in finance income BEAM 2 E K

@I AFE
fREt2-RE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line item

in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2

182

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iv)  Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. For other
receivables and deposits, the Group applies the general approach
in assessing the expected credit loss. See note 3.1(ii)(b) for further

details of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.

Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report

2 RREERGHBREE (B

23 HttAJsEBEENE St HREE

@

238 RERAMEZHMEERRE

#)

()

B

AEBRAELEE
2G4 B A% B L
AREBEMER
Wam N TESE
MEBIABRN
HRHEERIE FIE
BHRBER EZRT
FERBELRE
BINTE °

& 5 R IE
EOAEERAS
BB RS ERE
ST AT A
ERBARESH
BHRBBEERT A
B 57 P& W R T8 B
58 o B H AN FE U R
kEE AEERA
— A AT GBS
EEBE -FNER
FEFBERENZ
FANE—FHE
ARG b) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.9 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow statement,

cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call
with financial institutions with original maturities of three months or less

that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

2.3.10 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (note 30).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the

proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@
23.11 Trade and other payables 2311 BEREMETZHE
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services B 5% KHEAMENRIBER
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are BEERAMAEEBERM
unpaid. These amounts are classified as current liabilities if payment is due ERkREMAZCTNE
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business Eo M MEBMAR—F
if longen). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. FIUT MMHEEELE

BES A RERER)
ZENEREARDE
R RARFRBAERE

5]
These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently ZERBNRRATERE
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. = HEBERABRMN XX
BB E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREERTHBEREH @&
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HthosEBEEMN S BRBEE
@
2.3.12 Borrowings 2312 1&ar

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption amount is recognised profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the
loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawn down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as prepayment
for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to

which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income as finance costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
6
2.3.12 Borrowings (continued) 2312 &7 ()

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12

months after the reporting period.

2.3.13 Borrowing costs 2313

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their

intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted

from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period which they are

incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.14 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on
the current period's taxable income based on the applicable income tax
rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and

liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the Company's
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the

tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AT IR R MIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.14 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(i)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset

is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.14 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(i)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amount will be available to utilise those temporary

differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the company
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
777 g |

2

190

AT IR R MIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.14 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(i)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and
when the deferred tax balances related to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.15 Employee benefits

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not

recognised until the time of leave.

®

Retirement benefit costs

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans which are available to all relevant employees.
These plans are generally funded through payments to schemes

established by government or trustee-administered funds.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefit relating to employee service in the current

and prior periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@
2.3.15 Employee benefits (continued) 2315 EEH#EF (&)
() Retirement benefit costs (continued) () BEEFEE (B
The Group also contributes on a monthly basis to various XEBETEA
defined contribution plans and other employee social security HipE NRHEA
plans, including pension, medical, other welfare benefits, organised (MhE)) BEEMZ
and administered by the relevant governmental authorities in 8 R € 75t 8l
respect of its employees in the People’s Republic of China (the HtEEHERE
"PRC"). The Group contributes to these plans based on certain stEIME BEEE
percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to certain BN EAESEE
ceiling, as stipulated by the relevant regulations. WRAE -BERHE
EF 58 - AEE
REEBERRE
AN EEHERE
METEDLBZ
FstE MO EES
FER-
Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred. HZLEENER
REERH-

192 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@
2.3.15 Employee benefits (continued) 2315 [ESEF (B)

(i) Bonus entitlements (i)  TEALHEF
The expected cost of bonus is recognised as a liability when the ExEEREER
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation for payment 1 AR 75 M 3% B X
of bonus as a result of services rendered by employees and a TEREIETEREX
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. H7E41 BEBREMR
SER] FEM (G 5B 0 7E
ALBY TR HA B A B ST

mBfREe
Liabilities for bonus are expected to be settled within 12 months FANOR=RESERENN
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they 12188 B8 3%
are settled. BERERZMN

YRR
2.3.16 Share-based payments 2316 URrBER T
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the MR = BRI ER TS
share option scheme, including Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Post- EoERESE (BEE
IPO Share Option Scheme. RAFREERBRESTE
RERAREERBRE
58 mEERM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2

194

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.16 Share-based payments (continued)

Employee share option

The fair value of options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme and Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is recognised as an
employee benefits expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value

of the options granted:

. including any market performance conditions (e.g. the entity's

share price)

. excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance
vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period),

and

. including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g. the
requirement for employees to save or hold shares for a specific

period of time).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMrGEBEENESHBRME
@
2.3.16 Share-based payments (continued) 2316 URHBEETZ (B)

Employee share options (continued) ESERE (B
The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the A RENRERRE (G
period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be X P B 33 E 55 B 1R AR RO B
satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the ) Bl e REHREAR
number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market K ERRBREBIFNSRE
vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to REBRBIEHETEBRR
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment FTEBNEREHE G
to equity. sto HRBm AR ER

REME (NA) WEE
B Szl okt
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREERTHBEREH @&
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HthosEBEEMN S BRBEE
@
2.3.17 Provisions 2317 #E

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations
are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can
be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating

losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the

same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the management's best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the
present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest

expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.18 Earnings/(losses) per share

®

(i)

Basic earnings/(losses) per share

Basic earnings/(losses) per share is calculated by dividing;

the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company, excluding
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares

issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings/(losses) per share to take into

account:

the after income tax effect of interest and other financing
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the
weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would
have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive

potential ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2 RREBEERDHBERES @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued) 23 HMAEBEEN G BERHEE
@
2.3.19 Leases 2319 HE

As a lessor TEAHTAN
The Group classifies all leases as operating leases as the Group will not HRAEBERF T EERBE
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership HEERBRZASBORA
of the underlying asset. Rental income from operating leases where the B ROl AEBERRE
Group is a lessor, is recognised within “other income” in the consolidated HENEAKEHEE-
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a EEEAEBEAZKER

straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in
obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the
same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position based on their nature.
The Group did not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for

assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

2.3.20 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair values when
there is a reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the

Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to

compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities and current liabilities as
deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis

over the expected lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3

200

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, and

price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out by
the senior management of the Company under policies approved by the Board
of Directors of the Company. The Finance Department identifies and evaluates
financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units to cope
with overall risk management as well as specific areas such as market risk, credit

risk and liquidity risk.
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3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

()

Market risk

@

Forejgn exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the Mainland China (“the PRC"),
Hong Kong, United States (“the U.S.”) and Vietnam.

The functional currency of the Hong Kong reporting entities
is HK$ and the transactions are mostly denominated in HK$
and United States dollar (“US$"). For transactions or balances
denominated in US$ are reasonably stable with the HK$ under
the Linked Exchange Rate System, the directors are of the opinion
that the Company does not have significant foreign exchange
risk, the exposure to fluctuation in exchange rates will only arise
from the translation to the presentation currency of the Group.

Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.

The functional currency of the PRC reporting entities is Renminbi
("RMB") and the transactions are mostly denominated in RMB
and HK$.The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange control

promulgated by the PRC government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

()

Market risk (continued)

@

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The functional currency of Vietnamese reporting entities is
Vietnamese dong (“VND") and the transactions are mostly
dominated in VND and US$.The conversion of VND into foreign
currencies is subjected to the rules and regulation of the foreign

exchange control promulgated by the State Bank of Vietnam.

At 31 December 2023, if Hong Kong dollar had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against Renminbi with all other variables
held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been
approximately HK$3,013,000 higher/lower (2022: post-tax loss for
the year would have been approximately HK$3,062,000 lower/
higher), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of Renminbi denominated bank deposits, unsecured

bank borrowings, trade receivables and trade payables.
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3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

()

Market risk (continued)

()

Interest rate risk

The Group's main interest rate risk arises from long-term
borrowings with variable rates, which expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. The Group's borrowings and receivables
are carried at amortised cost. The Group monitors closely its
interest rate exposure by maintaining an appropriate floating
rate on borrowings and considers hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise. The position is regularly
monitored and evaluated by reference of anticipated changes in

market interest rate.

3

4= A
Wi 3

AT IR R MIEE

MBRERERE (B

3l

M ERER (8

®

5 EEE (&)

®)

A A

FEBENTENX
BB B LT ER
XA ENRHAE
o R EEMERSE
EEERERERN
KRk REENGE
R K BE W IR Th BA
BIER AR o A5
EEBEFEEL
BBy F B B RE )
B HA KRR I
REERZEH T
BAMEERR 12
EHHNERER
ZEEHEE KT
EA RN

BEEEBMRAT 203FERS

203



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMEE

3

204

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Market risk (continued)

(b)  Interest rate risk (continued)

Borrowings at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest-rate risk. As at 31 December 2023, if interest rate
had increased/decreased by 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis
points) with all other variable constant, the Group's post-
tax profit and total comprehensive profit would have been
approximately HK$1,845,000 lower/higher (2022: post-tax loss
and total comprehensive loss would have been approximately
HK$2,176,000 higher/lower).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

repayment history comprise a significant proportion of the total
sales. The Group's historical experience in collection of trade and

other receivables falls within the recorded allowances.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 HBERER @
(i) Credit risk (i) EEEE
(@) Risk management @@ EARERE

Credit risk arises if a customer or other counterparty fails to meet &P HMEF

its contractual obligations. The credit risk of the Group mainly FEEABITHAHK

arises from trade and other receivables and deposits with banks B AELEEER

and financial institutions. o AEEMNEEHR
STERBEEZR
H th FE W B M K
ROKREREER
Fke

The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure AEBTEBRR

to any financial institutions. Substantially all the deposits in banks 2R B 1 ol & Bh 1%

are held in reputable financial institutions located in Hong Kong BHNEERR A&

and the PRC, which management believes are of high credit BRI RITEDR

quality and management does not expect any losses arising from BEATERF

non-performance by these counterparties. FEFENE K
B EEERARH
TREENEED
ERY BHPAEH
RZEBFHIE
MEOAMELEEM
B

The Group also has policies in place to ensure that sales of EEETRBEHR

products are made to customers with an appropriate credit UEFrmAEaE

history. Sales to large or long-established customers with good EECHEMNE R HE

EEm-MAHGR
fFiEME B AR
AREERHEN
HERENEES
7o AERBERE
B 5 Kk H & %
TR BRI B
ACERARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EEEE )
(b)  Impairment of financial assets ) EHEENFE
The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to the rEEEMBRRE
expected credit loss model: HESHEBEREL
RNEHEE
. trade receivables at amortised cost, C Y2 488 84 PR A 5t
BZE5REN
ME
. bill receivables, other receivables and deposits C FEKWEE H
il FE IR K %
Ea
While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the BERERRESE
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment BYNHLBERBTER
loss was immaterial. PR S R EI®
RBREEX BEHE
E BB E BRI A
BEX-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

()

Trade receivables at amortised cost

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics

and the days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3

208

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles
of sales over a period of 12 months and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within the period.
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables. The Group has identified the Gross
Domestic Product index of the countries, export index,
and Consumer Price Index to be the most relevant factors,
and accordingly adjust the historical loss rate based on

expected changes in these factors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
net impairment losses of financial assets in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited

against the same line item.

The Group uses two categories for those trade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loss allowance is

determined for each of those categories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERRE (&)
(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) () EHEENEE (B
() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued) () REHRAE
B2 EHEK
A (8)
Measurement of expected credit loss on individual basis BEEF =8
EERE
For trade receivables relating to corporate customers B ARER
with publicly-available credit rating, they are assessed EETHRHNE
individually for impairment allowance. As at 31 December XERB#AN
2023, the balances of such individually assessed trade 8 5’ IE
receivables and the corresponding loss allowance are B 5 T & 5t
HK$50,150,000 (2022: HK$113,526,000) and HK$85,000 RABAEREE-
(2022: HK$3,820,000), respectively. F22023%F 128
3IH %EE
B ENE S
P& W0 IR B
DU B R &S
BEEDHA
50,150,000
7t (20224 ¢
113,526,000
7T) 85,0007
70 (20226 ¢
3,820,000 %
7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual basis

(continued)

One of the customers that are assessed individually for
impairment allowance, Serta Simmons Bedding, LLC
(“SSB"), informed the Group in February 2023 that it
has entered into a restructuring support agreement with
key financial stakeholders. SSB has initiated a voluntary
prearranged court-supervised process under Chapter
Il of the US, Bankruptcy Code in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas.
During the year, subsequent recoveries of the full amount

are credited.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERRE (&)
(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) ) ZHEELRE B
() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued) () REHRAE
BZE5RNK
MR (&)
Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis HEF=TEH
EERE
Other than those trade receivables which were assessed PRz EERET
by individual basis, trade receivables have been grouped HH B 5 eI
based on shared similar credit risk characteristics and the MBI B S
days past due. FEWRIETH 1R
BHAENEM
EERBFE
KgAK BOE
T4
The following tables present the balances of gross carrying TREHR
amounts and loss allowance in respect of the collectively 2023F %2022
assessed trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 and F12A3IHE
2022 B H R ET A5 B9
8 5 R’ WRIE
MERE(E4EEE
KREEEEE
B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBEREE G
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERRE (&)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) () EHREENBE &
() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued) () REHRAE
B2 EHEK

A ()
Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis HEF=TEH
(continued) SE5BE @

Past due
k]

Not ~ Within 3160 6190  9I-180 181365  Ower
yetdue 30 days days days days days 365 Days Total
31 December 2023 WBENAIE WEAE  30AA 3IE60B 6IZ%A 9IEI80R 181F365A BiE365H &t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
TEr TEr TEn TEz Tz TERT TER  TER

Trade receivables BRRYWFE 305,174 125701 44270 10215 3533 764l 16849 523383
Expected loss rate REEEX 1.5% 29% 33%  112%  34% 84% 3% 58%
Loss allowance BERE 4664 3590 1,457 1,149 108 6295 12331 3059
Past due
B

Not — Withn 3160 6190  91-180  181-365 Over
yetdue 30 days days days days days 365 Days Total
31 December 2022 W0ENE3IR BABE  0HA 3IEOE 61Z0H 9IEI0H 181ZE365H BiB365H st
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HK$000  HKSO000
TEr ThEr TEx ThEx TEx TEx TExn  TExn

Trade receivables BRRWEE 57334 10500 9098 8255 l16l4 12808 3473l
Expected loss rate BlbEx 35% 43%  A4I8% "% TA4E 643% 8.1%
Loss allowance kG 2602 20 455 380 2925 8642 8241 28709
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

()

214

Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

(continued)

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at

MBRERERE (B
3 MEBEEER @
(i) 1ERERE &)
(b) ZEEENFE (&
() RESEAAS
B2 E5EI

A (8)

HEFERH
SEEE (@)

R12B318/

31 December reconcile to the opening loss allowances as 8 5’ IE
follows: BiEEHENER
MR R
BRWOE
2023 2022
20234 20226
HK$000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Opening loss allowance at | January 7318 | B VR ES18 5B 32,529 26,801
Reversal of previous loss allowance B [Ol3@E Y EIEEEH (3,735) (548)
Loss allowance recognised in profit AR IBMHEDHEBREE
or loss during the year 5,056 13252
Receivables written off during F PR A U BT 85 e U R IR
the year as uncollectible (2,533) (6,135)
Exchange differences b (638) (841)
Closing loss allowance RI2B3I BRER BB E
at 31 December 30,679 32,529
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERRE (&)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) () EHREENBE &

() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued) () REHRAE

B2 EHEK

A (8)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis HEF=TEH

(continued) SE5BE @
Trade receivables are written off where there is no NIl
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there Wy [o] 78 HA B
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst M iH B % R
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment I I S
plan with the group, and a failure to make contractual Er Uk (ol B
payments for a period of greater than 360 days past due. BREE (H
mEE) B85
NERREE
EMEME
A REHBE
360K I £ 1F

CEANE
Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as 87 EURIE
net impairment losses within statement of profit and loss. B9 R B 5 18 Th
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off REBRERAE
are credited against the same line item. AREBEF
YR HE
W [B] 38 13 1 85
MIETh s A

FIRHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EEEE )
(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) () EHEENEE (B
() Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued) () REHRAE
BZE5RNK
MR (&)
Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis HEF=TEH
(continued) SEB1E @&
The Group also uses trade receivables factoring facilities rEEFEHE
to manage the credit risk of its trade debtors. As at 31 5 R IB R
December 2023, trade receivables of approximately ERmEEEE
HK$34,129,000 (2022: HK$22,962,000) was subject WHRIENEE
to non-recourse factoring arrangements and therefore BB 0 722023
derecognised. FI12B318 >
85 BIWRIA
934,129,000
7 (20026
22,962,000
7t) BRI &
BRERER
B EEE#R
IERESE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include bill
receivables, other receivables and deposits. Management
considers that the credit risk of these balances has not
increased significantly except bills receivables since initial
recognition with reference to the counterparty historical
default rate and current financial position. The impairment
provision is determined based on the |2-month expected

credit losses which was material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) 1EEERE (%)
(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) () EHEENEE (B
(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost(continued) (i) YREIER AT
ENHME R
BE (B
While cash and cash equivalents, time deposits and BERE KRR
pledged bank deposits are also subject to the impairment TEEBY T
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss HEFKRBER
was immaterial. RIBTERL
EBTERY
BREZEAS
95% By Rl B Z
K EBE®EE
AR E B 1R I
FEXe
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3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Liquidity risk

With prudent liquidity risk management, the Group aims to maintain
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and ensure the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of available financing, including short-term
bank borrowing. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate amount
of cash and cash equivalents and flexibility in funding through having

available sources of financing.

As at 31 December 2023, the cash and cash equivalents of the Group
approximated HK$309,923,000 (2022: HK$168,955,000).

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 requires a term loan that contains a clause
that gives the lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time
shall be classified in total by the borrower as current in the statement
of financial position. This is irrespective of whether a default event has
occurred and notwithstanding any other terms and maturity stated in the
loan agreement. As at 31 December 2023, borrowings of approximately
HK$29,644,000 (2022: HK$67,253,000) was classified as current liabilities

due to this requirement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

3

220

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iij)  Liquidity risk (continued)

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve
(comprising the undrawn borrowing facilities below) and cash and cash

equivalents (note 26) on the basis of expected cash flows.

This is generally carried out at local level in the operating companies of
the Group, in accordance with practice and limits set by the Group. These
limits vary by location to take into account the liquidity of the market in
which the entity operates. In addition, the Group's liquidity management
policy involves projecting cash flows in major currencies and considering
the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance
sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements

and maintaining debt financing plans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

e RRMEE

MBRERERE (B

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(iii)  Liquidity risk (continued) (i) TBEEZEE (&)
The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into relevant TRUAEENERER
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of the ARSI AR R B H
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed BEHEREGHNIHEN
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. ReREABIET DM o R
KENTEARMESY
b A
On demand Total
or within One to Two to Over  undiscounted Carrying
one year two years five years five years cash flows amounts
RER KUERRE
£ —E@E C"ELf BRI  NELE REE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
At 31 December 2023 #2023% 128318
Trade and other payables BAREMENTE 675,364 = = = 675,364 675,364
Bil payables ENEE 31,183 - - - 31,183 31,183
Lease liabilties and interest payments T E&ERF S 85,828 69,184 138,549 23,692 317,253 280,740
Bank borrowings and interest payments  SR{TERURA B IR 465,386 = = = 465,386 441,878
1,257,761 69,184 138,549 23,692 1,489,186 1,429,165
At 31 December 2022 ’200% 128318
Trade and other payables 85 REMMERFIE 414611 = = = 414611 414611
Bil payables iNES 5233 = = = 5233 5233
Lease liabilties and interest payments T E B BRI SUH 77502 62915 142,535 63021 345973 299,741
Bank borrowings and interest payments  R{TERURF B 550,006 = = = 550,006 522,259
1,047,352 62915 142,535 63,021 1315823 1,241,844
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

32

Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to
continue as a going concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis
of the gearing ratio, which calculated as net debt (as defined below) divided by
total equity (as shown in the balance sheet, including non-controlling interests).
Accordingly, the net debt to equity ratio as at 31 December 2023 and 2022

were as follows:

3

MBRERERE (B

32

BAER

AEEEREAZERARE
AEERFBEEENEN UF
BRRFERLOBRBEMET
MEFRNTUKREFREE
ERBLUB D ERRAE

RERNREELRB K&
EAREBERNTRENRE S
B RRRBEELS BHITHR
HHEEELURDEF

HERNBT—B XEFRE
EEBBXETFELA BEES
BENFEE (BRER T K
UnEE (WEEABXRM
T BIEEERER) SHE
It > 1220238 20224 12831 H
NEEBHERLEENT .

2023 2022
20235 20224F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Unsecured bank borrowings RIRRIRITER 44],878 522,259
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEBY (309,923) (168,955)
Net debt FaE 131,955 353,304
Total equity B 918,490 886,940
Net debt to equity ratio FEEHERILE 14% 40%
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

33

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at fair value
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 by level of inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure the fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels

within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities (level 1);

inputs other than quoted prices included within level | that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or

indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market

data. (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3)

e RRMEE

3 MEBERER @

33 AFEGE

TREFEQTFEMAZME
EM@ASEZBR DA
EBN2023F 52022F 12831
HEAFEIKRZEMIA.
ERBABBRILE T XXMM
DEFALNTEERERZ=E
B4R

- HBREERERERKRE
BHSHNRE RERR)
(E—8) ;

- BEHEGRNBABRIL
FEERE-—BRABE
B B (M
B%) st BNREE
B REREZE) ;&

- BEHERNBABRIL
FREITRENHHEH
B (A RERA AR
(B=RE)
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e MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

3 MEBERER @

33 AFEGE @

The following table presents the Group's financial assets carried at fair value as TR AEBN2023F K
at 31 December 2023 and 2022: 2022F 12831 BRAFESIK
ZERMEE
Fair value Valuation technique
Financial asset Fair value as at hierarchy and key inputs Sensitivity
fhERMR
EWEE RUTRBZATE ATFEER FBHARE HRE
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 20226
12H31H 12A318
Trade receivables at fair 34,129 22962 Level 3 * Discounted cash flows * An increase in risk-
value through other E=E - MRBEERE adjusted discount rates

comprehensive income
BBEMEEKERAT
BYR2 B 57 EUWHIA

There were no transfers between levels |, 2 and 3 for recurring fair value

measurements during the year For transfer into and out of level 3 measurement

see (iii) below.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy

levels as at the end of the year.

224
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* Estimated settlement
period from these
trade receivables and
risk adjusted discount
rates of 6.01% to
751% (31 December
2022: 5.07% to 6.57%)
per annum quoted by
the banks

- ZEESRERIEZ

fasHEN BRI R IR

TRz RERREN

REATFEOINE
751% (20224E 12831
H : 5.07%ZE657%)

used would result in a
slight decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.
PR{E AR LR SR R 4T
BE FARBERRTF
BEEMRELD > R2ZTF
SR o

An increase in
estimated settlement
period used would
result in a decrease

in fair value, and vice
versa.

PR{s8 A B0 1y SHE (T HA
B EARERATE
B R 2R

REEMLAFTESEMS &
NE—B - F_BRE=ZEZ
BUEESER EHEEBAREY
BoEEHEBEE T ) °

AEENBRDEERD

EEUN

TEHERZENEAEL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

33

Fair value estimation (continued)

()

(i)

Financial instruments in level |

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based
on quoted market prices at the statement of financial position date. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, price services
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price already incorporates the market's assumptions with respect
to changes in economic climate such as rising interest rates and inflation,

as well as changes due to ESG risk.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data
and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument

is included in level 2.

3

e RRMEE

MBRERERE (B

33

BEEBEERAA

AF{afLE (@
() E—EHEETA

(i)

HEBRT SRR ZNER
TENRAFEDREME
iR B HIP | B
Bo-MRETBAXZF
RiHm KRR TTEEES
EERFAEERBEES
REHER BZFRE
DATHERZERES
EERER MZTHER
MEEMH FIRMER
MAT BN ERRERE
AEFEBRBEELUKRIE
Bt ERELRRBEE
By fRER

—EE#HIA

REAERTHEENS
RIA (FmBHITET
B)NAFENBGEER
mEE BEMNAIERE
mHEE DRBIEN
REME e ME —ERT
BENATERRNMBE
REBHAFEEHE A
ZERTIRIABTE-
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(i)

3

MR

T8 @

33 AFEGE @

Financial instruments in level 3 (i) FE=EBHEMTA

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable H—IENZHEERSHIL
market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for FERITBREDHZHE
instruments where ESG risk gives rise to a significant unobservable BlZeMIANAST=
adjustment. Mo-MRB-HERER
REREsIEERTITRE

AENTRAEILER
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments at RARihEBREMEER
fair value through other comprehensive income includes the present RARATEIENEHRT
value of the estimated future cash flows at the fixed rate stated in ANFEMERTEER
factoring agreements plus SOFR. The group did not change any valuation RIBHZETPRENEEF
techniques in determining the level 2 and level 3 fair values. E N ESOFRMH EF B K 2&
RERENRE-EHRT
E_BBKRE=BHRAT
B RERTENEE

el (B 42 9l o
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the TREJNEE223F K
years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022. 2025 12831 HIEFER
F=EIAMEI-

2023 2022

20235 20224F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TAT

As at | January RIAIH 22,962 39,833

Transfer from trade receivables HiRE B 5 EWEIE 352,449 360,137
Settlement 4@ (341,492) (377,302)

Fair value change NEEEE 210 294

As at 31 December 1128318 34,129 22962
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

34

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future event and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default,

insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counter party.

e RRMEE

3 MEBERER @

34

IREEMTA

ERAR LR RNITERNF
RHERIZERERRLF
BEEFEUBEEENRE
BEER EHEERETRE
REMRAEBHE MPREANKS
FMHRRKREW AENTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E MR RMEE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which,
by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise

judgement in applying the group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(@)  Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected loss rates. The group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group's past historical data, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key

assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in note 3.1 (ii)(b).

(b)  Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated cost to completion and selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. Management

reassesses the estimation at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

©

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill

and intangible assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment;
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined based on the
higher of value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs of disposal. These
calculations require the use of judgements and estimates. Management
judgement is required in the area of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values
may not be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing
the assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the impairment test and as

a result affect the Group's financial condition and results of operations.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(d)

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are
some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated taxes based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences would impact the current tax and

deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses
are recognized when management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilized. Where the expectation is different from the original estimates, such
difference will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets and income tax in

the period in which such estimates are changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Executive Directors have been identified as the CODM.The Executive Directors review

the Group's internal reports in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group is currently organised into the following three geographical markets:

China market Manufacture and sale of health and household products and
polyurethane foam for customers located in the Mainland China (the

“PRC"), Hong Kong and Macau.

North American market Manufacture and sale of health and household products for customers
located in the United States (the “U.S."), Canada and other North

American countries.

Europe and other Manufacture and sale of heafth and household products and foam for
overseas markets customers located in overseas except for those customers located in

the China market and North American market.

e RRMEE

AR EER

BTEERIEAEREBRRE
PTESERAEROABRSE U
FEERRDEER EEEREX

EFREEELENE -
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REEEfme

B R AN AEHNER (PETER
IR LETHERHN &
ERIFERERKE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEER @
()  Segment revenue 0  2EUA
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue by operating and reportable TXHEINBREEROREDE
segments: DN AREBWARNDH
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F 12831 HEFE
Europe
North and other
China American overseas
market market markets Total
BRM R E fth
PETHE SIE R BINHIE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000

FAET FAET FAET FAET

External sales HIMYE 1,589,634 1,384,678 634,582 3,608,894
Cost of sales HE A (2,689,171)
Other income Htnr A 27,866
Net impairment losses of THEENHESERE

financial assets (1,321)
Other gains, net Htnllas o %28 14,868
Selling and distribution expenses 5 K288 5 &2 (458,364)
Administrative expenses TR (250,197)
Finance costs AR (49,785)
Research and development costs Bff &% A ZX (80,178)
Profit before income tax BRPTISHR AT F] 122,612
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEHER @
(i)  Segment revenue (continued) 0  IEUA @
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE200NFENARILEEE
Europe
North and other
China American overseas
market market markets Total
BN B E A
PET S IEETHH BINTIH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAET THET TET THET

External sales HIMYE 1,490,264 1,214,227 466,987 3,171,478
Cost of sales HE R (2,529216)
Other income Hig A 34616
Net impairment losses of TREENNEBEZE

financial assets (17,938)
Other gains, net H e o 258 25,542
Selling and distribution expenses 4 K $5BI% (424,547)
Administrative expenses THRX (188,695)
Finance costs FATE LA (46,027)
Research and development costs Bff &% B 2K (74,423)
Loss before income tax PRETS IR ATES 1B (49.210)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEHER @
(i)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers i EBERANKAES
(a)  Type of major products ) FEEREE
Revenue recognised at a point in time during the year is as follows: REANREEREMEDN
WA :

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TAET

Sales of health and household products & BB R KB E @ 2,365,437 1,980,255

Sales of polyurethane foam HERIEEK 1,243,457 1,191,223

Total AR5t 3,608,894 3,171478

(b)  Geographical markets (b) HETE
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is AEERBINIR R UA
presented based on the location of the retail shops and concession MEMDNEZEERTE
counters or location of customers for wholesales. BEMEUERRERR
FREUEZS -

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT TATT

China market HREITIS
—The PRC —HE 1,295,173 1,241,615
~ Hong Kong, Macau and others — & RPIRE MM S 294,461 248,649
North American market EEMmH

~The US. —-% 1,280,804 1,128,805

~ Others —Hth 103,874 85,422

Europe and other overseas markets BN & B g I I5 634,582 466987

Total 85t 3,608,894 3,171,478
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEER @
(i)  Other segment information iy EfthoErEr
(a)  Geographical information @) HEER
Information about the Group's non-current assets (excluding other rEEBERBEE (18
receivables and deferred tax assets) is presented based on the ¥ HLfth 78 W R IB R MR AR
geographic location of the assets: BEE)NERNREE
MHEME 25

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TAT

The US. ESEl 405,703 461943

The PRC a3 283,880 268,660

Hong Kong P 24,655 16,877

Vietnam 2] 27,483 27,667

741,721 775,147

(b)  Information about major customer b FEEFHEH
Revenue from customer contributing over 10% of the total revenue to FAWALRERLZRA
the Group during the years is as follows: [0%A EHNERIT :

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TAT

Customer A ZRAA 313,393 329664
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEER @
(iv) Liabilities related to contracts with customers v HERENERNEE
The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with FEEERIAUTHEEREYN
customers: BRENERE:
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHTT
Receipt in advance from customers for the sales TERNE P MRBEMAREEMRBENR
of health and household products 15,629 [1,993
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the year was TRIITFEARIDEALESAH
related to carried forward contract liabilities. BEBHENBRAEEE.
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT TFHATT
Sales of health and household products HERBARBESD 11,993 14,837
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

v)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods sold or services
performed, stated net of discounts, returns and value-added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the specific criteria have been met for each of the

Group's activities, as described below.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of goods or services is
transferred to a customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods and services may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods and services is transferred

over time if the Group’s performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

. does not creates an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the

Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed

to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a

point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

v)

Accounting policies of revenue recoghnition (continued)

When determining the transaction price to be allocated to different
performance obligations, the Group first determines the service fees that
the Group entitles in the contract period and adjusts the transaction price
for variable considerations and significant financing component, if any. The
Group includes in the transaction price some of all of an amount of variable
considerations only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the

uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents the
contract in the consolidated statement of financial position as a contract related
asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship between the entity's

performance and the customer's payment.

A contract related asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods and services that the Group has transferred to a customer or
cost to obtain a contract. A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to a consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if

only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of
consideration that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service
to the customer, the Group presents the contract liability when the payment is
made or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the
Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from

the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

v)

Accounting policies of revenue recoghnition (continued)

The following is a description of the accounting policy for the principal revenue

streams of the Group.

@

Revenue from sales of health and household products — Retail

For sales of health and household products through the Group's retail
network, which comprising self-operated stand-alone retail shops,
concession counters in department stores, revenue is recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being at the point the customer
purchases and receives the goods at the retail shops and concession

counters in department stores or when the goods are delivered.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer
purchases the goods and takes delivery in store or makes an order
online. Under the Group's standard contract term, the end customer has
no right to refund nor exchange for most of the household products,

including pillows and bedding products.

For sales of health and household products on internet, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred to the customers,
being at the point the goods are delivered to and received by the
customers. Delivery occurs when the goods have been delivered to the
customer’s specific location. When the customers initially purchase the
goods online, the transaction price received by the Group is recognised
as a contract liability until the goods have been delivered to the

customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMEE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(v)  Accounting policies of revenue recognition (continued)

@)

(b)

Revenue from sales of health and household products — Retail

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer
purchases the goods and takes delivery in store or makes an order
online. Under the Group's standard contract term, the end customer has

no right to exchange nor refund.

Revenue from sales of polyurethane foam and health and household

products — Wholesale

For sales of health and household products to the wholesalers, revenue is
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when the
goods have been delivered to and received by the wholesalers' specific
location, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the buyer's

acceptance of the products.

Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the wholesaler; and either the wholesaler has accepted the products
in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions
have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for

acceptance have been satisfied.

Under the Group's standard contract term, the customer has no rights to
return once the goods are accepted by the buyers. The Group generally

allows a credit period ranging from 7 days to 120 days upon delivery.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

OTHER INCOME 6  HffulA
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAT
Interest income from bank deposits IRITEFZABHA 2,133 [,862
Interest income from cash consideration receivables EWIREREZF BBA 897 1,379
Imputed interest income from rental deposits HEZE 2 s FRIRA 1,329 1,420
Interest income from investment in subleases NEKEZFEWA 156 136
Government subsidies (note a) R RaRG (Fifsta) 8,347 11,975
Rental income HEWA 6,752 10,948
Others Hith 8,252 6,896
27,866 34616
Note: FE
a) The amount mainly represents government grants provided by PRC government a) ZEBFEEPREBUTREBRI

related to foreign capital injection, and new material technology development projects
which s in cooperation with the local PRC government (2022: The amount mainly
represents government grants provided by PRC government related to foreign capital
injection, and new material technology development projects which is in cooperation
with the local PRC government and salaries and wages subsidies received from the

government for the use of paying wages of employees due to COVID-19).

b) In March 2024, the Group received a compensation of RMB7,000,000 from a former b)
employee in relation to his breach of the confidentiality and non-compete agreement.
The remaining compensation will be recognised upon the satisfaction of certain

conditions set out in the settlement agreement.

BEEREPEMA BN & EET
B 4 1) 452 9l R 25 18 B 4B R BV LAY
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RREERIETERAPEM S
BT & 1R 1T BT A I 552 41 B 45 18
B 18 B B9 BT 476 BN K (R 3 T A 1B
BRKENARE S REIENE
SR IERH o

112024538 AE BRI — %A E
BRERGERFEER L HAEMS
T HIEZ1E A B #7,000,0007T © FIgRES
BRPRENBRIBEARENET
RAEBRED -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

242

OTHER GAINS, NET

7 Hftao B8R

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TATT
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment &Y BB KRR ENUWE, (E518) 1,211 (1819)
Gain on early termination of right-of-use assets RERI-FAEEENRR = 31
Loss on initial recognition of investment in subleases BRERDHRENGE (761) -
Net exchange differences FERERRFEE 14,418 27,330
14,868 25542

FINANCE COSTS 8 MEBMAE

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TET

Interest on bank borrowings IRITETAE 29,829 23,736
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEHNE 15,233 18,180
Interest and charges on factoring of trade receivables ~ IHIEE 5 RINFIBREZF ENER 4,723 4,111
49,785 46,027
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

EXPENSES BY NATURE 9 RHEEIDHREZ
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FH7T
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BRARYNEERE 2,078,371 [,959,515
Employee benefits expenses (note 10) BERMEX (M) 523,584 482,682
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERE 1,778 |,778
Auditor's remuneration ZEEEN &
~ Audit service —EBLRH 3,110 3,000
— Non-audit service —IFERH 880 876
Bank charges RITERA 12,595 10,030
Concessionaire commission for department store BELBRHERTRERE (i)
counters (note) 37,281 39811
Expenses relating to short-term or low value leases BIRHNEEEHRERRCMAX 10,370 1,902
Depreciation of investment properties (note |7) REMEINE His217) 2516 2,039
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note |5) #)3 BB KRB ITE (MI5E15) 70,506 73,028
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note |6) FEREESEINE (Hi6) 75,391 91,657
Provision for inventories FEEE 34,189 4741
Legal and professional fees FEREXER 20,822 18,680
Marketing expenses TIHEEE 127,154 115,604
Transportation expenses EmE 112,693 98,405
Others Hith 366,670 313,133

Total cost of sales, administrative expenses, selling and &R A {TEEY  HER
distribution expenses and research and development 338 K Fff 3% & 4B %R

cost 3,477,910 3216881
Note: B EE
Concessionaire commission for department store counters is generally calculated by BEARERETLCEAE—RUSEED
applying pre-determined percentages to actual sales made through respective counters. BERHEERBAECA AL E

BREEERAE 035E8Hs 243



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES 10 (EEEFRZ
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Wages and salaries (including directors emoluments) TERHE (ORFEEMS) (sta)

(note a) 483,729 439,811
Retirement benefits costs (note c) RREAIMRAE (Mi5tc) 31,504 33,926
Other post-employment benefits H BB R 8,351 8,945

523,584 482,682
The employee benefits expenses amounting to HK$100,030,000 (2022: MREERRN EERNHAXAH
HK$93,996,000) are recognised in selling and distribution expenses; HK$ 113,214,000 100,030,0007 75 (20224F © 93,996,000
(2022: HK$96,018,000) in administrative expenses; HK$280,732,000 (2022: B REERDHBAZRER
HK$266,774,000) in cost of sales; and HK$29,608,000 (2022: HK$25,894,000) in 113,214,000 75 (20224 : 96,018,000
research and development cost in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. BIT) RTE R S R REST 5 280,732,000

BT (20224 & 266,774,000 7T) I
HE R ARRHES ; 529,608,000 T
(20224F : 25,894,0007 75) TH HAHF 2%
ERPRED -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

(@)  Five highest paid individuals

S

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the

year included four (2022: four) directors whose emoluments are reflected in

the analysis presented in note |1.The emoluments paid and payable to the

remaining one individual (2022: one individual) during the year are as follows:

R E MR RMEE

BE®=FIH2 (@

@

TAmEHMAL

FRFERLNURSHFMAL
BENE (200E: Ma)ES:
BEZEHEMPMEF IFF258
DHARBE - ERERESN
BT AL Q00FE: —%A
T) BE M T -

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK’$000 HK'$000
FHT FHATT

Basic salaries, housing allowances, BEAHHE EREM H 2l
other allowances and benefits in kind vkl 2,521 1,928
Retirement plan contributions RRETEIH 97 16
2,618 2,044

BEEBEERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

10

246

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued) 0 {EEEFHS @
(@)  Five highest paid individuals (continued) @ IaEEHMAL @
The emoluments for the one individual (2022: one individuals) fall within the — AT QNRE -8 AT
following bands: ZMESEENT !
2023 2022
20236 20226
Number of Number of
Employees employees
EBEAK BEAR
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 70 22,500,000 7T - |
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 78 7T 2 3,000,0007 75 -
During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the Group to the five FRAEBELER EXPRA
highest paid individuals mentioned above as performance based bonus, an % &= A L3 B
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of T ERBREE MASKN
office (2022: Nil). AEE B2 RN K A B
ZHE (20225 1 @®) o
(b)  Senior management’s emoluments b SREEEHM
The emoluments for the three senior management (2022: four senior —HEREER (20224 M4
management) fall within the following bands: SHREERE) NHEMERNT .
2023 2022
20234 20224F
Number of senior Number of senior
management management

BREEBEAR SHREEEAK

HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

500,001 7752 |,000,00058 75
1,000,001 7 752 1,500,00078 7T

2 2
| 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

(©)

Retirement benefit plans

The Group participates in Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
for all qualified employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under
the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at a rate of 5% specified in the rules, but
subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The only obligation of the Group
with respect of MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable

in the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC and Vietnam are members of the state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC and Vietnam
government, respectively. The PRC and Vietnam subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their basic payroll to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under
the schemes. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution

payable in future years.

The Group maintains multiple qualified contributory saving plans as allowed
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code in the US. These plans
are defined contribution plans covering employees employed in the US and
provide for voluntary contributions by employees, subject to certain limits.
The contributions are made by both the employees and the employer. The
employees’ contributions are primarily based on specified dollar amounts or

percentages of employee compensation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

10

248

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

(c)  Retirement benefit plans (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total contributions charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$31,504,000 (2022: HK$33,926,000).

The abolition of the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers'
“mandatory” contributions to MPF and the Occupational Retirement Schemes
("ORSQO") to offset the long service payment (“LSP") and severance payment
(the “Amendment”) accrued from the transition date (no later than 2025) was
enacted on |7 June 2022. As the LSP is a defined benefit plan, the Amendment
changes the employer’'s legal obligation which is considered as a plan
amendment under HKAS 19.The Group recognized provision for LSP which is

included in other payable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of every director and chief executive for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 is set out below:

e RRMEE

I ERNENRED

@

EERRETHASMHE

B ZE2023F %2022 12831 H
LtFEESUEERESTHA

BRNMEHIIMT

Performance Share  Retirement

Salaries related based benefit

and incentive payment scheme
Fee allowances  payments expenses contributions Total

BRI %

wER REAE BROR BRGKER
ik #2E BB Fxx  stEIf® st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

For the year ended #E20235F 128318

31 December 2023 JI:3: 5
Executive directors YTES
Mr. Lam Chi Fan (note i) MERNLE (5 - 2,021 = = 18 2,039
Mr. Cheung Tung (note ii) sRARSTAE (FF5Ti) - 2,092 - - 8 2,110
Mr. Chen Feng B0 A8 S - 2,294 - - - 2,294
Mr. Lam Kam Cheung MERIEELE - 1,654 250 - 18 1,922
Ms. Lam Fei Man MEFLT - 1,134 100 - 18 1,252
Independent non-executive ~ BILFFHITES

directors
Mr.Wong Chi Keung FERELE 240 - - - - 240
Professor Lam Sing Kwong, MBI (P aEiv)

Simon (note iv) 120 - - - = 120
Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie REESE 240 = = = = 240
Mr.WuTak Lung (note iv) SERRE () 120 - - - - 120
Dr. Cheung Wah Keung sRERE LT (st

(note v) 120 - - - = 120

840 9,195 350 - 72 10,457

BEEBEERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

1 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued) Il ERNENRER @
(a)  Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued) @ EERETHRASHME @
Performance Share  Retirement
Salaries related based benefit
and incentive payment scheme
Fee  allowances payments expenses contributions Total
LURAR &

ek RREMAE BRAO® BAEH
2k 2R BRI Fx SRR #85t
HK$000  HK$000  HK$O000  HK$000  HK$O00  HK$000
TET FTET  TExT  TExn  TERT  TER

For the year ended HE202% 128310

31 December 2022 ILEE
Executive directors BITEE
Mr. Lam Chi Fan (note i) MENLE (FzE) - 2,038 - - 18 2,056
Mr. Cheung Tung (note ii) SRR E (HTEE) - 2,109 - - 18 2,127
Mr. Chen Feng B4 - 2515 - - = 2515
Mr. Lam Kam Cheung MR E = 1,605 250 = I8 1,873
Ms. Lam Fei Man MEEL L = 1,119 100 = I8 1,237

Independent non-executive I IEHITEE

directors
Mr.Wong Chi Keung FERRE 240 - - - 240
Professor Lam Sing Kwong, MR
Simon 240 - - - 240
Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie REELE 240 - - - = 240
Mr.Wu Tak Lung REREELE 240 - - - 240
960 9,386 350 - 72 10,768
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

Il BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued) Il ERNENRER @
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued) @ EERESTHASME @

(©

Notes:

0) Mr. Lam Chi Fan, an executive director of the Company, is also the Chairman of

the Board.

(i) Mr CheungTung an executive director of the Company, is also the President of

the Company.

(i) During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the Group to the directors
mentioned above as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as

compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil).

(iv)  Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon and Mr.Wu Tak Lung resigned (as directors

of the Company) on 12 June 2023 and 28 June 2023, respectively.

(v)  Dr Cheung Wah Keung was appointed on 16 June 2023.

Directors’ retirement benefits ®)

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits during the
year ended 3| December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits ©

None of the directors received or will receive any termination benefits during
the year ended 3| December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
777 g |

252

AT IR R MIEE

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’

services

During the year ended 3| December 2023, the Company did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available directors services (2022:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such

directors

During the year ended 3| December 2023, there is no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, or controlled body

corporates and connected entities of such directors (2022: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 34, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the Company's
subsidiary was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the years or at any

time during the years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 12 FRfSIRES (E%)
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
Current tax: BNERTR IS
Hong Kong profits tax (note i) HEAEM (H5T) 7,52| 2,307
PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT") (note ii) PRI PSR (TREMRER)
(Bry&ii) 25,231 13,556
PRC withholding tax on distributed profits from PRC & B B} & A B B 2 ki@ F) 8
subsidiaries hEIFRIOH 1,158 3,364
43,910 19,227
Over provision in prior years: BEFEEEER
Hong Kong Profits Tax ERMNE (44) =
PRC EIT RS 10 (40)
(34) (40)
Deferred taxation (note 20) RIERRIA (FFEE20) (1,766) (31.212)
42,110 (12,025)
Notes: BisE

(i) On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue

(Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits

tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted

on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2

million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above

HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%, while only one entity nominated by a group of

“connected entities” will be entitled to select the lower tax rate. The profits of group

entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be

taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

BEEBEERAA

R0I8F3/2IBA BERIDEEREBT
(20171 % (B:T) (5750 KAE
z) ((EE))  ZEZSIATMHRF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

12

254

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i) (continued)

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits

above HK$2 million.

(i) Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, PRC EIT is calculated based on
the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable profit of those subsidiaries established in
the PRC for both years, except for certain PRC subsidiaries being approved as High
and New Technology Enterprise by the relevant government authorities which are
subject to a preferential tax rate of 15% for a 3-year period which will expire in 2026
(2022: which are subject to a preferential tax rate of 15% for 3-year periods which

expired in 2021 and 2022, respectively).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued) 12 PRGBS/ GE%) @
The income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the profit/ FENFEREY/ (K% @ixsiE
(loss) before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other mAEMEEmR R RNBRRETER
comprehensive income as follows: (B518) HERWT :
2023 2022
20236 20226
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FTBT
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRPTSIRATER], (B518) 122,612 (49,210)
Tax at the Hong Kong profits tax rate BREBNGRNEAENRIE 20,231 (8,120)
Effect on different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in ~ EEME AR EZHNHBAEHN
other jurisdictions FRMENZE 14,139 (8,031)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes R RN B IR 5 & 6,147 12,200
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes BEMRHNBANRBEE (19,781) (17,377)
Over provision in prior years BEFEDBREEE (34) (40)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised KEDEBEENRBEE 19,472 7814
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised BABFRBINGEE (17) -
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings of PRC IR A B R D IRE A TR
subsidiaries 2,118 1,694
Income tax on concessionary rate REBMREGENMER (165) (165)
Income tax expense/(credit) FriSiipEsz/ (K %) 42,110 (12,025)
BEEERRAE 203FEHRS

255



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

256

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of HK$0.4 cent per share, amounting to approximately
HK$7,000,000 in total is paid on 10 October 2023. Subsequent to the end of the
Reporting Period, a final dividend of HK$ 1.3 cents (2022: nil) per share in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2023, amounting to approximately HK$22,750,000 has been
proposed by the board of directors and is subject to approval of shareholders in the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The proposed final dividend is not recognized as a
liability as at 31 December 2023.

During the Reporting Period, a subsidiary of the Company paid dividend amounting
to HK$15,191,000 to non-controlling interests (2022: declared dividend amounting to
HK$16,767,000 and paid dividend amounting to HK$13,962,000 to non-controlling

interests).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EARNINGS/(LOSSES) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share attributable to the

owners of the Company is based on the following data:

e RRMEE

SRERN (@R

ARBBEENBIEERELRBERT
/(18 DIRBU THEBHE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FH7T
Earnings/(losses) for the purpose of basic and HESRELAREERT (B8
diluted earnings/(losses) per share: 2&BA/ (B8)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners KA HEE NELEERN,/ (518
of the Company 62,593 (35,970)
Number of shares for the purpose of basic and diluted stESRERREEEE Y
loss per share: (000) BHEE : (TR
Weighted average number of ordinary shares forthe ST EESRERNEE R
purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share BB METIH 1,750,002 1,750,002
Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share (HK cents) SIRERREERF], (518 B 3.58 (2.06)

The computation of diluted earnings/(losses) per share for the years ended 3|

December 2023 and 2022 does not assume the exercise of the share options as the

exercise prices of those share options are higher than the average market price of

shares and they are antidilutive during the years ended 3| December 2023 and 2022.

STEEE2023F 520229 12831 H1E
FENEREBERMN (BB L&
BREREETE FRARZEEBR
RNTEESRRMREE20235 R
02F12A3 I BIEFENFHEMER
LEEREETE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

I5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y% -BERRE

Leasehold
improvements,
Freehold furniture Construction
land and Plant and and Motor in
buildings machinery fixtures vehicles progress Total
LS
kA% BER REHH
THRET e RRE HE fRRIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T THT

Cost s

At | January 2022 R0REIRI1H 149,370 532,906 247427 12,348 19,370 961,421
Additions AE - 17,069 30442 I 3112 51,044
Disposals s - (7859) 2915) @7 (143 (12454)
Transfer from construction in progress & B T2 - 202 £ = (244) =
Exchange diferences ERER (11265 (18003 (4908) (884) Gl (35379)
At 31 December 2022 120224128318 138,105 524315 270,088 1,628 20,497 964,633
Additions RE = 18414 8619 812 34393 62,238
Disposals HE - (658) (15) (225) (353) (1,251)
Transfer from construction in progress 2% B2 T12 - 4273 - = 4273) =
Transfer to investment properties BREEREME (W57)

(note 17) (12,060) - - - S (12060)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 33)  WEE—FMB AR (FH333) - - 3l = = 31
Exchange differences EREHE (3983) 6720) 207) 316) ©6)  (13165)
At 31 December 2023 1R2023E 128318 122,062 539,623 276,644 11,899 50,198 1,000,426
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

4= A
7177 g |

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FA TS ER R M 5T

15 ¥%E- -BERRE @

Leasehold
improvements,
Freehold furniture Construction
land and Plant and and Motor in
buildings machinery fixtures vehicles progress Total
EME
kAR  BER KB Fi
T REF a8 REE AE ERIE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
Depreciation and impairment ERRE
At | January 2022 R002EI1B1H 71,645 241455 131112 9,307 453519
Depreciation for the year (note b) ~ FAITE (izb) 6812 41927 23172 117 - 73,028
Disposals HE = (3917) (1392) (241) (5,550)
Exchange differences ERESR (5.955) 9.272) (3296) (703) = (19.226)
At 31 December 2022 R2022%128318 72502 270,193 149,59 9480 - 501,771
Depreciation for the year (note b) ~ FRIITE (Hf5Eh) 6137 41270 22430 669 70,506
Disposals HE = (479) () (206) = (689)
Transfer to investment properties ~ BEERENE (:17)

(note 17) (5347) = = = = (5,347)
Exchange differences ERER (2204) (3,586) (1,454) (259) (7.503)
At 31 December 2023 20235 1283185 71,088 307,398 170,568 9,684 = 558,738
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December 2023 12023128315 50974 232,225 106,076 2215 50,198 441,688
At 31 December 2022 2026 128315 65,603 254122 120,492 2,148 20497 462,862

BEEBEERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
777 g |

I5

260

AT IR R MIEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(@)

Depreciation methods and useful lives

Property, plant and equipment, comprising buildings, plant and machinery,
leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures, and motor vehicles are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted
for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate their cost over its estimated useful lives, at the following

rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements, 0% to 33.3% or over the term of

furniture and fixtures the lease, whichever is shorter

Buildings Over the shorter of the term

of the lease or 35 years
Plant and machinery 10% -20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each

consolidated statement of financial position date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

@)

Depreciation methods and useful lives (continued)

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable

amount.

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with
the carrying amount and are recognised within administrative expenses in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under
construction or pending installation and is stated at cost less impairment losses,
if any. No provision for depreciation is made on assets under construction in
progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed and available
for their intended use. On completion, the relevant assets are transferred to

property, plant and equipment at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation of approximately HK$624,000 (2022: HK$771,000) is included in
selling and distribution expenses; and HK$6,944,000 (2022: HK$7,406,000) in
administrative expenses; HK$6 1,949,000 (2022: HK$63,770,000) in cost of sales;
and HK$989,000 (2022: HK$1,081,000) in research and development cost in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

e RRMEE

15 ¥%E- -BERRE @

@
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

I5

262

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(c)  Impairment assessment of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets

As a result of the unfavourable performance of certain subsidiaries
incorporated/established in the US, Hong Kong and the PRC (the “Under-
Performing Subsidiaries”) which are operating retail shops during the
year ended 3| December 2023, the management conducted impairment
assessments of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of the
Under-Performing Subsidiaries. The Under-Performing Subsidiaries are separated
into three cash generating units (‘CGU") for the purpose of the impairment
assessment which are US CGU, HK CGU and PRC CGU. A CGU s considered
to be impaired when its recoverable amount declines below its carrying amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of

disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

©

Impairment assessment of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets (continued)

The management conducted impairment assessments of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the US CGU as at 3| December 2023.The
recoverable amounts of the US CGU was determined based on value in use
calculations and certain key assumptions.Value in use calculations used cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by the management covering
a five-year period. The model assumes an average growth rate of 10% (2022:
I7%) for the five-year period, a pre-tax discount rates of 7.1% (2022: 17.1%).
Cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using growth rate of
2% (2022: same). Management estimates the pre-tax discount rate that reflects
market assessment of the time value of money and specific risk relating to the

industry.

Based on the value-in-use calculations, there are no impairment recognised as
the recoverable amount of the CGU was higher than its carrying value. If the
average growth rate used in the value-in-use calculation had been 1% lower
than management’s estimates at 31 December 2023, the Group would have had

to recognise an impairment amounting to HK$12,759,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

16  LEASES l6 &
(@)  Amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet @ REAEESREREDNEE
Leased land Leasehold
use right properties Machinery Total
HE 1
fERE HEME e a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT THT THT THT

Right-of-use assets FREEE
At | January 2022 12021 B 18 20,185 290461 4351 314997
Additions hE = 22537 6,787 29,324
Disposals HE = (8) (299) (307)
Depreciation (note i) IE (ki) (578) (89,532) (1,547) (91,657)
Exchange differences ERELH (37) (4,386) (17) (4,440)
At 31 December 2022 120225128318 19,570 219,072 9275 247917
Additions nE = 61,252 5,169 66,421
Transfer to investment in EEREFEARKRE M)

sublease (note i) - (2,149) - (2,149)
Depreciation (note i) e (i) (568) (71,777) (3,046) (75,391)
Exchange differences ERELE (547) (939) 9) (1,495)
At 31 December 2023 12023128318 18,455 205,459 11,389 235303
As at 3| December 2022 20224128318
Cost (37N 27470 401,544 11,603 440,617
Accumulated depreciation and  RFTITEKR(E

impairment (7.900) (182,472) (2,328) (192,700)
Net book amount AREVEE 19,570 219,072 9275 247917
As at 3| December 2023 12023128318
Cost (D7 26,709 412,462 15396 454,567
Accumulated depreciation and  RETITEKR(E

impairment (8254) (207,003) (4,007) (219,264)
Net book amount REEE 18,455 205,459 11,389 235,303
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16  LEASES (continued)

@

Amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet (continued)

()

A subsidiary has entered into sub-lease agreements regarding a leased
property. The portion of right-of-use assets that was associated with the

sublease agreement has been derecongised accordingly.

Depreciation expenses of HK$52,464,000 (2022: HK$66,497,000) has
been charged in cost of sales, HK$4,772,000 (2022: HK$6,213,000)
charged in administrative expenses and HK$18,155,000 (2022:
HK$18,947,000) in selling and distribution expenses respectively.

l6 FAE @

@

e RRMEE

RiFAEERRRMEINEE (@

()

—XWBRAM—RHEE
MESTUDARE ED
MR D A
BECABKILRER -

I EE B 252,464,000% 7T
(20224 : 66,497,000
7T) BEREE R AR
4,772,000 75 (20224 -
6,213,000% 75) 17 EE
SRR 18,155000%8 7T
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7T) REEE kD HRA LN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

[6  LEASES (continued) 6 FHE @
(@)  Amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet (continued) @ RESEELRREINEE @
Leasehold
properties Machinery Total
HEME 123 Wt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FHT
Lease liabilities HE&E
At | January 2022 1202251818 352,160 4436 356,596
Additions RE 27817 6,788 34,605
Disposals HE - (338) (338)
Payments (N (103912) (1,724) (105,636)
Interest expenses FEEX 17,953 227 18,180
Exchange differences FERERE (3,648) (18) (3,666)
At 31 December 2022 120225128318 290,370 9371 299,741
Additions RE 58,719 5226 63945
Payments (N (93,807) (3,566) (97,373)
Interest expenses FERZ 14,632 601 15,233
Exchange differences R =L (796) (10) (806)
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 269,118 11,622 280,740
As at 3|1 December 2022 20224128318
Representing; 15
Current BNER 61,403 2,110 63513
Non-current FERNHER 228,967 7,261 236228
Total “Et 290,370 9,371 299,741
As at 31 December 2023 120234128318
Representing: 15
Current BNER 69,621 3012 72,633
Non-current JERNER 199,497 8610 208,107
Total WmEt 269,118 11,622 280,740
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

LEASES (continued) 6 FHE @
(b)  Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement: b RESHREREINEE !
2023 2022
20235 20224F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) HEsBHNFE (Hs) 15,233 18,180
Expense relating in short-term or low-valued BIHREENEEEEERRMN
leases (note 9) B (FitEE9) 10,370 1902
Concessionaire commission for department store B &2 B) SER K EME (H5H9)
counters (note 9) 37,281 39,811
62,884 59,893
(c)  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cash outflow for leases (c) HZE2023F 12831 HIESE
were HK$145,024,000 (2022: HK$147,349,000). E - HENRESEAHBEA
145,024,000/ 7 (20224 :
147,349,000 78) ©
(d)  The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security 4 HEBBLAKMGREREARE
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor: Leased assets may not be EMNHESETNERELZ U
used as security for borrowing purposes. Details of the lease maturity analysis of SNERZLY-FHEEELSE
lease liabilities are set out in notes 3.1(iii). BEEZER - HEEANHE
BRBOMBFBEENWEE
3.0 (i) o
(e)  See note I5 (c) for further details of impairment assessment on right-of-use © EHRFEHAEEERBETENE

assets.

215 RBREMEI5()°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

16

268

LEASES (continued)

(f)  Accounting policies of leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the
date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Rental contracts
are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 10 years. Lease terms are negotiated

on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease
components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of
real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease
and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease

component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16  LEASES (continued)

(f)

Accounting policies of leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present
value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease

payments:
. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease

incentives receivable

. variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees
. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain

to exercise that option, and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects

the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also

included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases
in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

16

270

LEASES (continued)

() Accounting policies of leases (continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group where possible, uses
recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was

received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for

each period.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Short-

term leases are leases with a lease term of |2 months or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REME
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FH7T
As at | January ®IAIH 28,073 32,508
Depreciation for the year FRITE (2.516) (2,039)
Transfer from property, plant and equipments (note 15) ¥ B¥2 « BB K& H (FE15) 6,713 =
Exchange differences FEREL (745) (2,396)
As at 31 December 128318 31,525 28,073

As at 31 December 2023, the fair values of the Group's investment properties were
HK$190,292,000 (2022: HK$166,447,000). The fair values have been arrived at based
on a valuation carried out by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent valuer not

connected with the Group.

The fair values of the investment properties were determined based on the market
comparable approach which is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
The inputs used in the fair value measurements mainly include the market unit sale rate
of comparable properties of similar size, nature and location. The calculation assumes
HK$2,374 (2022: HK$2,517) gross unit rate per square meter. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior year and there were no transfers

into or out of Level 3 during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use. The above investment properties are depreciated on a

straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

R2023F 12831 H AEBNKREY
ENTEA190,292,00058 7T (20224 :
166,447,000/ 75) A FETHIREHE
FEBMERBENBIAEMEET
EREMARABETHHERTE

BREMENRAFELRBETH LR
= (DBEALRTERBRZE=R) B
T RHAEQAFER BWABTIESD
EER MERUERENAITLERY
EoMBBEAHEBK FERER
BEHKEEA23748TT (20224F ¢
2,51787) HERNEBTFEMR
BEMtLLEEs BERBEEA
F-BHBEETELH-

RS RENEZATFER PEZ
e kREREAHERRAR Ll
REMERBNFRNREREEN

A
E o
Ex
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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272

GOODWILL ma
2023
20234
HK$’000
FHET
As at | January 2022 and 31 December 2022 12021 BIH 2022128318 -
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries R B AR EE 5518
Exchange differences ERERR (170)
As at 31 December 2023 12023% 128318 5,348

Management monitors and reviews the business performance at the cash-generating
units (“CGU") level. On 21 April 2023, the Group acquired 100% of shares in Sinomax
(Dongguan) Sleep Technology Limited (note 33). The Group recognised goodwill in

relation to such acquisition and allocated to the CGU at the acquisition date.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculation.
These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period. The model assumes an average
growth rate of 3% for the five-year period, a pre-tax discount rate of 29.0%. Cash flows
beyond the five years period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates of 2%.
Management estimates the pre-tax discount rate that reflects market assessment of the

time value of money and specific risk relating to the industry.

Based on the value-in-use calculations, there are no impairment recognised as the
recoverable amount of the CGU was higher than its carrying value. If the average
growth rate used in the value-in-use calculation had been 1% lower than management's
estimates at 3| December 2023, the Group would have had to recognise an

impairment amounting to HK$600,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

9 EREE

Customer
Brand name relationship Total
mhs 4t ERR% Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FHET
At | January 2022 1202251818
Cost B A 85483 62,769 148252
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  Z & #EH KRB (75,254) (60,043) (135,297)
Net book amount RmEFE 10,229 2726 12,955
Year ended 3| December 2022 HE2002F12831HLEEE
Opening net book amount HRERE 10,229 2726 12,955
Amortisation charges (note b) BMEER (b) (1,137) (641 (1,778)
Closing net book amount HARERERE 9,092 2,085 1,177
At 3| December 2022 and | January 2023 420225 128318 K
202318 1H
Cost B A 85483 62,769 148252
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  Z & #H KRB (76,391) (60,684) (137,075)
Net book amount REVEE 9,092 2,085 11,177
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE0BFNAINBLEEE
Opening net book amount BYRmEE 9,092 2,085 11,177
Amortisation charges (note b) BEER (b) (1,137) (641) (1,778)
Closing net book amount HREREEE 7,955 444 9,399
At 31 December 2023 1220235128318
Cost A 85,483 62,769 148,252
Accumulated amortisation and impairment & 5H KRB (77,528) (61,325) (138,853)
Net book amount REEE 7955 | 444 9,399
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(@)

Amortisation methods and useful lives

()

(i)

Customer relationship

Customer relationship was acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. It has a finite useful life
and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and

impairment losses.

The customer relationship has finite useful lives ranging from 7 years
to 10 years and is amortised on a straight-line basis. Its useful life was
determined with reference to a number of factors, including historical
customer data and management's experience and industry knowledge.
Useful lives of customer relationship are reviewed at the end of each

reporting period by considering the changes in above factors.

Brand name

Brand name was acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the brand name is developed through years of advertising,
promotional campaigns and customer satisfaction. Brand name has a
definite useful life of [0 years and is subsequently carried at cost less

accumulated amortization and impairment losses.

Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(b)

Amortisation of intangible assets of HK$641,000 (2022: HK$641,000) is
included in selling and distribution expenses and HK$!,137,000 (2022:
HK$1,137,000) is included in administrative expenses in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment assessment on intangible assets

Management monitors and reviews the business performance at the cash-
generating units (“CGU") level. In 2016, the Group acquired 51% equity interest
in Dormeo North America, LLC (“Dormeo”). The Group recognised intangible
assets of brand name and customer relationship in relation to such acquisition

and allocated to the Dormeo CGU at the acquisition date.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use
calculation. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. The
model assumes an average growth rate of 4% (2022: 9%) for the five-year
period, a pre-tax discount rate of 17.9% (2022: 19.5%). Cash flows beyond
the five years period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates of 2%
(2022: 2%). Management estimates the pre-tax discount rate that reflects market

assessment of the time value of money and specific risk relating to the industry.

Based on the value-in-use calculations, there are no impairment recognised as
the recoverable amount of the CGU was higher than its carrying value. If the
average growth rate used in the value-in-use calculation had been 1% lower
than management’s estimates at 31 December 2023, the Group would have had

to recognise an impairment amounting to HK$1,677,000.

e RRMEE
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R E MR RMEE

20 DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting

purposes:

20 RIEFRIE

BUR AL B4R S F BV AE R TR AE
B

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Deferred tax assets FIERIEEE 57,086 62,599
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE (11,541) (19,227)
45,545 43372

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) assets recognised and

movements thereon during the current and prior years:

URBREEERBEFEERIN
EEEREEE/ (B8F) kHE

E=
(a) Deferred tax assets @ IEEREEE

Allowance for

Unrealised inventories

profit in Tax and credit
inventories losses losses Lease Others Total

BFERM BFEREE
RERHF RnBER BEEE HE Hitr st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FHET FHEL FHERL FERT THT
At | January 2022 R202F1B1H 4558 18,804 5579 - 675 29616
Credited to profit or loss REFEA 3,288 22494 6,630 - 1,101 33513
Exchange differences EREL - (49) (481) - - (530)
At 31 December 2022 R2025F128318 7,846 41,249 11,728 = 1,776 62599
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss 1184 (B0F%) /5t A (4,749) (21,556) 18867 13,041 (249) 5,354
Exchange differences EREE - 83 (200) - - (117)
At 31 December 2023 20235128318 3097 19,776 30395 13,041 1,527 67,836
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= =
in e SRR EE
20 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 20 ERERIE (8
(b) Deferred tax liabilities b IETERESE
Undistributed Fair value
profits of adjustment
PRC  on intangible
subsidiaries assets Lease Total
R B Ff B EE
REZFR ZRF
kiR ERE HE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At | January 2022 12021818 (15,385) (2,721) - (18,106)
(Charged)/credited to profit REE (N FtA
or loss (6012) 373 - (5,639)
Release upon payment of NEZ A E RO
dividends to profit or loss 3,338 = = 3,338
Exchange differences R =R 1,180 - - ,180
At 3| December 2022 1202025128318 (16,879) (2,348) - (19227)
(Charged)/credited to profit KB (08) 5TA
or loss (4523) 373 (10,750) (14,900)
Release upon payment of INSRNEsNiSE ey
dividends to profit or loss 1,312 = = [1,312
Exchange differences EREH 524 - - 524
At 3| December 2023 120235128318 (9,566) (1,975) (10,750) (22291)

BEEBEERAA

203FEERSE

277



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
777 g |

20

278

AT IR R MIEE

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

(b)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of tax loss amounting to HK$378,107,000 (2022: HK$292,955,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised
tax losses are losses of HK$163,662,000 (2022: HK$168,327,000) and
HK$56,039,000 (2022: HK$56,039,000) that will be expired from 2024 to 2028
and from 2037 to 2038, respectively. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

As at 31 December 2023, deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of deductible temporary differences arising from allowance inventories
and credit loss amounting to HK$13,507,000 (2022: HK$34,609,000) as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible

temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the PRC EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared
at 10% in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from | January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to the
undistributed profit of certain PRC subsidiaries as at 3| December 2023
amounting to HK$ 163,741,000 (2022: HK$142,561,000), as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable

that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

INVENTORIES 78
2023 2022
20235 20226
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Raw materials Rkt 216,131 229077
Work in progress T8G 61,031 93,115
Finished goods SR 231,585 233,079
508,747 555,271

The cost of inventories is recognised as expenses and included in cost of sales

amounted to HK$2,078,371,000 (2022: HK$1,959,515,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the inventories of the Group are stated after a provision for

impairment on inventories of approximately HK$94,457,000 (2022: HK$65,131,000).

Accounting policies of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
using the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods comprises merchandises
and other direct costs. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the
basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after
deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in

the ordinary course of business less estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

FEMARIDARI L AHEEMN
7> £ %87/42,078,371,000% 7T (2022
£ 11,959,515,00057T)

R2023F 12A3 1B AEBNEES
TR 7 58 (B 25 5 4994,457,00078 7T
(20224 : 65,131,000 7T) BHIER
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2 BRRHEMERRE

2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET TFHETT
Trade receivables EZERE 573,533 468,257
Less: allowance for credit losses (note 3.1(ii)(b)(i)) B EEBEBEE (IEE3.13)0)0) (30,679) (32,529)
Trade receivables, net B 2 UGS B8 542,854 435,728
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables B& BT RRIE R HAN R WGRIE
Cash consideration receivables (note a) FEUCR S RE (Mista) 28918 38718
Prepayments for purchasing raw materials and BERMENBEMNREREERX
operating expenses 58,689 57,793
Rental and other deposits HEeREMEZE 38,642 43,500
Other tax recoverable HMERIEIRIE 26,300 18,926
Net investment in sublease DHEFRE 2,448 2,281
Others Hith 8,168 8970
163,165 170,188
Total trade and other receivables B 5% R HME W RIEARE 706,019 605916
Less: DN
Non-current portion of other receivables HA W RIERI FERNER SR (19,272) (54,043)
Current portion BRERER 7 686,747 551,873
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

@

The balance represents the consideration receivables in relation to the disposal
of 51% equity interest in Chengdu Xingang Sponge Co. Ltd. completed in 2019.
According to the sale and purchase agreement, the total cash consideration
of the disposal was agreed to be settled in four instalments. According to a
supplemental agreement between ZEz (1L) REFEMKBRAE
(Sinomax (Zhejiang) Polyurethane Technology Limited*), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the purchaser of 51% equity interest in Chengdu
Xingang Sponge Co. Ltd. dated | | March 2022, the payment arrangement of the

fourth instalment (the “Fourth Instalment”) was revised as follows:

(i) RMB22,000,000 of the Fourth Instalment shall be paid by |5 March 2022;

(i) RMBI10,000,000 of the Fourth Instalment shall be paid by 15 March 2023;

and

(iily  the remaining balance of RMB25,000,000 of the Fourth Instalment shall
be paid by |5 March 2024,

together with the payable interest which shall accrue from and including the
Second Payment Due Date (as defined in the sale and purchase agreement)
until and including the respective dates of actual payments as set out in (i), (ii)

and (iii) above, respectively, at the rate of 3% per annum.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received the payment as set out in (ii)
above amounting to RMB10,000,000.

e RRMEE

2 BRRHEMERRE @
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group's retail sales are made through both its retail network comprising stand-
alone retail shops and concession counters in department stores, and internet sales.
The Group also sells heatth and household products directly to overseas wholesalers
and retailers, and the polyurethane foam to furniture manufacturers in the PRC. Sales
at self-operated retail shops and sales through retailers in the PRC and internet sales
are transacted either by cash or credit cards. For sales made at concession counters,
the department stores collect cash from the end customers and then repay the balance
after deducting the concessionaire commission to the Group. The credit period granted
to the department stores ranges from 30 days to 120 days. For sales to wholesalers,
retailers and furniture manufacturers, the Group generally allows a credit period ranging

from 7 days to 90 days.

The following is the aging analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses,

presented based on invoice date.

BH R EMBWRTRIE (&

AEEZBETERR (BEBILT
EERMUNRBEATNTESE K
EMEHEETTEHE - AEETT
AEMEBRTERERLERE
REEEm IFAPEOELREE
HERGREBA-REETEEEN
MEERERTESEBRETHHE
UREBMAHEEGUREENERF
ETRZ PR EFEFRETHHE
5 HBAERTIRARE R EIR
RAOBEFEERER REE
EEERE - RYAERANEEN
T F30BEI08 s EH TE
BREMREENHENS  F5E
BEAFEEHRNF/AENR -

TR EERREBENE ZBERUAN
Rkt (RBEZERAH2I) WT

2023 2022

20235 20226

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Within 30 days 30HMUA 291,527 197,558
31 to 60 days 31E60H 166,643 149,556
61 to 90 days 61Z90H 80,161 51,34
91 to 180 days 91E180H 3,188 21,268
181 to 365 days 18123650 1,335 16,005
542,854 435728
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Classification as trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services

performed in the ordinary course of business.

They are generally due for settlement within one year and therefore are all
classified as current assets. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows
and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

Trade receivables from certain customers of the Group, whose contractual
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, were factored
to reputable financial institutions under non-recourse factoring arrangement
according to the Group's daily fund management needs. These trade receivable's
business model is therefore achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows
and selling of these assets. Such trade receivables were therefore classified as

financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income.

For details of the accounting policies and impairment policies, please refer to
note 3.1(ii)(b).
Fair value of trade receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount

is considered to be the same as their fair value.

4= AR
g (=

A5k R MI5E

2 BRRHEMERRE @

U

BEEBEERAA

B EWEIEZ 948
BEENARIEADEEHER

PR E LB RIETRBEEK
EFBIRIA.

HE—RET—FEREE
WEFBARBEE - %%%W
REN S HGIERATERR
HEBSEARERS BT
ERGERENERARESER
Do AEBFEEREWRAIEA
ETWBRENRERE AL
BEFBERMNELZBHEMN
RETEE

REAEBETEFNEZE
s (HEWReEREERAS
THxERAE) REAEERE
B RHERETEERERK
ZHTRIETEERFN TR
Mg AL ZEEZEWHIE
MEBRABBRBNSNRE
MERHLEZEEEER W
i) Mﬁ;%ﬁg”yT}\IE/-\+E%
BBHMEE R DR A TET
RNERMEE-
E%%%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
SHTEE3.1 (i) (b) ©

\\}t
Eﬁ —+

BRRTIEZ ATE

AR EP AR R B B
REENSAEEATERERC

203FEERSE

283



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
777 g |

22

284

AT IR R MIEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(ii)

Impairment and risk exposure

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the

group's exposure to credit risk and foreign currency risk can be found in note

3.1ii)(b).

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's trade receivables balance

are debtors with aggregate net carrying amount of HK$183,846,000 (2022:

HK$118,943,000) which are past due as at 31 December 2023. Out of the
past due balances, HK$8,290,000 (2022: HK$23,039,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default by considering the background
of the trade receivables and historical payment arrangement of these trade

receivables. The Group does not hold any collateral over the balances.
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WARERABEBN AEBLE
MR EERFETAERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

BILL RECEIVABLES B EREE

2023 2022

20234 20224F

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET TFHET

Bill receivables e 72,211 77,444
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEREEE (5.234) (5234)
66,977 72,210
The amount represents bill receivables which are not yet due at the end of the ZESERANRSHARE KA EW

&=

reporting periods. The following is the aging analysis of bill receivables based on their

time to maturities as at the end of reporting periods:

)
=
=

FR-UTARRSHRZHIAERH
B R R ARG DA

2023 2022

20235 20226

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHIT

Within 30 days 30H MR 11,949 9,136
31 to 60 days 31E60H 11,614 13,254
61 to 90 days 61ZE90H 11,691 15,951
91 to 180 days 91ZE 1808 31,723 33,496
181 to 365 days 1812365H = 373
66,977 72210

Included in the bill receivables above amounting to approximately HK$40,649,000 (31
December 2022: HK$46,607,000) had been endorsed for settling the trade payables
for which the maturity dates of the bill receivables have not yet fallen due as at the end
of the Reporting Period. All bill receivables of the Group are with a maturity period of

less than one year.

T EWEE $440,649,000% 7T

(20225 128318 : 46,607,000 7T)
EEMEBUBNEZRORE B
PREKEENIHERREARER
B AE BN AW ER I EIH
R DR —Fo

BREEERAE 035EHs 285
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24

286

TRADE RECEIVABLES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Trade receivables from certain customers of the Group, whose contractual cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, were factored to reputable financial
institutions under non-recourse factoring arrangement. The Group's business model is
therefore achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling of these assets.
Such trade receivables was therefore classified as financial assets carried at fair value

through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

As at 31 December 2023, the effective interest rates of the factored trade receivables
at FVOCI ranged from 6.01% to 7.51% per annum (2022: 5.07% to 6.57% per annum).
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair value changes on trade receivables at
FVOCI are insignificant and accordingly, no fair value changes are recognised in equity as

FVOCI reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FA TS ER R M 5T

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (BY CATEGORY)

(i)

Categories of financial instruments

4= A
7177 g |

%5 TR GHERESD)

() ERTEAEER

2023
2023EF

Financial

assets at fair

2022
20224

Financial

assets at fair

Financial  value through Financial ~ value through
assets at other assets at other
amortised comprehensive amortised comprehensive
cost income cost income
ERHEM BiEHAM
BgHENEs 2EK@ER  REBEENES 2ERER
Jlfkz  AFETR SRz ATETIER
ERMEE ZEWMEE ETHMEE ZTWEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET TAT FTABT
Financial assets EMEE
Trade receivables B 5 B UIE 542,854 - 435728 -
Bill receivables eSS 66,977 - 72210 -
Deposits and other receivables e R EMERRIE 78,176 = 93,469 =
Cash and cash equivalents RERFEEEY 309,923 = 168,955 =
Trade receivables at fair value through ZBE 2 E U &=
other comprehensive income BATEIERZ
B 2 BURIA - 34,129 - 22962

BEEBEERAA

203FEERSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
777 g |

AT IR R MIEE

25  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (BY CATEGORY) (continued)

(i)

288 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report

Categories of financial instruments (continued)

EWTA GERED) @

() SRTAMNLER @@

2023 2022
2023 20224
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised amortised
cost cost
R 3R pY 4 TR EE A A
FiRZ HERZ
g =N Edcy =N
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Financial liabilities EREE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENIE 675,364 414611
Bill payables IANEE 31,183 5233
Bank borrowings RITRE™M 44],878 522,259
Lease liabilities HEARE 280,740 299,741

Note: The fair values of the financial assets at amortised cost approximate their

carrying amounts.

st REERAIIRZEMEEY

\\\\\\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RRMEE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERREEEY
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFHET
Cash at bank and in hand IRTKFERE 309,923 168,955
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Denominated in: LTSI EHEHE
— HK$ -8Bt 30,238 12,950
- RMB — AR 147,922 87,216
—US$ —%7T 118,638 59,411
—VND —HEE 10,714 9,378
— Canadian Dollars — 7z 2,396 =
— Others —HA1th I5 =
309,923 168,955
Note: izt -

For the year ended 3| December 2023, the Group performed impairment assessment on
bank balances and concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty banks are
insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided (for the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant and

accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided).

As at 31 December 2023, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB
amounted to approximately HK$147,922,000 (2022: HK$87,216,000), approximately
HK$ 147,920,000 (2022: HK$87,214,000) of which was domiciled in the mainland China. The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies in the mainland China, however, under
the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other

currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

HEWBFNAIBILEFE AEEHIRT
ERETRESSL BERAHTFHEGTE
NZEEMTRER AL T RIEHEES
BEE BZ200NENA3NEEEE A58
HIRTERETRETG BESRAEFA
RITIBA Z A SE M R E A RIUL I AEH
EEBBERA -

R2023F 12831 B AEBUARBHEN
RE RIRITERLNA147,922,00087T (2022
4 187,216,000 7T) » HH#7147,920,000%
75 (20224 : 87,214,000 70) FHP R ERA
HeERERM AREFEBRRBRMAE
&R BREPENGMNEBRIEH) R(E
E-EERMESERT) ~AEEEEE
ERENEEBNIRITEARE R EAM

BEEEBMRAT 203FERS
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27

290

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 7 BRRHEMEMRE
2023 2022
2023 20224F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Trade payables B EAIE 452,711 310,205
Accrued operating expenses PR ERE 85,355 61,780
Accrued salaries st 58,615 35,868
Other taxes payable HMEMART 32,228 30,304
Accrued royalties fEstHEEREE 26,238 19,581
Refundable deposits received BWAIRERSE 15,044 7,106
Amount due to non-controlling shareholders (note) FE(T ISR AR SRV IE (P9ET) - 6,543
Deferred government grant BN FEBh 1,288 1,724
Dividend payable FEATIRR - 3,779
Others Hth 4,785 3893
223,553 170,578
Total trade and other payables B 5 REMBEARIAEE 676,264 480,783
Less: P
Non-current portion of deferred government grant EEBT B 2 FERNERER (900) (1,325)
Current portion ENERER 675,364 479458

Note: The amount was unsecured, non-trade nature, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Included in trade and other payables above amounting to HK$40,649,000 (2022:
HK$46,607,000) had been settled by endorsed bills for which the maturity dates of the

bills receivables are not yet fallen due as at the end of the Reporting Period (note 23).
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28

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The credit period of trade payables ranged from 30 to 60 days. The following is the

aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E MR RMEE

7 BRRHEMEMTIER @

B SR MIAREE N F30E60H °
AT ABuRaR2NERENTE

RYBRES D47
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TATT
Within 30 days 30BEA 304,211 181,775
31 to 60 days 31E60H 95,418 63,255
61 to 90 days 61E90H 22,820 24,331
91 to 180 days 91Z180H 23,251 26,355
Over 180 days B 180H 7,011 14,489
452,711 310,205
BILL PAYABLES B EAFRE
The following is the aging analysis of bill payables at the end of the reporting periods UTARBRSHARERHERHZR
presented based on bills issue dates: B BYFE 1 IR AR &R AT
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Within 30 days 30H A 7,340 57233
31 to 60 days 31E60H 10,002 -
61 to 90 days 61 290H 5010 =
91 to 180 days 91E180H 8,83 -
31,183 5233

BEEBEERAA

wEEss 291



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

29 UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS M EHERIRITEN
2023 2022
2023 20224F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
Trade financing BomE 284,034 335,106
Revolving borrowings BIRE™M 128,200 119,900
Term borrowings TEHET 29,644 67,253
44],878 522,259
All bank borrowings carry a variable-rate interest with reference to Hong Kong FRE B RBITRERIEEBRITA
Interbank Offered Rate, London Interbank Offered Rates and Hong Kong Prime Rate ERE - RIRTEEREREER
plus a specific margin of the relevant banks. BEANEMBERTHNESEFBES
I%\ ©
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest rates) AEENERERME (HTFEER
on the Group's borrowings, are as follows: STAIRIXR) RN T ¢
2023 2022
20234 20224
Effective interest rates (per annum): BERAX (8F)
Variable-rate borrowings FENF BN 3.10% —7.41% 1.23% —7.71%
The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than HK$ are set REBLETIINNE B IERNBR
out below: IWT
2023 2022
20236 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT TATT
RMB AREE 249,168 264,954
Us$ e 52,578 93,551
292 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 29

The Group's banking facilities are secured by the corporate guarantees given by

the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company except for a guarantee at
RMB13,200,000 (2022: RMB13,200,000) the bank facilities granted to a subsidiary of

the Group was provided by a non-controlling shareholder of this subsidiary of the

Group.

R E MR RMEE

EIIRIRITER @

REBZRTRMEURAB RAAT
HETHBRARMREZ ARERABIE
oAEE—REE AR ERNIR
TRYE AR ¥813,200,0007T (20224 :
AK13,200,0007T) BAEBZNE
NEIMFEE R IR ER IR AR RBRIN o

SHARE CAPITAL 0 K&
Number of
shares Amount
R®E &8
‘000 HK$'000
Thz FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREE AT ER
Authorised: EE -
At | January 2022, 3| December 2022 and 200281 BIB 20024128318
31 December 2023 2023128311 10,000,000 1,000,000
Number of
shares
RiIZ#E
‘000 HK$'000
T FET
Issued and fully paid: BRITREE
At | January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 200251 BB 20024128318
31 December 2023 2023F 128318 1,750,002 175,000

BEEEBMRAT 203FERS
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31

294

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 4 March 2014, a share option scheme was adopted by the shareholders of the
Company (the "Post-IPO Share Option Scheme"). The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
becomes valid and effective on 10 July 2014 and will expire on the business day
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof. Subject to the rules of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, grantees may exercise the share options granted under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme at any time during the period commencing from the date of

grant and up to such expiry date as determined by the Board.

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward
to the eligible participants with an opportunity to acquire the equity interests in the
Company, for their contributions to, and continuing efforts to promote the interest of
the Group or for such other purposes as the board of directors of the Company may
approve from time to time, linking their interests with the interests of the Group and
thereby attracting and encouraging those parties to work better for the interests of the

Group.

The eligible participants include any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers, consultants,
agents and advisers who, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, will contribute

or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

The subscription price of a share of the Company in respect of any particular share
option granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
directors of the Company in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such
price shall at least be the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which
must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately

preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which share options may be granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes
of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 0% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue at the Listing Date (without taking into account any shares that may
be issued upon the full exercise of the options granted pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme), being 165,000,000 shares of the company (“Option Limit"). Options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
(or any other share option schemes of the Company) will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Option Limit. Subject to the approval of the shareholders of
the Company, the Company may refresh the Option Limit at any time provided that (i)
the Option Limit as refreshed does not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of the approval by the shareholders of the Company; and (i) the
options previously granted (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance
with the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme or exercised options) will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Option Limit as refreshed. The
Company may also, with the approval of the shareholders of the Company, grant
share options in respect of shares of the Company in excess of the Option Limit
(as refreshed from time to time) to eligible participants specifically identified by the

Company before such approval is sought.
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31

296

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group at any time shall not
exceed 30% of the issued shares of the Company from time to time. No share options
shall be granted under any schemes of the Company (including the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme) if this will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issued and which fall to be issued upon exercise of the
share options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options) to
each grantee in any |2-month period up to the date of offer to grant shall not exceed
19 of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of offer to grant. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to shareholders'

approval in a general meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

In addition, any grant of share options to a director; chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive directors (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is proposed to be an option holder) of the Company.
If the Company proposes to grant share options to a substantial shareholder or any
independent non-executive director of the Company or their respective associates
which will result in the number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of share options granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of offer of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue; and having an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million, based
on the closing price of the Company's shares at the date of offer of each grant, such
further grant of share options will be subject to, in addition to the approval of the
independent non-executive directors, the approval of shareholders of the Company in

general meeting.

31

e RRMEE

fERRfESTE (@)

BRAREERBIESS (@)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

31  SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 31 EERRIESTE (@)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued) BRAREERBRESS (@

TREKERFERES SMEERE
REEFENRATBEREZE

The below table discloses movements of the Company's share options held by the

Group's directors, senior management and employees:

298

Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding Lapsed at Lapsed at
at during 3| December during 3| December
Options Vesting period Exercise period | January 2022 the year 2022 the year 2023
R RaongE 103%E
IBIR 12A318 12A318
ki BEH 17feH HATE REAKE  EHRTE  RERKRY EXRITE
(Note) (Note)
(i) (iz)
Directors
EZ
Tranche | 2601.2017-2601.2018  2601.2018 - 25.01.2023 3,600,000 3,600,000 (3,600,000) =
s WI7EIBUEE 0IBEIFUAE
2018F1526H 2023F 15250
Tranche 2 26012017-26012019 26012019 - 25012024 3,600,000 - 3,600,000 (900,000) 2,700,000
e i WITEIBNAE WIEIBNAE
2019818268 202418258
7,200,000 7,200,000 (4,500,000) 2,700,000
Senior management
BREEE
Tranche | 26012017-26012018 26012018 -25.01.2023 950,000 (250,000) 700,000 (700,000) -
s WI7FEIABEE WIBFIABAE
201815268 2023F1525H
Tranche 2 26012017 -26012019 26012019 - 25012024 950,000 (250,000) 700,000 (250,000) 450,000
ETH WI7EIFUEE WIYEIFUEE
20191 B26H 200451 B25H
1,900,000 (500,000) 1,400,000 (950,000) 450,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

R E MR RMEE

3 FERRESTE (@

BRAREERBIESS (@)

Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding Lapsed at Lapsed at
at during 31 December during 31 December
Options Vesting period Exercise period | January 2022 the year 2022 the year 2023
R onE 1023%
=10=! 128318 128318
faluig BRH T8 HATHE RERKH  EHRTE RERRYE HXITE
(Note) (Note)
() ()
Employees
&5
Tranche | 2601.2017-2601.2018  2601.2018 - 2501.2023 5,550,000 (300,000) 5,250,000 (5250,000) -
s WI7EIABEE WIBFIABAE
2018% 1 B26H 2023% 18258
Tranche 2 26012017-26012019 26012019 - 25012024 5,550,000 (300,000) 5,250,000 - 5,250,000
ETH WI7EIFUEE WIYEIFUEE
W19E1A26H 202451 A25H
1,100,000 (600,000) 10,500,000 (5250,000) 5,250,000
20,200,000 (1,100,000) 19,100000  (10,700,000) 8,400,000
Exercisable at the end of the reporting period J3 8 & iR A F171¢ 20,200,000 19,100,000 8,400,000
Note: Three (2022: three) eligible participants, who have been granted share options under MisE : 34 (20225 @ 3%) REBERRHEE

the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme have ceased to be eligible participants upon

termination of employment and the said share options have automatically lapsed. The

lapsed share options amounting to HK$2,174,000 (2022: HK$223,000) are transferred

from share options reserve to retained profits.

BEEBEERAA

EREREHIERBRENGER
SRERRIBEHARTIBAS
Bif2HE M RERECBHE
o ZEAE,1740008 7T (20226
223,000 70) ZEXMEREC HE
ERAEERERTER -

b
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMEE

31 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

Details of the share options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are as

31 ERARHERTE (@

BRAREERBIESS (@)

REERAREERBRES RS

follows: HEREEBOT

Number of Fair value

share options Exercise per share

Date of grant granted Exercise period price option

BH

" HBREZ

REBH MBRERE 1T TEE AFE

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Tranche | — Directors 26012017 3,750,000 26012018 - 25.01.2023 0.69 02022
E—H-EB= 201751 8268 201851 H26HE
20231 B25H

Tranche | — Senior management ~ 26.01.2017 950,000 26.01.2018 —25.01.2023 0.69 0.2041
F-H-SREER 201751 8268 201851 H26HE
20231 B25H

Tranche | — Employees 26012017 10,700,000 26.01.2018 — 25.01.2023 0.69 0.2041
E—H—EE 201751 8268 201851 H26HE
20231 B25H

Tranche 2 — Directors 26012017 3,750,000 2601.2019 — 25.01.2024 0.69 0.2002
E_H-EBS 201751 8268 20191 B26AE
202441 B25H

Tranche 2 — Senior management ~ 26.01.2017 950,000 26.01.2019 —25.01.2024 0.69 0.2027
FM-SREER 201751 8268 201951 H26HE
202441 B25H

Tranche 2 — Employees 26012017 10,700,000 26.01.2019 — 25.01.2024 0.69 02027
E_H—EE 201751 8268 20191 B26AE
202441 B25H

For share options outstanding at the end of the reporting period, the weighted average

remaining contractual lives is 0.07 years (2022: 0.57 years).

The fair value of the share options at the grant date, calculated using the Binomial
Model was approximately HK$6,249,000. The Group did not recognise any expense
(2022: Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2023 in relation to the share options
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme granted by the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

@

Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to net cash generated from

32

RERTRERME

@ PRRATEF (518 BEEELR

operations: SRR
2023 2022
2023% 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT

Profit/(loss) before income tax BRFTERAER], (B8) 122,612 (49,210)
Adjustments for: RT5IRIERE
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHH 1,778 1,778
Depreciation of investment properties REYMETE 2,516 2,039
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #)Z# B KR EITE 70,506 73,028
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 75,391 91,657
Finance costs BIE %N 49,785 46,027
Impairment losses under expected credit BREEBEEEAEBE T 2HESE

loss model 1,321 17,938
Interest income FEUWA (4,515) (4,797)
Gain on change in fair value of trade BRHMEEWGEEATETIRZ

receivables at fair value through other B 5 RINEIE 2 A EEE RS

comprehensive income (210) (294)
Gain on early termination of right-of-use assets IR AR ILFAREE 2 W= - (31
Loss on initial recognition of investment in EEREai el i

subleases 761 =
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property plant HEME BREREEZ

and equipment (w) /K518 (1,211 1819
Provision for inventories FERE 34,189 4,741

BEEBARAA 20BFEERSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS RN  FERETRERME @)

(continued)

(@)  Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to net cash generated from @  BRIRATEF) (518 BEEEER
operations: (continued) EFENHE . (®
2023 2022
20235 20224F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET TFHATT
Operating profit before working capital changes & 1& & & 28 5 48 = i@ H) 352,923 184,695
Changes in working capital: EEETEE !
Changes in inventories FEEE) 7,070 126,814
Changes in trade and other receivables B 5% REMEWIEES) (126,792) 182,621
Changes in trade receivables at fair value FREMEEW AR ATEIR Y
through other comprehensive income B3 REWIEEE) (10,957) 17,165
Changes in bill receivables FE Lt ZE 45 S 4,534 16,123
Changes in trade and other payables B 5% REMENFIEES) 202,091 (280,555)
Changes in contract liabilities GHNEEEH 3,620 (2,530)
Changes in bill payables INEEE ) 25,901 (28,195)
Changes in net investment in sublease NHEREFEEH 594 798
Changes in deferred government grant IRIETUN B & & (371) (2.040)
Net cash generated from operations K ESIRS TR 458,613 214,896
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E MR RMEE

32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS RN FEAESREXRME @)

(continued)

(b)  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment b HEVE BERREZFEIE
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of property, RiZaRERERT LEY
plant and equipment comprise: X BERZREZMERES
&
2023 2022
20234 20226
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH7T FH5T
Net book amount: ARERE .
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) Y2~ R Rk (B95E15) 562 6,904
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and HEME BERRE 2R, (58
equipment (note 7) (FFEE7) 1,211 (1819)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BB RREZEREA
plant and equipment 1,773 5,085
BEEERRAE 203FEHRS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(continued)

R GERERERME @

() Net debt reconciliation © FREHE
Unsecured
bank Lease Dividend
borrowings liabilities payable Total
gt
RITER HE&R ERE L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET THET TAT FTABT
Net debt as at | January 2022 F2002E I B I BV FEE (588,273) (356,596) (974) (945,843)
Financing cash flows METHER 82,757 105,636 20962 209,355
Non-cash changes: JEREEE !
Finance costs b IB®N = (18,180) = (18,180)
Net movement of leases HEZEFHE - (34,267) - (34,267)
Dividends declared to BERTRREZKE
shareholders - - (7,000) (7,000)
Dividends declared to non- BEIRTIFERERZKE
controlling interests - - (16,767) (16,767)
Foreign exchange translation SMEEHATE (16,743) 3,666 - (13,077)
Net debt as at R00NF A3 BEAE
31 December 2022 (522,259) (299,741) (3779) (825,779)
Financing cash flows METHER 77313 97373 22,191 196,877
Non-cash changes: JEREEE) !
Finance costs PSR = (15,233) = (15,233)
Net movement of leases HEEH)FEE = (63,945) = (63,945)
Dividends declared to BERTIFERER KRS
non-controlling interests = = (18412) (18/412)
Foreign exchange translation SMERE 3,068 806 - 3874
Net debt as at 203F 12831 AR FEaE
31 December 2023 (441,878) (280,740) = (722,618)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 21 April 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the shares in Sinomax (Dongguan)
Sleep Technology Limited, a distributor of household products, for a consideration of
RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,740,000). The acquisition is expected

to increase the Group's market share in Southern China.

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are as

3

e RRMEE

ES Py

R2023F4821 B AEBUARK
5,000,0007% (18 & 7 495,740,0007 7T)
MREREREEMDHEERSE (R
) ERMNZAERATI00%KE It
RWERSRENAERTEERE
MM IR RE

BEAB FUBHNEERERBE

follows:

BN

HK$'000
FHT
Purchase consideration BEAE 5,740
The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of FWEEINEEREENT .
the acquisition are as follows:
Property, plant and equipment L EN VY 3l
Inventories EE& 848
Trade and other receivables B2 R EMEURIE 742
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 3,148
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMNTRIE (4,547)
Net identifiable assets acquired PRUSEE BV AT S8 Rl B S 1B 222
Goodwill from acquisition WEEENEE 5518
Net cash outflows from acquisition of a subsidiary: WE—ENE AR EENRE ML
Consideration paid BENRE 5,740
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B FENRERIREEEY (3,148)
Net cash outflows RERLFE 2,592

BEEBEERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

33

306

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

The goodwill is attributable to Sinomax (Dongguan) Sleep Technology Limited's strong
position and profitability in trading in the household products market in Southern China
and synergies expected to arise after the Group’s acquisition of the subsidiary. None
of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. See note 18 for the

changes in goodwill as a result of the acquisition.

The acquired business contributed revenue of HK$16,920,000 and net profit of
HK$2,446,000 to the Group for the period from 21 April 2023 to 31 December
2023. If the acquisition had occurred on | January 2023, consolidated revenue and
consolidated profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2023 would have been
HK$9,157,000 higher and HK$1,028,000 higher, respectively.

Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the

Group has the following transactions and balances with related parties:

g INE

BRSEEMBREHMBOPIIKE

Sy REBRBEL 2R 5 KRERN

T

Relationship Nature of transactions/balances 2023 2022
1 X5/ kEEREHE 20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THETT
Fellow subsidiary Interest paid for lease liabilities = 695

BE NG MR EX AR E
Fellow subsidiary Repayment of operating lease 9,541 -

BEY NG

RELEHEE

In addition, certain trademarks owned by fellow subsidiaries of the Company were

used by the Group free of charge during both years.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other member of key management during the

reporting period was as follows:

5 *EERMEEERRE KA
ETHERBARENEBAREENH

R

TEERASHMHE

EERAEMTEEEEMENREH
RyFEN T -

2023 2022

20235 20224F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Salaries and allowances B L 12,183 13,290
Performance related incentive payments FRIFAERIREN T 887 1,024
Retirement benefit schemes contributions BREFFHEIHER 135 152
13,205 14,466

The performance related incentive disclosed above include HK$887,000 of bonuses
payable under a performance related incentive scheme which were unpaid as at year
end and are included in other payables. In addition, the retirement benefit scheme
contributions disclosed in note 10 include HK$135000 (2022: HK$152,000) of

obligations payable to the key management personnel.

EXIRENRIRAMREEERF
R R AT 5 A HME A RIBRR
B &R B 5t 8 FE 9 B9 EA1 887,000
ABITetbsh M 0FT I B R KE
FStBIERBERNTEIEEEABN
B 135,000/ 7 (20224 © 152,000
7o) ©

BEEEBMRAT 203FERS



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

35 COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES 3B EERERTZAE
The Group as lessor FEBBHBEA
Property rental income earned during the year was HK$6,752,000 (2022: RERBRZWERETRAS
HK$10,948,000) and all of the properties held for rental purpose have committed 6,752,0003 75 (20224 © 10,948,000
lessees for the next few months to seventeen years (2022: few months to eighteen 7T) R BB ZME
years). MERKREBE+TF (20025 :

BAE+N\F) HEEAGEABEA-

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: RHEERKNREHEEREBENT :
2023 2022
20234 20226
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET TAT
Within one year —FR 9,040 2,660
In the second year FTHE 5,787 2,660
In the third year B 3,375 2,661
In the fourth year EPNF 3,404 194
In the fifth year ERHE 3,273 194
After five years HEMNE 2,710 l,149
27,589 9518
36 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS % BREE
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting periods but REBESHRBITNELREIAEE
not recognised as liabilities is as follows: NEAERFEZNT :
2023 2022
20234 20226
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET TAT

Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of property, FLUKEEYI % BE KZREEITNERR
plant and equipment contracted for but not provided AR E M BRRBENEARFEL
in the consolidated financial statements 17,494 3,143
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 37 FAAREEMBARRE
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARBIEEWBABFEBUNT !
Issued and fully Proportion of share capital/
Place of paid share capital/ registered capital/
incorporation/ registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital
operations/ charter capital/ and voting power held
Name of subsidiary establishment quota capital by the Company Principal activities
BRITRBRERE, sREAFERE/
BT AMES HFER/ AMEs HFER/
MEAR M BE /RN BEEF REELRRFENLE FEEH
At 3| December
®12A318
2023 2022
203F 20226
Directly owned
ERBE
Treasure Range Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$27 100% 100%  Investment holding
BE E@R7AT 100% 100% REER
Indlirectly owned
EER
Ascension International Development The BV Ordinary shares US$ | 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited
RERRERERAT RERUEE ESERIER 100% 100% REER
Fullelite Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100% Investment holding
HREBRAT KERUEE SERIER 100% 100% REER
Year Prosper Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100% Investment holding
BERRAT KERUEE SERIER 100% 100% REER
Wonderful Health Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100% Investment holding
KERUEE SERIER 100% 100% &REZR
Sinomax International Investment Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100% Investment holding and

provision of treasury

management services
DHEEERRERRAT KEREUEE LERIET 100% 100% REERMRHEHE

BERS
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R E MR RMEE

37

310

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Issued and fully

37 FRAETEMBARFE @

Proportion of share capital/

Place of paid share capital/ registered capital/
incorporation/ registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital
operations/ charter capital/ and voting power held
Name of subsidiary establishment quota capital by the Company Principal activities
BRITRBRERE, KRRFERE,/
AL AMES HFER/ AmEs HFER/
MEAR LM BE/ RNy BREEE REEFRRFENLS TBEH
At 31 December
1®12A318
2023 2022
20235 200F
Sinomax Health & Household Products Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Retail and wholesale of health
Limited HK$1,000,000 and household products
DHAREXERRERAT BE BB 100000087 100% 100% FERMERER
REEM
Sinomax International Trading Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of health and
household products
DHBRREZERAR BE BB 1000087 100% 100% BEKRRKEEMEE
Dongguan Sinohome Limited* (note |) The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
HK$32,000,000 health and household
products
REBEXERRERAR M)  PE i & 432,000,000 7T 100% 100% BERHERRER
REEM
Shandong Sinomax Household The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Processing, manufacturing and
Products and Technology Limited* RMB30,000,000 sales of polyurethane foam
(note |)
URBERERNEBRAR (MEE)  PE ZMERARE 100% 100% M REKRHBE
30,000,0007T Fakgk
Shanghai Luen Tai Polyurethane The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Sales of polyurethane foam
Co, Ltd* (note 1) RMB20,000,000
LEBAERARAR (Ha) h EMESARE 100% 100% 545 RRERA
20,000,0007T
Sinohome Household Products The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Retail and wholesale of health
(Shenzhen) Limited* (note ) HK$ 1,000,000 and household products
B ERm (R BRAR (&) E SR E 1,000,000 100% 100% FERMERER

REEm
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR RMEE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Issued and fully

37 FRAETEMBARFE @

Proportion of share capital/

Place of paid share capital/ registered capital/
incorporation/ registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital
operations/ charter capital/ and voting power held
Name of subsidiary establishment quota capital by the Company Principal activities
BRITRBRRE, sREAFERE/
B3 AT AMEs HFER/ AmEs HFEs/
MEAEHE e/ mIhE REES REEFRRFENLE FBEH
At 3| December
1®12A318
2023 2022
203F 20226
Sinomax (Zhejiang) Polyurethane The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Technology Limited* (note 1) US$52,000,000 health and household
products
Bk (0D RaBHMEBRAR hE SR EZR52,000000% 7T 100% 100% HERHBERER
(521 REEM
Sinomax Kuka (Zhejiang) Foam Co. The PRC Registered capital 51% 51% Manufacture and sale of
Limited* (note 2) (“Sinomax Kuka") US$2,100,000 polyurethane foam
MIRERBZKERARAR (W) PE & 42,100000% 70 51% 51% RERHERRERLA
(2GR )
Sinomax (Dongguan) Sleep Technology The PRC Registered capital 100% — Retail and wholesale of health
Limited* (notes | and 3) RMB5,000,000 and household products
Bt (RR) BRAEARAT FE AMERARE 100% - BERBERER
(P 1 723) 50000007 REER
Sinomax USA, Inc. The US 100 shares of common stock 100% 100% Wholesale of health and
of no par value household products
B 0k EEEEBR 100% 100% HERERREER
Sinomax East, Inc. The US | share of common stock 100% 100% Manufacture of health and
with no par value household products
e IRERELER 100% 100% REBERREER
Dormeo North American, LLC The US Issued and fully paid share 51.31% 51.31% Investment holding
("Dormeo”) capital US$50,481,560
Dormeo North America, LLC ESE] BETRBERE 51.31% 5131% REEK
("Dormeo ) 50481 560 7T

BEEBEERAA
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37

312

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Issued and fully

37 FARARTEMBARFE &

Proportion of share capital/

Place of paid share capital/ registered capital/
incorporation/ registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital
operations/ charter capital/ and voting power held
Name of subsidiary establishment quota capital by the Company Principal activities
BRITRBRRE, FRARFERS
B3 AT AMEs HFER/ AmEs HFEs/
MEAEHE e/ mIhE REES REESRRFENLE FEEH
At 3| December
1®12A318
2023 2022
203F 20226
Dormeo Canada Limited (previously Canada 1,000 shares of common 51.31% 51.31% Retail and wholesale of health
known as TSTV Canada Limited) stock of no par value and household products
Dormeo Canada Limited MmEX I 0008 T EE BB R 51.31% 5131% EERMERER
(RIFETSTV Canada Limited) XEER
Sinomax (Vietnam) Polyurethane Vietnam Charter capital US$1,100,000 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Technology Limited (note 1) polyurethane foam
Sinomax (Vietnam) Polyurethane R RFEFE A, 100000E 7T 100% 100% HERHERIRE L
Technology Limited (F{zE1)
Sinomax (Vietnam) Household Vietnam Charter capital US$ 1,500,000 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Products Limited (note |) health and household
products
Sinomax (Vietnam) Household HiE FFETE R 500000% 7T 100% 100% RIERHERERK
Products Limited (BfE1) XEER
Notes: BisE

(1) The companies are registered in the form of wholly foreign owned enterprise.

(2)  The companies are registered in the form of sino-foreign equity joint venture.

(3)  The company was acquired on 21 April 2023.

All the principal subsidiaries operate predominantly in their respective places of

incorporation/establishment. None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of or any time during the reporting periods.

e English translated name is for identification purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Place of establishment

and principal place

4= A
7177 g |

38 IEIERGHER

Proportion of ownership

interests and voting rights held  Profit/(loss) allocated to  Accumulated non-controlling

Name of subsidiary of business by non-controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests interests
B3t R R FHERED R ERE NEEFEREDZ
MEARRE TEEEME iR ig RAEM LA i®H, (8518) RetFEEiRiEs
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2035 20226F 2035 20226F 20235 20028
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT FHERT FHT
Sinomax Kuka The PRC 49% 49% 20,344 16,278 51,037 50,857
PHABRK H
Dormeo Us 48.69% 48.69% (2,435) (16,476) (58,305) (50,405)
xE
Individually immaterial subsidiary with 1578 JEIEIRIER 2 @5 - (1,017) - (8713)
non-controlling interests FEAKBAT
17,909 (1215) (7,268) (8261)

BEEBEERAA

203FEERSE
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38

314

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

(@)  Sinomax Kuka

Summarised financial information in respect of each of Group’s subsidiaries that

had material non-controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial

information below represents amounts before the elimination of intragroup

transactions.

38

JEsEiR s ()

@  EEEEEARER

ERAEEERERFERE
mMERBARNMBERT
RETNIT o U B 75 & KR
RIERHEERNRZR 2 28

At 31 December

®128318
2023 2022
20235 20226
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current assets MEEE 175,583 158,365
Non-current assets FEREEE 38,721 19,331
Current liabilities MENEE (110,146) (73,906)
Net assets BEFE 104,158 103,790
Total equity attributable to MR AT REG AR R
— owners of the Company S UNCIE 2= DN 53,121 52933
— non-controlling interests —JEERER 51,037 50,857
104,158 103,790
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Sinomax Kuka (continued)

38

R E MR RMEE

JEsEiR s ()

@ EEEERE@

Year ended 31 December

BENAIHLEEE

2023 2022
20234 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Revenue WA 414,067 417,594
Expenses 553 (372,545) (384,373)
Profit for the year FAEF] 41,522 33221
Profit for the year attributable to TN LG E AT
— owners of the Company S VNGIE =P 21,178 16,943
— non-controlling interests —JEERER 20,344 16,278
41,522 33,221
Other comprehensive expense TIATEEFREMEERS
for the year attributable to
— owners of the Company . VNCIEZZS DN (1,621 (4,593)
— non-controlling interests — RS (1,557) (4413)
(3,178) (9,006)
Total comprehensive income for the year THALTREFENEERGEEEE
attributable to
— owners of the Company e VNCIE 2= DN 19,555 12,350
— non-controlling interests —JEEER S 18,789 ['1,865
38,344 24215
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests A FIRERERZ R R 15,191 16,767
Net cash inflow from operating activities REEH RS RMATE 56,172 42,230
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEHZREERL 2 (2,680) (4,074)
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEB 2 REmE R (42,612) (48,112)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BEMA/ ORt) #58 10,880 (9.956)
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R E MR RMEE

38 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

(b) Dormeo

38

JErERRIE ()
6  Domeo

At 31 December

®128318
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Current assets MEEE 71,998 83,705
Non-current assets FERBEE 116,081 118,807
Current liabilities MENEE (264,537) (262,347)
Non-current liabilities JERBER (43,314) (43,688)
Net liabilities BEPH (119,772) (103,523)

Total equity attributable to MTFALREG#EEEEE

— owners of the Company I YNCIEZ 2PN (61,467) (53,118)
— non-controlling interests —JEERER (58,305) (50,405)
(119,772) (103523)

316 Sinomax Group Limited 2023 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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38 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 38 JEEERIEDE (@
(b) Dormeo (continued) )  Domeo (48)

Year ended 31 December

BENAIHLEEE

2023 2022
20235 20224F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Revenue DN 279,125 244,798
Expenses 553 (284,126) (278,637)
Loss for the year FREE (5,001) (33,839)
Loss for the year attributable to THALREGFEREE
— owners of the Company I YNCIEZ 2PN (2,566) (17,363)
— non-controlling interests —JEERER (2,435) (16,476)
(5,001) (33839)
Total comprehensive expense for the year TIATEEFREAEMS L5
attributable to
— owners of the Company e VNCIEZZS DN (2,569) (18,085)
— non-controlling interests — RIS (2,435) (17,159)
(5,004) (35244)
Net cash outflow from operating activities REEHZ AR 2 16,237 14,458
Net cash inflow from investing activities REEHZHERAFE (142) (938)
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEBEEEZIREMEREE (17,215) (13987)
Net cash outflow REMEFEE (1,120) (467)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND RESERVES OF

THE COMPANY

FABIMBEN REEHERR

2023 2022
20235 20224F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT TFAET

Non-current asset ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries N AL 779,389 779,389

Current assets TMENEE
Other receivables HAthEWRIE 516 563
Bank balances and cash IR RIRE 304 13
820 676
Current liabilities mEaE

Other payables HARETIE 106 458
Amounts due to subsidiaries I B ATIE 88,444 77414
88,550 77872
Net current liabilities BB AR (87,730) (77,196)
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRSHAE 691,659 702,193

Capital and reserves BARRH#E
Share capital & 175,000 175,000
Reserves HE 516,659 527,193
Total equity B 691,659 702,193
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND RESERVES OF 39 FRAFMNMHENRERRER @
THE COMPANY (continued)
Movements in the Company’s reserves TNEEEEE)
Share
Share Capital options Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
ROEBE ELRHE BRERE GREF #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At | January 2022 R20202F 1B I1H 404,520 5) 3,662 129,733 537,910
Loss and total comprehensive FRBEEREEMSEE
expense for the year = = = (3,717) 3.717)
Dividend paid BAKRE = = - (7,000) (7,000)
Lapse of share options BRRERR - - (223) 223 =
At 31 December 2022 120225128318 404,520 5) 3,439 119,239 527,193
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREERZEEHE
expense for the year - - - (1,360) (1,360)
Dividend paid BARE - = = (7,000) (7,000)
Lapse of share options IR = = (2,174 = (2,174)
At 31 December 2023 12023% 128318 404,520 (5) 1,265 110,879 516,659

BEEBEERAA

203FEERSE
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hEMBREE

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial

FEERBELEMREREZEZEURE

years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements is set out below: ERCERE (BRaKERESMHBR
=) BHOT
RESULTS E
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20235 20226 20214 20204 20198
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT FATT FATT FHT
Revenue A 3,608,894 3,171,478 459,882 3,231,701 2,997,321
Profit/(loss) before tax RIS ATEF (B518) 122,612 (49,210) 37,869 69,002 (146,002)
Income tax (expenses)/credit FRER (F%) /1B% (42,110 12,025 (6,434) (7,948) (66,000)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRiEA/ (518 80,502 (37,185) 31435 61,054 (212,002)
Attributable to: TE AL :
Owners of the Company ri/NCIEZZ=DN 62,593 (35,970) 15,305 58,523 (216,509)
Non-controlling interest FFER T 17,909 (1215) 16,130 2531 4507
80,502 (37,185) 31435 61,054 (212,002)
ASSET AND LIABILITIES BERERE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
202345 20024 202145 20204F 20195
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET TR R FHET
Total assets BEEMRE 2,406,144 2237942 2,828,870 2514210 2,406,763
Total liabilities AR (1,487,654) (1,351,002) (1,822,252) (1,557,751 (1,541,755)
Total equity AR 918,490 886,940 1,006,618 956,459 865,008
Attributable to: TH AT HELS
Owners of the Company r/NCIEZZS DN 925,758 895,201 992,819 95451 | 854962
Non-controlling interest FEER (7,268) (8261) 13,799 1,948 10,046
918,490 886,940 1,006,618 956,459 865,008
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